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Explanatory note

In this Annual Report we are presenting the financial results  

and key developments of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.  

(hereafter FrieslandCampina) during 2013. 

The financial statements have been prepared as at  

31 December 2013. The consolidated financial statements have 

been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards, to the extent they have been endorsed by 

the European Union, and with Title 9 Book 2 of the Civil Code 

valid in the Netherlands. Since 1 January 2013 FrieslandCampina 

has applied the amended IFRS regarding employee remuneration.  

The comparable figures for 2012 have been adjusted to take 

account of the new regulations.

The milk price for 2013 received by members of Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A. for the milk they supplied was determined 

on the basis of FrieslandCampina’s method for determining milk 

prices 2011 - 2013. All amounts in this report are in euros, unless 

stated otherwise.

This Annual Report includes statements about future 

expectations. These statements are based on the current 

expectations, estimates and projections of FrieslandCampina’s 

management and the information currently available. The 

expectations are uncertain and contain elements of risk that are 

difficult to quantify. For this reason FrieslandCampina gives no 

assurance that the expectations will be realised.

This Annual Report is available in Dutch, English and German 

language versions. In the case of conflict between the versions 

the Dutch text is binding. 

The Annual Report of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.  

has also been published on the website 

http://annualreport.frieslandcampina.com. The iPad app 

FrieslandCampina Annual Report 2013 can be downloaded  

and the Annual Report is available on request from the 

Corporate Communication department of FrieslandCampina:  

corporate.communication@frieslandcampina.com.

The terms used in this Annual Report include:

Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. (the ‘Company’ or 

‘FrieslandCampina’)

Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. (the ‘Cooperative’) 

Supervisory Board of the company (the ‘Supervisory Board’) 

Executive Board of the company (the ‘Executive Board’)
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4 Foreword from the CEO

Dear	reader,

In many respects 2013 was a good year for FrieslandCampina. Once again FrieslandCampina took steps towards 

achieving its ambition of creating the most successful, professional and attractive dairy company. The guaranteed 

price for milk was at a previously unknown high throughout the entire year. On top of that, FrieslandCampina was 

able to improve its results in the market still further. Together these led to the highest milk price ever paid out by 

FrieslandCampina. FrieslandCampina achieved growth, primarily in Asia. In Indonesia and Vietnam FrieslandCampina 

once again improved its market positions after several difficult years. Developments in Europe were less favourable 

due to the persisting economic crisis and have resulted in expectations regarding results for the region being adjusted 

downwards. This has led to a goodwill impairment of 200 million euro.

Ahead	of	schedule

Half way through the planned route2020 strategy execution period, FrieslandCampina is ahead of schedule. Growth and 

value creation are being achieved faster than anticipated. In 2013 FrieslandCampina performed especially well in infant 

nutrition and ingredients for the food industry. By contrast, volumes and market shares in Europe were under pressure 

and currency translation differences had a negative effect on the results in euro.

Exceptional	opening	of	the	Innovation	Centre

The opening, in October 2013, of the new and inspiring FrieslandCampina Innovation Centre in Wageningen by Queen 

Máxima marked the step forward FrieslandCampina has taken in its innovation policy for the coming years, of which the 

new Development Centre in Singapore is also a component. During the coming years innovations in the fields of infant 

nutrition, dairy-based beverages, technologies and improved recipes will be achieved. 
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Contributing	towards	global	food	supplies

Feeding the world’s growing population is an enormous challenge. FrieslandCampina can contribute towards this with 

its range of products, through the development of dairy farming in a number of countries and by making the production 

chain more sustainable. At the end of 2013 the Dutch Prime Minister was present during two very important moments 

for FrieslandCampina in China and Indonesia. The first was the signing of an agreement between China Agricultural 

University, Wageningen University & Research Centre and FrieslandCampina for the establishment of the Sino-Dutch 

Dairy Development Centre – a new research and knowledge centre in China that will focus on improving the production, 

quality and safety of Chinese dairy products. Then, in Indonesia, the Prime Minister and his delegation experienced the 

role FrieslandCampina is playing in the further development of local dairy farming and how important the Frisian Flag 

brand is in Indonesia. 

The	strength	of	the	chain

Dealing with the challenges facing FrieslandCampina and the dairy branch will require the efforts of the entire chain.  

The Company, the Cooperative and its member dairy farmers in the Netherlands, Germany and Belgium form a chain. 

That gives strength and offers prospects. The dairy sector is well prepared. The opportunities for growth are there. 

Together we are strong, but no chain is stronger than its weakest link. Not all dairy farmers are sufficiently aware 

that when it comes to the way they operate they must take the wishes of society, customers and consumers more into 

account. Innovating with everyone involved in the dairy farming sector is vital if the boundary conditions specified for 

the sector to justify the growth are to be met. CO
2
 reduction and a more efficient utilisation of minerals are essential. 

As is ensuring cows are still part of the landscape which, both in the Netherlands and abroad, is an important ‘hallmark’ 

of the Dutch dairy sector.

Investing	in	quality	and	sustainability

FrieslandCampina has now existed for five years. During this time the Company has grown in every respect, even in a 

period during which the economy in many European countries has stagnated. Over the past five years FrieslandCampina 

has invested 1.8 billion euro, primarily in expansion and renovation of production capacity in order to be able to meet the 

growing demand for speciality products and to be able to respond to the ending of the milk quota in 2015. Investments 

amounting to 650 million euro are budgeted for 2014. The dairy sector is making a positive contribution towards the 

Dutch economy. Dairy product exports are continuing to increase. Our cheese, infant nutrition, condensed milk and 

numerous dairy-based nutrition ingredients are finding their way to many countries around the world. We are also 

gaining more and more knowledge and sharing more of our knowledge as we learn to work together more effectively and 

continue to invest in quality and sustainability within the dairy chain.

Looking	ahead

The economic forecasts for Europe are still not promising. The rapid growth in emerging countries is slowing down. 

But, to offset this, at the moment the global demand for dairy products is greater than the supply. Markets will remain 

volatile. FrieslandCampina will, therefore, continue focusing on costs by reducing complexity, speeding up decision-

making processes and making more use of its scale. Our ambitions are guiding our course.

Cees ’t Hart

CEO Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.

Amersfoort (Netherlands), 28 February 2014

Foreword	from	the	CEO
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6 Royal FrieslandCampina at a glance

11.4 billion euro revenue

19,244 member dairy farmers  
own the Company

Facilities/Offices in 28 countries

Export to over 100 countries

21,186 employees

Millions of consumers every day



Revenue in millions of euros 

2013 11,418

2012 10,309

2011 9,626

2010 8,972

Operating	profit	in millions of euros 

2013 313

2013	1 513

2012 487

2011 403

2010 434

Profit in millions of euros 

2013 157

2013	1 327

2012 278

2011 216

2010 285

Operational	cash	flow	in millions of euros 

2013 596

2012 842

2011 508

2010 444

Milk	price	in euros per 100 kilos, excl. VAT 

2013 42.49

2012 36.24

2011 38.77

2010 34.35

Operating	profit	as	a	%	of	net	revenue 

2013 2.7

2013	1 4.5

2012 4.7

2011 4.2

2010 4.8

1  before goodwill impairment
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Royal	FrieslandCampina	at	a	glance

Revenue increase

10.8%	

Cash flow from operating activities

596 million euro

Milk price for member dairy farmers 

42.49 euro

Operating profit 

313 million euro 

before goodwill impairment 

513 million euro

Operating profit as a % of net revenue

2.7%	 
before goodwill impairment 

4.5%

Profit 

157 million euro 

without goodwill impairment 

327 million euro



8 Major developments in 2013

● Revenue up by 10.8 percent to 
11.4 billion euro through volume 
growth and higher prices

● Operating profit down by 35.7 percent 
to 313 million euro

● Operating profit up by 5.3 percent 
to 513 million euro before goodwill 
impairment. This includes the 
increase of the performance premium 
and distribution of member bonds 

● Performance premium (1.81 euro) 
and distribution of member bonds 
(1.23 euro) up by 28.3 percent to 
3.04 euro (2012: 2.37 euro)

● 10.8 percent volume growth  
in infant nutrition

● 10.8 percent volume growth  
in dairy-based beverages in  
Asia and Africa

● 9.5 percent volume growth in branded 
cheese due to increased export

● Opening of new FrieslandCampina 
Innovation Centre in Wageningen 
by Queen Máxima 

● Acquisition of Zijerveld and Veldhuyzen B.V., 
and G. den Hollander Holding B.V. 
strengthen positions in cheese

A good year with a  
historically high milk price

Acceleration of  
route2020 strategy

Performance for member dairy 
farmers up by 28.3 percent  
to 3.04 euro

per 100 kilo milk (excluding VAT at  
4.41 percent fat and 3.47 percent protein)

 Other



9

amounting to 72 million euro and 
despite negative currency translation 
effects

● Profit down by 43.5 percent to 
157 million euro 

● Profit without goodwill impairment 
up by 17.6 percent to 327 million euro

● Goodwill impairment of 200 million 
euro because expectations regarding 
results in Europe have been adjusted 
downwards due to the persisting crisis 

● Improved results from the Consumer 
Products Asia, Ingredients and 
Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder 
business groups

● Economic conditions in Europe put 
pressure on volumes and margins for 
Consumer Products Europe, Middle 
East & Africa

● Cash flow from operating activities 
down to 596 million euro (2012: 
842 million euro) due to the increase 
of the working capital as a result of 
higher prices and due to investments 
in route2020

● Guaranteed price up by 5.58 euro 
(16.5 percent) to 39.45 euro

● Milk price for member dairy farmers 
up by 6.25 euro (17.2 percent) to 
42.49 euro (2012: 36.24 euro)

● Milk price + supplements up 
by 6.22 euro (17.0 percent) to 
42.90 euro (2012: 36.68 euro)

● Investments of 559 million euro 
mainly in expanding infant nutrition 
and milk processing capacity

● Major improvements to safety and 
safety awareness

● Further implementation of 
sustainability programmes

● Restructuring in Europe to improve 
position

● Repurchase of Friso infant nutrition 
brand name in the Benelux 

● FrieslandCampina acquires 
7.5 percent interest in  
Synlait Milk Ltd. in New Zealand 

● Stock exchange listed  
perpetual notes repaid

Major	developments	in	2013



10 Key figures 

1  Since 1 January 2013 FrieslandCampina has applied the amended IFRS in 
respect of employee remuneration. The comparable figures for 2012 have 
been adjusted for the effects of the new stipulations.

2  Net debt concerns non-current interest-bearing obligations, obligations to 
lenders, the net of obligations to and receivables from associated companies 
minus cash and cash equivalents available for use. 

3  Member dairy farmers who put their cows out in the meadow receive a 
meadow milk premium of 0.50 euro per 100 kilos of milk. Averaged over all 
FrieslandCampina member milk this is 0.31 euro per 100 kilos of milk.

4  Special supplements concerns the total amount paid out per 100 kilos of milk 
for Campina milk (0.90 euro), Landliebe milk (1.00 euro) and the difference 
between the organic milk guaranteed price and the guaranteed price. 
Averaged over all FrieslandCampina member milk this amounts to 0.10 euro 
per 100 kilos of milk.

in millions of euros unless stated otherwise   

2013 2012 1 %

Results

Revenue 11,418 10,309 10.8

Operating profit before goodwill impairment 513 487 5.3

Operating profit 313 487 -35.7

Profit without goodwill impairment 327 278 17.6

Profit 157 278 -43.5

Consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	

Total assets 7,112 6,831 4.1

Total equity 2,631 2,258 16.5

Net debt 2 696 685 1.6

Total equity as a percentage of total assets 37.0% 33.1%

Cash	flow

Net cash from operating activities 596 842 -29.2

Net cash used in investing activities -576 -702 -17.9

Investments

Investments 559 423 32.2

Value	creation	for	member	dairy	farmers

in euro per 100 kilo excl. VAT, at 4.41% fat and 3.47% protein

Performance premium 1.81 1.42 27.5

Issue of registered member bonds 1.23 0.95 29.5

Guaranteed price 39.45	 33.87 16.5

Milk price 42.49 36.24 17.2

Meadow milk premium 3 0.31 0.32

Special supplements 4 0.10 0.12

Milk price + supplements 42.90 36.68 17.0

Additional	information

Employees (average number of FTEs) 21,186 20,045 5.7

Number of accidents with sick leave (per 200,000 hours worked) 0.6 1.0

Number of member dairy farms at year end 13,887 14,132 -1.7

Number of member dairy farmers at year end 19,244 19,487 -1.2

Total milk processed (in millions of kilos) 10,659 10,215 4.3

Milk supplied by member dairy farmers (in millions of kilos) 9,261 8,860 4.5



11

5    As of 1 October 2013 the composition of the business groups has changed. 
The activities in the Middle East and Africa have been transferred from 
the Consumer Products International business groups to the Consumer 
Products Europe business group. The new business group names are 
Consumer Products Europe, Middle East & Africa and Consumer Products 
Asia. The figures for 2012 have been adjusted in line with the new composition.

6  Operating profit before goodwill impairment and restructuring costs in the 
Netherlands in 2013 and restructuring costs in Germany and Hungary in 2012.

2013	5 2012 ▲▲ %

Consumer	Products	Europe,		
Middle	East	&	Africa

Revenue from third parties 3,829 3,779 1.3

Internal supplies 240 275

Operating profit before restructuring and 
goodwill impairment 6 237 262 -9.5

Operating profit 10 233 -95.7

Operating profit as a % of revenue 0.3 6.2

Employees (average number of FTEs) 8,193 8,300 -1.3

Market share brands ▼ ▼

Volume ▼ ▼

Consumer	Products	Asia

Revenue from third parties 2,338 2,081 12.3

Internal supplies 19 4

Operating profit 385 344 11.9

Operating profit as a % of revenue 16.5 16.5

Employees (average number of FTEs) 6,430 5,818 10.5

Market share brands = ▲▲

Volume ▲ ▲▲

Cheese,	Butter	&	Milkpowder

Revenue from third parties 3,012 2,451 22.9

Internal supplies 466 276

Operating profit 54 -30

Operating profit as a % of revenue 1.8 -1.2

Employees (average number of FTEs) 2,664 2,365 12.6

Market share brands ▼ ▲▼

Volume ▲ ▲▲

Ingredients

Revenue from third parties 1.801 1,698 6.1

Internal supplies 505 429

Operating profit 275 226 21.7

Operating profit as a % of revenue 15.3 13.3

Employees (average number of FTEs) 3,002 2,784 7.8

Volume ▲ ▲

Revenue	by	business	group
in millions of euros

Consumer Products Europe,  
Middle East & Africa

4,069 33.3%*

Consumer Products Asia
2,357 19.3%*

Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder
3,478 28.5%*

Ingredients
2,306 18.9%*

*  before Other and Elimination of internal supplies

Revenue	by	geographical	region
in millions of euros

The Netherlands 
2,684 23.5%

Germany 
1,445 12.7%

Rest of Europe 
2,836 24.8%

Asia and Oceania
2,938 25.7%

Africa and the Middle East
1,165 10.2%

North and South America
350 3.1%

	Key	figures	
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* in millions of euros

Worldwide

Europe

Netherlands

Germany

Belgium

Greece

Hungary

Romania

Russia

France

Spain

Italy

Austria

United Kingdom

North	and
South	America

United States of 

America

6,965
revenue*	

350
revenue*	

13,147	
employees

167
employees

68
locations

6
locations



13

Asia	and	
Oceania

Indonesia

Malaysia

Singapore

Thailand

Vietnam

Philippines

China

Hong Kong

India

Japan

New Zealand

Africa	and		
the	Middle	East

Nigeria

Ghana

United Arab Emirates

Saudi Arabia

2,938	
revenue*	

1,165	
revenue*	

6,846	
employees

1,026	
employees

30
locations

19
locations

Worldwide



14 FrieslandCampina brands

Campina

Landliebe

Rainbow

Friesche Vlag

Napolact

Dutch Lady

Fristi

Milner

NoyNoy

Chocomel

Milli

Vifit

Alaska

Foremost

Optimel

Yazoo

Puddis

Frisian Flag

Peak

Fruttis

Mona

DubbelFrisss

Frico

Appelsientje

Valess

CoolBest

Friso

Completa

Campina Botergoud

Consumer
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Debic

Hollandia

Campina Professioneel

Chocomel

Fristi

Milner

Vifit

Optimel

Campina 

CoolBest

Nutroma 

Taksi 

Frico

Extran

DubbelFrisss

DOMO

DMV

Kievit

Creamy Creation

Nutrifeed

DFE Pharma

Foodservice Ingredients

FrieslandCampina	brands
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route2020 strategy:  
sustainable growth and value creation

Growth	
categories

Ambition

Respond	to	
needs

Capabilities

Foundation

Dairy-based	
beverages

Infant	nutrition	
(B2B,	B2C)

Branded		
cheese

Strongholds	
&	geographic	
expansion

Foodservice		
in	Europe

Basic	products

To	create	the	most	successful,	professional	and	attractive	dairy	company	for	its	member	dairy	farmers,	
employees,	customers	and	consumers	and	for	society	by	providing	people	around	the	world	with	essential	
nutrients	from	dairy	products	during	every	phase	of	their	lives

Growth	&		
development

Daily	nutrition Health	&		
wellness

Functionality

Talent		
management	

Milk		
valorisation

Innovation Business	model		
&	cost	focus

Goodness		
of	dairy

Chain		
advantages

Sustainable	dairy		
farming	&	business	
operations

The	way	we	work		
&	safety
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FrieslandCampina’s	ambition	is	to	create	the	most	

successful,	professional	and	attractive	dairy	company	

for	its	member	dairy	farmers,	employees,	customers	and	

consumers	and	for	society.	The	world	market’s	growing	

demand	for	healthy,	sustainably	produced	food	offers	

FrieslandCampina	opportunities.

To fulfil this ambition, FrieslandCampina formulated the 

route2020 strategy for the period 2010-2020. The key 

words are sustainable growth and value creation: the 

sustainable growth of the Company and maximising the 

value of all the milk produced by the Cooperative’s member 

dairy farmers.

FrieslandCampina strives to achieve the following goals:

• an increased share of added-value and branded products 

in the total sales volume;

• further operating profit growth;

• a substantially higher performance premium and  

a higher distribution of member bonds for the  

member dairy farmers; 

• an 80 percent reduction compared with 2011 of the 

number of job-related accidents resulting in sick leave 

per 200,000 hours worked;

• climate-neutral growth throughout the entire chain  

from cow to consumer.

FrieslandCampina invests more than the average in the 

three growth categories: dairy-based beverages, infant 

nutrition and branded cheese. These categories are 

supported through research & development efforts in the 

field of growth & development (of children), daily nutrition, 

health & wellness and functionality.

Because it is directly linked with the Cooperative, 

FrieslandCampina controls the entire production chain from 

raw milk to distribution. As a result FrieslandCampina can 

vouch for the quality of its products. In the collaboration 

with member dairy farmers the accent is on quality, food 

safety and operating sustainably. 

FrieslandCampina strives to achieve the foreseen growth 

of its activities in a climate-neutral manner throughout the 

entire chain from cow to consumer. The Company wants to 

achieve this by working with the member dairy farmers and 

chain partners on improving energy efficiency, reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions, stimulating the production 

of sustainable energy on dairy farms and keeping cows 

a component of the Dutch landscape.

Information about the achievement of the strategy can be 

found on pages 26 to 30.

route2020	strategy:	sustainable	growth	and	value	creation



18 Global challenges

By 2050 the world’s population is expected 

to have grown to between nine and ten 

billion people. Feeding this growing 

population will be an enormous challenge 

and has implications for people, animals 

and the environment. How can enough 

affordable, nutritious and energy-rich food 

be produced? Fertile land and clean drinking 

water are already scarce in some regions.  

And even if the availability of land and 

water were not a problem, will there 

still be enough farmers to produce our 

daily food? And will they earn enough to 

sustain themselves and their families? 

FrieslandCampina wants to contribute 

towards solving these three global 

challenges through its activities.
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The growing world population
• Feeding the world’s growing population

• The availability of sufficient nutritious and energy-rich food and the affordability  

of food for a wide range of population groups

• Maintaining food safety and consumers’ trust

Aging farmers
• Interesting young people in farming as a profession by offering good prospects for the 

future and by so doing responding to the worldwide fast-rising average age of farmers

• Farmers must be able to achieve an income that is high enough to allow responsible 

business operations and the creation of a positive future for themselves and their children

• Worldwide 750-900 million people depend on the dairy farming sector for their income

The scarcity of natural raw materials
• Responding to the increasing scarcity of land, water and natural raw materials  

by producing more efficiently

• Reducing CO
2
 emissions and making more use of renewable energy

• Contributing towards the retention of biodiversity

Global	challenges



Providing people around the world with the right nutrition is the 

challenge. Milk, by nature, contains essential nutrients including 

proteins, vitamins B2 and B12, and minerals such as calcium.  

By offering trustworthy and tasty dairy products FrieslandCampina 

contributes towards safeguarding food and nutrient security. 

FrieslandCampina also strives to limit the pressure on the  

sources of natural raw materials and the environment.

Every day millions of consumers around the world appreciate FrieslandCampina’s 

innovative and tasty dairy products. FrieslandCampina brings the best of two worlds 

together by combining the professionalism and entrepreneurship of its member dairy 

farmers with the expertise, customer-orientation and experience with global operation  

of its employees.

FrieslandCampina is committed to high standards in the field of food safety, the personal 

safety of its employees, quality, sustainability and transparency throughout the entire 

production chain: ‘from grass to glass’. This lays the foundations for customer and 

consumer trust in the products and safeguards the continuity that is the hallmark  

of the Company and the Cooperative.

FrieslandCampina believes in shared values: the simultaneous achievement of a 

good income for member dairy farmers, added-value for customers and consumers, 

and personal growth and career perspectives for employees. At the same time 

FrieslandCampina is an added-value for the communities in which it operates.  

This is how opportunities are created and perspectives are offered to all stakeholders.

Nourishing by nature
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Report of the Executive Board

FrieslandCampina	can	look	back	on	a	good	year.	The	

member	dairy	farmers	received	a	historically	high	milk	

price.	The	Company’s	good	results	and	the	sharp	rise	in	

the	prices	for	dairy	products	contributed	towards	this.	

Nearly	all	the	business	groups	improved	their	result.	

FrieslandCampina’s	achievement	of	its	route2020	

strategy	is	ahead	of	schedule.	All	the	strategic	growth	

categories	except	dairy-based	beverages	in	Europe	

improved	their	performance.	The	infant	nutrition	

category	achieved	the	strongest	volume	growth.	

The	Cheese,	Butter	&	Milkpowder	business	group	

achieved	the	greatest	result	improvement	in	2013.		

Due	to	the	persisting	crisis	in	Europe	a	goodwill	

impairment	of	200	million	euro	was	charged	to	the	result.

Further	revenue	growth

In 2013 revenue rose by 10.8 percent to 11.4 billion euro. 

This revenue growth was achieved through volume growth 

and higher prices. The volume growth of infant nutrition 

by 10.8 percent and of dairy-based beverages in Asia and 

Africa also by 10.8 percent was positive. The branded 

cheese category achieved volume growth of 9.5 percent 

through increased export. In Europe pressure on volumes 

and revenue continued as the economic crisis led to 

declining consumer spending.

Half of the revenue growth was achieved through price 

increases. Acquisitions contributed 364 million euro 

(3.5 percent) towards the revenue growth. Currency 

translation effects had a net negative effect on revenue  

of 157 million euro (1.5 percent).

Improved	operating	profit	before	goodwill	impairment

Operating profit before goodwill impairment rose by 

5.3 percent to 513 million euro. The improved operating 

profit was due to volume growth, the possibility of passing-

on the higher guaranteed price and far-reaching efficiency 

improvements in production and cost management by the 

European operating companies, despite negative  

currency translation effects.

In 2013 operating costs before goodwill impairment rose 

by 11.1 percent to 10,928 million euro (2012: 9,837 million 

euro) as a result of the higher guaranteed price for raw 

milk and the increase of 72 million euro due to the higher 

performance premium and distribution of member bonds, 

acquisitions and the increase in personnel costs caused 

by the Company’s growth.

Higher	profit	without	goodwill	impairment

Profit without goodwill impairment for 2013 rose by 

17.6 percent to 327 million euro (2012: 278 million euro) 

due to a higher operating profit before impairment. Of the 

profit, 78 million euro was attributed to minority interests.

Goodwill	impairment

A goodwill impairment of 200 million euro was recognised in 

the 2013 financial year. The impairment concerns a portion 

of the goodwill relating primarily to the acquisition of the 

former Nutricia Dairy & Drinks in 2001 (with brands including 

Chocomel, Fristi, Extran, Milli and Pöttyös and offices in the 

Netherlands, Belgium, Germany, Hungary and Romania).  

The reason for the goodwill impairment is the economic 

situation in Europe. As a result of the continuing crisis the 

result expectations in Europe have been adjusted downwards.

Profit	appropriation

The reduction in the profit caused by the goodwill impairment 

in 2013 has not affected the level of the performance 

premium and the distribution of member bonds to the 

member dairy farmers. The milk money regulation offers 

the Executive Board and the Cooperative’s Board the 

option that, if a goodwill impairment amounts to more than 

100 million euro, this may be taken into account in respect 

of the profit appropriation. Of the 157 million euro profit for 

2013, 78 million euro is attributable to the minority interests. 

The Executive Board proposes that the effect of the goodwill 

impairment is not taken into consideration in the calculation 

of the performance premium and the distribution of member 

bonds and 41 million euro is added to the general reserve.  

The proposal for the appropriation of the remaining profit is 

as follows: 34 million euro to be reserved as interest payment 

to holders of member bonds and 4 million euro to be reserved 

as interest payment to holders of perpetual notes.

Key	figures 2013 2012 ▲ %

in millions of euros 

Revenue 11,418 10,309 10.8

Operating profit before 
goodwill impairment 513 487 5.3

Operating profit 313 487 -35.7

Profit without goodwill 
impairment 327 278 17.6

Profit 157 278 -43.5

Milk price (in euro per 
100 kilos) 42.49 36.24 17.2

Volume ▲ ▲

A good year with a historically high milk price



Revenue	by	business	group	
in millions of euros

Consumer Products Europe, Middle East & Africa
2013 4,069

2012 4,054

Consumer Products Asia
2013 2,357

2012 2,085

Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder
2013 3,478

2012 2,727

Ingredients
2013 2,306

2012 2,127

Operational	cash	flow	down

Cash flow from operating activities fell to 596 million  

euro (2012: 842 million euro) as a result of increased 

working capital due to the higher guaranteed price,  

which raised the value of inventories and receivables.  

In 2013 the outgoing cash flow for investments, particularly 

in production capacity expansion, amounted to 521 million 

euro (2012: 392 million euro). Cash and cash equivalents 

amounting to 79 million euro was invested in the acquisition 

of Zijerveld and Den Hollander Food. Most of the 

investments could be financed out of the Company's own 

means. In addition, the stock exchange-listed perpetual 

notes of 125 million euro were repaid. The cash flow 

from financing activities amounted to -182 million euro 

(2012: 199 million euro). Net cash and cash equivalents fell 

from 756 million euro (end of 2012) to 560 million euro. 

Financial	position

As at 31 December 2013 net debt amounted to 696 million 

euro, 11 million euro higher than at the end of 2012. 

The increase was due primarily to the repayment of  

the perpetual notes and the lower operational cash  

flows as explained in the previous paragraph.

Total equity amounted to 2,631 million euro as at 31 

December 2013 (end of 2012: 2,258 million euro). Equity 

was strengthened through a one-time increase resulting 

from the expiry of the DFE put-option. Equity was further 

strengthened by 290 million euro as a result of the 

conversion of a loan between the Cooperative and the 

Company. The conditions related to this loan are the same 

as the conditions related to the member bonds, which 

means this loan is now a component of equity. In June 2013 

FrieslandCampina repaid its 7.125 percent subordinated 
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cumulative perpetual notes of 125 million euro dating 

from 2003. This ended the listing of the perpetual notes 

on Euronext Amsterdam. These perpetual notes were 

a component of equity.

Solvency rose to 37.0 percent (end of 2012: 33.1 percent) 

due to the effects explained above. FrieslandCampina 

continues to amply fulfil the conditions of the bank 

covenants.

The negative net finance income and expenses improved by 

2 million euro to 55 million euro negative. The net interest 

expense amounted to 31 million euro (2012: 33 million euro).

Profit from joint ventures and associated participations fell 

from 16 million euro in 2012 to 8 million euro in 2013.
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Milk	price	system	and	profit	appropriation	2011-2013

FrieslandCampina’s milk price for 2013 comprises the 

guaranteed price, the performance premium and the 

distributed member bonds. In addition the Company pays 

supplements for meadow milk, Campina milk, Landliebe 

milk and the difference between the guaranteed price for 

organic milk and the guaranteed price. The guaranteed 

price is the weighted average of the annual milk prices for 

raw milk paid by the reference companies (twelve German 

dairy companies, Arla Foods in Denmark, Bel Leerdammer, 

Cono Kaasmakers and DOC Kaas in the Netherlands 

and Milcobel in Belgium) and includes the meadow milk 

premium and other supplements and back payment 

from the reference companies to their dairy farmers and 

any formation of equity in the name of the reference 

companies’ dairy farmers. The organic milk price, paid out 

annually to the member dairy farmers who supply organic 

milk, comprises the guaranteed organic milk price, the 

performance premium and the distribution of member 

bonds. The amount of the performance premium and the 

distribution of registered member bonds depends on the 

FrieslandCampina Company’s financial performance and 

the reserve policy.

Of the profit for 2013 of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V., 

after deduction of the recompense on member bonds, 

the recompense for the perpetual notes and the profit 

attributable to minority interests, 50 percent will be 

added to the Company’s equity, minus the full effect of 

the goodwill impairment, 30 percent will be paid out to the 

member dairy farmers in cash as a performance premium 

for the milk supplied, and 20 percent will be paid out to the 

member dairy farmers in the form of fixed member bonds. 

The milk money regulation stipulates that the calculation 

of the FrieslandCampina milk price may be adjusted if 

in any year a goodwill impairment amounting to at least 

100 million euro is necessary. This was the case in 2013.

The performance premium is paid out to the Cooperative’s 

members annually, after the financial statements have been 

adopted, in proportion to the value of the quantity of milk 

they have supplied during the year in question.

Amendments	to	the	milk	price	system	and	profit	

appropriation	for	2014-2016	

The annual milk price that FrieslandCampina will pay the 

member dairy farmers as of 2014 comprises the guaranteed 

price, the performance premium, the meadow milk premium, 

the special supplements (together the cash price) and the 

distribution of member bonds. As of 2014 the price paid for 

milk will be based on the value of the supplied kilograms of 

protein, fat and lactose in the ratio 10:5:1.  

The FrieslandCampina performance price comprises the 

milk price (as described above), plus the interest on member 

certificates and member bonds and the addition to the 

Company’s general reserve.

Of the profit of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. in 2014-2016, 

based on the guaranteed price and after deduction of the 

recompense on member bonds and the profit attributable 

to minority interests, 45 percent will be added to the 

Company’s equity. Of the profit 35 percent will be paid out 

to the member dairy farmers as performance premium and 

20 percent will be paid out to the member dairy farmers 

in the form of fixed member bonds. The pay-out of fixed 

member bonds will be calculated on the basis of the value 

of the milk supplied during the financial year.

In September 2014 an interim amount based on the 

Company’s results for the first half of the year and the 

quantity of milk supplied will (according to expectations) be 

paid out for the first time. The interim pay-out amounts to 

75 percent of the pro forma performance premium over the 

first half of the year. The final settlement will be paid out 

in April of the following year on the basis of the Company’s 

annual results and the total quantity of milk supplied.
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Taxes amounted to 109 million euro (2012: 168 million euro). 

The decrease was on the one hand due to the release of 

deferred tax liabilities in 2013 resulting from the goodwill 

impairment and, on the other hand, the negative effect  

of the write-off of deferred taxes in 2012. 

Financing

FrieslandCampina raises loans from different groups 

of lenders (member dairy farmers, banks and investors). 

A large portion of the loan capital financing has been 

borrowed from financial institutions in and outside the 

Netherlands. The major portion of the bank loans comprises 

a committed credit facility amounting to 1 billion euro with 

a term of until August 2015. After a partial repayment of 

112 million US dollars in December 2013 the capital portion 

of the outstanding institutional loans amounts to 0.7 billion 

US dollars. To hedge the currency risk the dollar loans have 

been converted into euro liabilities via currency swaps.

The	Company's	performance		

for	member	dairy	farmers	3.04	euro

FrieslandCampina’s performance for the member dairy 

farmers comprises the performance premium and the 

distribution of member bonds for the raw milk supplied 

during 2013. In total 282 million euro was attributed 

to member dairy farmers (2012: 210 million euro). For 

the performance premium 168 million euro is available. 

At 1.81 euro per 100 kilos of milk excluding VAT this is 

27.5 percent higher than the performance premium for 

2012 (126 million euro, 1.42 euro per 100 kilos of milk). 

The distribution of member bonds for 2013 amounted to 

114 million euro. That equates to 1.23 euro (2012: 0.95 euro) 

per 100 kilos of milk. In total the Company’s performance 

amounted to 3.04 euro per 100 kilos of milk (2012: 

2.37 euro), an increase of 28.3 percent.

The guaranteed price for 2013 was 39.45 euro excluding 

VAT per 100 kilos of milk, 16.5 percent higher than the 

guaranteed price for 2012 (33.87 euro per 100 kilos of milk). 

The increased guaranteed price was due to the higher milk 

prices of the reference companies, which was the result 

of higher sales prices for milk powder, cheese, butter and 

drinking-milk based products.

The milk price for 2013 was 42.49 euro excluding VAT 

per 100 kilos of milk at 4.41 percent fat and 3.47 percent 

protein, 17.2 percent higher than the milk price for 2012 

(36.24 euro per 100 kilos of milk). 

Member dairy farmers who put their cows out in the 

meadow to graze for at least six hours a day, on at least 

120 days a year, are paid a meadow milk premium of 

0.50 euro per 100 kilos of milk. Calculated over all the 

member milk the meadow milk premium amounts to 

0.31 euro per 100 kilos of milk. Other supplements are, per 

100 kilos of milk, 0.90 euro for Campina milk, 1.00 euro for 

Landliebe milk, and the difference between the organic 

milk guaranteed price and the guaranteed price. Calculated 

over the total quantity of FrieslandCampina milk the special 

supplements amount to 0.10 euro per 100 kilos of milk. 

The organic milk guaranteed price for 2013 was 46.65 euro 

(2012: 43.05 euro) excluding VAT per 100 kilos of milk at 

4.41 percent fat and 3.47 percent protein. The organic 

milk price (guaranteed price, performance premium and 

distribution of member bonds) for 2013 was 49.69 euro 

(2012: 45.42 euro).

Compared with 2012 the attributed interest on member 

bonds fell from 41 million euro to 34 million euro  

as a result of the lower Euribor. The average interest 

pay-out per 100 kilos of member milk will be 0.37 euro 

(2012: 0.46 euro).

Milk	supply

In 2013, 9.3 billion kilos of milk was supplied by the 

Cooperative’s members. This meant the amount of milk 

supplied was 4.5 percent higher than in 2012 (8.9 billion 

kilos). In the first four months of 2013 the milk supply was 

lower than in the previous year due to the long and cold 

winter. From the spring of 2013 on the milk supply rose  

due to the favourable weather conditions.

Pension	charges	and	coverage	ratio

Most of the pension charges are related to the Dutch 

pension plans and in 2013 fell from 88 million euro to 

82 million euro as a result of adjustments to the plans to 

bring them in line with new statutory demands. The most 

important pension agreements with FrieslandCampina’s 

Dutch employees are laid down in the Employment 

Agreement related to pensions for the dairy industry. 

Within the Company there are other pension plans in place. 

The pension plans are administered by various external 

pension administrators, the most important of which are 

Avéro Achmea Pensioen and Stichting Pensioenfonds 

Campina. 
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Agreement regarding the industry branch pension plan has 

also been reached for the employees who are covered by the 

Employment Agreement for the Private Cheese Warehouses 

industry branch and this has also been  

brought in line with the stipulations of the new legislation.  

The administration agreement with Stichting Pensioenfonds 

Campina has been terminated and agreements have been 

made with Avéro Achmea regarding possibly making the 

separate depot premium free. The many changes in the 

pension dossier will also demand the necessary attention 

during 2014.

One of the consequences of the changes in financial 

reporting rules is that as of the 2013 financial year actuarial 

gains and losses must be recognised directly as a gain/

loss in equity (the comparable figures for 2012 have been 

adjusted for this). The net negative effect on equity as at 

1 January 2013 amounted to 256 million euro. The actuarial 

losses that arose in 2013 are consequently recognised as a 

remeasurement of net pension obligations charged to equity 

(34 million euro after taxes). 

The coverage ratio of Pensioenfonds Campina rose from 

99.7 percent at the end of 2012 to 102.7 percent at the 

end of 2013. This was not sufficient to conform with 

the recovery plan which was based on a coverage rate 

of 104.0 percent at the end of 2013. FrieslandCampina 

presented proposals that could contribute towards 

a more future-proof solution for the fund to Stichting 

Pensioenfonds Campina. At the end of 2013 the coverage 

rate of the separate investment fund administered 

by Avéro Achmea Pensioen was 114.8% (end of 2012: 

116.3%). This coverage rate was determined on the basis 

of the insurance conditions agreed with the insurance 

companyand is higher than it would have been  

if determined on the basis of current market value. 

In the Netherlands, at the end of 2013 agreement at the 

industry branch level in the dairy industry was reached  

with the social partners regarding the establishment, from 

2015 on, of a completely new basis pension plan that can  

be financed in the long term and is future-proof. 

Chinese-Dutch	research	&	knowledge	centre		

to	improve	Chinese	dairy	produce

In November 2013 China Agricultural University 

(CAU), Wageningen UR (University & Research centre) 

and FrieslandCampina signed an agreement for the 

establishment of a new research & knowledge centre in 

China – the Sino-Dutch Dairy Development Centre (SDDDC). 

The centre focuses on improving the productivity, safety 

and quality of dairy chain logistics in China. Dutch expertise 

in the field of dairy production will be shared with Chinese 

experts in the dairy sector and experts and policy makers  

in dairy research and the dairy industry. The agreement 

was signed in the presence of Dutch Prime Minister, 

Mark Rutte. The three parties will bring their expertise and 

experience together in the new centre. The initiative is  

also in line with the Dutch top-sector policy and the Chinese 

government’s policy of stimulating cooperation between 

research institutes and commerce.
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Achievement	of	the	route2020	strategy

FrieslandCampina’s route2020 strategy is aimed at 

sustainable growth and value creation in selected markets 

and product categories.

Growth

Total volume rose by 3.0 percent (2012: 2.4 percent). 

Volume growth within the three growth categories of infant 

nutrition, dairy-based beverages and branded cheese 

amounted to 5.4 percent (2012: 4.1 percent).

Most of the organic growth was achieved in the infant 

nutrition category, in which a total of 10.8 percent volume 

growth was achieved in the consumer market and business-

to-business market (2012: 10.2 percent). The dairy-based 

beverage category also achieved volume growth, mainly 

in Asia and Africa, where 10.8 percent volume growth was 

achieved (2012: 9.5 percent). In Europe the development of 

dairy-based beverages lagged behind due to the economic 

crisis and volume declined by 3.4 percent. The volume 

of branded cheese rose by 9.5 percent due to increased 

export outside Europe (2012: 4.4 percent).

Value	creation

For 2013, on top of the guaranteed price a total of 

282 million euro (2012: 210 million euro) will be distributed 

to member dairy farmers, of which the performance 

premium accounted for 168 million euro (1.81 euro per 

100 kilos of milk excluding VAT). The distribution of member 

bonds for 2013 amounted to 114 million euro (1.23 euro per 

100 kilos of milk excluding VAT). In total the Company’s 

performance per 100 kilos of milk amounted to 3.04 euro 

(2012: 2.37 euro), an increase of 28.3 percent.

Acquisitions

On 12 April 2013 the European Commission approved 

FrieslandCampina’s acquisition of cheese specialist 

Zijerveld and its packaging unit Den Hollander Food. Since 

1 May 2013 both companies have been part of the Cheese, 

Butter & Milkpowder business group. As a condition 

(remedy) of the acquisition Amalthea (independent goat’s 

milk cooperative) must make a portion of the sales volume 

of semi-hard goat’s cheese purchased by FrieslandCampina 

available to one or more external parties. During the period 

for which the condition is applicable FrieslandCampina must 

also make a total of 3.5 million kilos of goat’s milk available 

to a third party.

In addition to a wide range of Dutch and foreign cheeses, 

Zijerveld offers its customers tailor-made solutions.  
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The company employs around 300 people and has its  

own ripening sites and packaging and distribution facilities.  

Den Hollander Food is Zijerveld’s packaging unit. The 

emphasis is on pre-sliced cheese in a range of resalable 

packaging. Most of the production goes to large European 

retailers and other cheese manufacturers. The packaging 

unit employs nearly 140 people. FrieslandCampina acquired 

Zijerveld and Den Hollander Food through the payment  

of 80 million euro in cash plus a contingent consideration  

of 19 million euro. 

In July 2013 FrieslandCampina acquired a 7.5 percent interest 

in Synlait Milk Ltd. in New Zealand. FrieslandCampina 

already purchased dairy raw materials from Synlait 

Milk. This investment has safeguarded the supply of 

raw materials from Oceania for use in products for Asia.

In November 2013 FrieslandCampina reached agreement 

with Hero regarding the repurchase of the Friso brand name 

in the Benelux. As of 1 April 2014 Hero will market its baby 

food products under the name Hero Baby. This has brought 

to an end the sometimes confusing situation in which both 

FrieslandCampina and Hero used the same Friso brand name. 

Investments

In 2013 FrieslandCampina invested 559 million euro.  

The aims of the investments included the achievement  

of growth in the growth categories and ensuring the 

anticipated increasing quantity of milk from the member 

dairy farmers after 2015 (when the EU milk quota ends) 

can be processed. In 2013 various investment projects 

were completed. The cheese production capacity of 

FrieslandCampina Cheese in Workum has been doubled 

to 120,000 ton of cheese a year. The FrieslandCampina 

Development Centre in Singapore went into service.  

The FrieslandCampina Innovation Centre in Wageningen, 

which contains research facilities, laboratories, test 

production facilities and offices, was completed in July 2013 

and officially opened by Queen Máxima on 16 October.

Investments in millions of euros

2014	1 652

2013 559

2012 423

2011 376

2010 261

2009 236

1 budgeted
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The	major	investment	projects	in	2013

FrieslandCampina Domo, Beilen (Netherlands)

Investment: 34 million euro

Goal: expansion of production capacity for infant nutrition 

by installing new spray-drying tower, expansion of small 

packaging and improvement of infrastructure

FrieslandCampina Domo, Bedum (Netherlands)

Investment: 71 million euro

Goal: expansion of milk processing capacity and production 

capacity for infant nutrition by installing new spray-drying 

tower and whey desalination

FrieslandCampina Domo, Borculo (Netherlands)

Investment: 54 million euro

Goal: expansion of production capacity of ingredients 

for infant nutrition

FrieslandCampina DMV, Veghel (Netherlands)

Investment: 63 million euro

Goal: expansion of milk processing capacity and production 

capacity for infant nutrition by expanding the capacity for 

receiving and de-creaming raw milk, expansion of whey 

processing capacity and improvement of the efficiency 

of caseinate and lactose production

FrieslandCampina Leeuwarden (Netherlands)

Investment: 48 million euro

Goal: expansion of milk processing capacity through 

renewing and expansion of production capacity for 

evaporated and condensed milk for export

Investments	approved	in	2013	

The budget for 2014 includes investments amounting to 

652 million euro. Two investments of over 100 million euro 

in Leeuwarden (Netherlands) and Borculo (Netherlands) were 

approved by the Cooperative’s Member Council. (The amounts 

shown are the total investment for the entire project.) 

FrieslandCampina Leeuwarden (Netherlands)

Investment: 110 million euro

Duration: 2014-2016

Goal: expansion of milk processing capacity through 

renewing and expansion of production capacity for 

evaporated and condensed milk for export

FrieslandCampina Domo, Borculo (Netherlands)

Investment: 135 million euro

Duration: 2014-2016

Goal: expansion of production capacity by building a new 

production facility with spray-drying tower for milk powder 

and ingredients

FrieslandCampina Domo, Borculo (Netherlands)

Investment: 41 million euro

Duration: 2014-2016

Goal: expansion of production capacity for infant nutrition 

ingredients

Alaska Milk Corporation (Philippines) /  

FrieslandCampina Kievit (Indonesia)

Investment: 36 million US dollars 

Duration: 2013-2015

Goal: expansion of creamer production capacity

FrieslandCampina DMV, Veghel (Netherlands)

Investment: 11 million euro

Duration: 2013-2014 

Goal: expansion of production capacity 

Investment	in	Borculo

In Borculo a new production facility for the production 

of infant nutrition and ingredients is being built next to 

FrieslandCampina’s existing facility. The construction will 

incorporate technical and sustainability innovations, such 

as condensers that can reuse the heat several times and 

energy from bio-mass. With the use of energy from bio-mass 

FrieslandCampina will be taking a new step towards climate-

neutral growth. With the expansion in Borculo FrieslandCampina 

is contributing towards the further strengthening of the 

Netherlands’ export position for dairy products.
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Organisational	changes

In its efforts to achieve a more streamlined organisation,  

in 2013 FrieslandCampina implemented various changes  

in the organisation:

• The integration as of January 2013 of the sales activities 

for branded cheese in the Netherlands into the operating 

company FrieslandCampina Branded Netherlands/

Belgium. This has centralised the management of all 

the sales and marketing activities related to branded 

products for the consumer market; 

• The integration as of 1 January 2013 of the export 

activities of FrieslandCampina Cheese Specialties and 

FrieslandCampina Export in a new FrieslandCampina 

Export organisation in Wolvega (Netherlands).  

This operating company is part of the Cheese, Butter & 

Milkpowder business group;

• The establishment on 1 January 2013 of the operating 

company FrieslandCampina Retail Brands Europe from 

where all sales of private label products in Europe will 

be carried out;

• The start of the new Dairy Development Desk China 

department that focus on maintaining and improving 

relations in China, for instance with the authorities, 

universities and organisations in the field of dairy 

farming and dairy products;

• The implementation of an investment and optimisation 

programme in Germany. The facilities in Cologne, 

Gütersloh and Heilbronn have been modernised and 

production and administrative processes have been 

improved and streamlined in order to reduce costs.  

This has resulted in the loss of 230 of the 1,500 jobs.  

In September 2013 the regional brands Mark 

Brandenburg and Milchreiter were sold to ODW 

Frischprodukte, which had acquired the production  

facility in Elsterwerda in 2010;

• In Hungary the concentration of production in the 

production facility in Mateszalka. The objective is to 

sell the production facility in Debrecen. Logistics and 

administrative support is centralised in Budapest;

• In Belgium the taking over by Limelco of the purchase of 

around 125 million kilos of milk from milk suppliers who 

had previously sold their milk to FrieslandCampina in 

Belgium. This will enable both companies to gear their 

milk requirement more in line with the market demand 

for Belgian milk; 

• In France the sale of cheese processing company Société 

Industrielle Fromagère SAS (8 employees) to the Austrian 

processed cheese producer Rupp AG in September 2013;

• As of 1 October 2013 the division of consumer-oriented 

activities between the Consumer Products Asia business 

group and the Consumer Products Europe, Middle 

East & Africa business group. This will enable a better 

response to rapid changes in the market in Asia as well 

as in Europe, the Middle East and Africa. Considerable 

volumes are exported from the Netherlands to the 

Middle East and Africa;

• As of 1 January 2014 the combining of FrieslandCampina 

Professional and FrieslandCampina Out-of-Home into the 

new operating company FrieslandCampina Foodservice. 

Service to customers in the catering sector, wholesale, 

bakery and fast food chains in the Netherlands, Belgium, 

Germany, France and Italy will be integrated and provided 

by the new operating company;

• The announcement at the end of October 2013 of 

measures to strengthen FrieslandCampina’s competitive 

position in the Netherlands. These measures include 

restructuring the production and distribution of fresh 

dairy products such as milk, yoghurts and desserts, 

reducing the number of products and types of packaging 

and optimising capacity utilisation by concentrating 

production in Maasdam and Rotterdam. As a result of 

these measures the facilities in Eindhoven and Woerden 

will close down in mid 2014. The restructuring will result 

in 174 jobs being lost. FrieslandCampina will help the 

employees affected find other suitable employment 

either within or outside the Company;

• The start of a process to transform FrieslandCampina 

into a team-based organisation through which advantages 

will be achieved in the field of scope, scale and speed 

(project 3S). This will involve organisational changes 

(including a far-reaching standardisation of operating 

processes and overhead reductions).

Report	of	the	Executive	Board
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Sustainability

In 2013 further steps were taken to safeguard sustainability 

objectives in the Company and the Cooperative, including:

• The implementation of the sustainability programme 

on member dairy farms-(Foqus planet) and, in the LTO 

and NZO (Dutch Dairy Association) context, new steps 

related to cows being put out in the meadow and in the 

field of mineral efficiency (phosphate and amonia) and 

greenhouse gas emissions;

• The purchase of sustainable raw materials, RSPO palm 

oil, RTRS soya, UTZ cocoa and FSC packaging materials;

• Efficiency measures in the field of energy, water and 

waste at 80 production facilities have led to energy 

and water usage per 1,000 kilos of dairy products 

produced being reduced by 3.3 percent and 2.3 percent 

respectively;

• 60 percent of the electricity FrieslandCampina uses at 35 

facilities in the Netherlands is green electricity generated 

by member dairy farms, other agricultural enterprises 

in the Netherlands, or FrieslandCampina’s own wind farm;

• Further development of the Dairy Development 

Programme in Indonesia, Thailand and Malaysia;

• In the context of the cooperation agreements with 

the Dutch Red Cross and Agriterra, FrieslandCampina 

contributed towards aid programmes focused on 

nutrient-rich food for the Philippines and the Middle East 

and the Farmer2Farmer support programme for small 

farmers in developing countries.

Safety

Safety is a cornerstone of FrieslandCampina’s day-to-day 

operations. The goal is to achieve an accident-free and 

incident-free working environment in which employees and 

contractors also make an active contribution. The aspects 

on which the safety programme focuses include process 

safety, culture & leadership and risk recognition. 

Safety awareness and safety performance have improved 

immensely in FrieslandCampina’s facilities. In 2013 the 

number of accidents resulting in absence fell to 0.6 per 

200,000 hours worked – a reduction of 40 percent compared 

with 2012 (1.0). This means the original target set in 2011 –

halving the number of workplace accidents within five years 

– has been achieved. The new, more stringent, target is to 

reduced the number of accidents resulting in absence per 

200,000 to 20 percent of the 2011 figure by 2020.

In 2013 priority was given to the implementation of 

working methods to ensure machinery is safeguarded 

and contractor management. In 2014 the focus will be on 

leadership, safety awareness, risk recognition and the 

further implementation of so-called ‘Life saving rules’. 

‘We work safely, or we don’t work’.

Celebration	of	50	years	Dutch	Lady	Malaysia

In 2013 Dutch Lady Malaysia celebrated ‘her’ 50th 

birthday. To mark this milestone ‘she’ set up the 

Inspire Tomorrow Fund to inspire young children 

in Malaysia and enable them to make their dreams 

come true. Dutch Lady is the leading dairy brand 

in Malaysia. The many prizes and awards the 

company has won over the years underline  

Dutch Lady’s good reputation.
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Market	developments	in	2013

During the first half of 2013 milk production in the major 

milk exporting countries was far lower than usual. Drought 

in New Zealand reduced the country’s production by nearly 

14 percent and in the European Union the supply was down 

by 2 percent due to the long winter and the mediocre 

quality of the available roughage. Bad weather conditions 

also reduced milk production in Australia and Argentina  

by 8 percent and 7 percent respectively. Only in the US  

was milk production higher than in the first half of 2012 –  

by 0.5 percent.

The decline in production caused prices on the dairy 

market to rise. Prices for full-cream milk powder rose from 

3,625 US dollar/ton in February 2013 to 5,100 US dollar/

ton in May 2013. During the same period the quoted prices 

for skimmed milk powder rose from 3,650 to 4,800 US 

dollar/ton. Butter oil rose from 3,700 to 4,800 US dollar/

ton partly due to the extra demand for this product from 

China. In the EU there was a shortage of fat because of 

the high demand for cheese, especially from Russia, and 

the reduced supply of local milk. This caused the Dutch 

listed price for butter to jump from 3,340 euro/ton at the 

beginning of January to 4,200 euro/ton in July. As a result 

of the lower milk production and higher listed prices of 

dairy commodities, the prices of many consumer products 

also rose steadily. In Europe dairy consumption was under 

pressure due to the economic recession.

From mid 2013 on milk production began to rise worldwide 

due to more favourable weather conditions and the higher 

margins on milk production for dairy farmers. In the 

second half of the season milk production in the EU rose 

by 3.5 percent and primarily in the more northerly EU 

member states (the Netherlands, Germany and Denmark). 

In the Southern and Eastern European member states milk 

production remained lower than in the second half of 2012. 

In New Zealand production rose by over 5 percent. Growth 

in the US stuck at around 0.9 percent in the second half of 

the year due to milk price increases lagging behind the high 

prices for feed. 

Milk production in countries such as Argentina, Australia 

the Ukraine and Belarus remained lower than in the whole 

of 2012 due to the weather and low margins for dairy 

farmers. In China local milk processing was down due to 

revised quality demands on processed milk, unfavourable 

weather conditions and cattle disease. Milk production in 

Russia, the world’s second largest importer after China,  

was also lower than in the previous years.

Total global milk production in 2013 was lower than in 2012. 

As a result sales prices remained high during the second 

half of 2013. The demand on the world market remained 

exceptionally high due to the combination of high demand 

from China and Russia and low stocks. During the second 

half of 2013 China imported 25 percent more dairy products 

(mainly milk powders and infant nutrition) than during the 

comparable period in 2012. This meant total imports of 

around 4.5 billion kilos of milk equivalents. In the same 

period Russia imported around 173,000 tons of cheese  

and 52,000 tons of butter – 10 percent more than in 2012.

The continuing high demand for dairy products on the 

world market meant that, contrary to market expectations, 

dairy prices rose sharply 2013. The price of cheese rose 

more sharply in the second half of the year because in the 

first half of the year it had risen less than the price of other 

dairy products. The price for Dutch naturally ripened Gouda 

cheese rose from 3.50 euro per kilo to 3.95 euro per kilo.

Quality

To safeguard the safety and quality of its products 

throughout the entire production chain, from farm to 

consumer, FrieslandCampina has its own integral quality 

system, called Foqus. With Foqus FrieslandCampina offers 

consumers, customers and the authorities the guarantee 

that the products and production processes meet the 

stringent standards in the field of food safety, quality, 

safety, working conditions, fire protection and environment. 

An extensive programme of training courses and audits 

will help safeguard the implementation and continuous 

monitoring of Foqus in the production facilities, on the 

member dairy farms and at the suppliers of raw materials. 

FrieslandCampina, together with the Cooperative, 

commands the entire production chain from farm 

to end product. The guiding principles of the quality 

control are the statutory stipulations, with the addition 

of supplementary demands. The various international 

standards, such as HACCP, ISO 9001 and ISO 22000, 

OSHAS 18000 and ISO 14000 are integrated into Foqus 

so that both FrieslandCampina’s customers and consumers 

can be assured that the products are safe and of the 

highest quality. 

Report	of	the	Executive	Board
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Friso	introduced	in	Indonesia

Friso infant nutrition has been a trusted product of mothers 

in 25 countries for many years. Since 2013 all the different 

varieties of Friso have also been on sale in Indonesia both 

online and in the shops in five major cities. Friso offers 

nutrition not only for babies, toddlers and children up  

to 12 but also for pregnant women and mothers who  

are breast feeding.

In 2013 extra efforts were made with a view to raising the 

quality of the facilities involved in the production of infant 

nutrition even higher. The new food safety legislation in 

China, an important market for FrieslandCampina, was also 

embedded in the internal quality programmes. Towards 

this end FrieslandCampina’s own laboratory in Leeuwarden 

was extended. Steps were also taken towards adapting 

the working methods related to production at Alaska Milk 

Corporation in the Philippines, which was acquired by 

FrieslandCampina in 2012. 

European	Union	conditions	related	to	the	merger

The independent Dutch Milk Foundation (DMF) implements 

the merger conditions stipulated by the European Union 

in 2008 in respect of the merger of Friesland Foods and 

Campina. FrieslandCampina must make up to 1.2 billion kilos 

of Dutch raw milk a year available to producers of fresh 

dairy products and/or naturally matured cheese at the 

FrieslandCampina guaranteed price less 1 percent.  

The 1 percent discount will not be applicable after 1 July 2014. 

The business units that had to be sold at the time of the 

merger and that are now part of Arla Foods and Deltamilk 

utilise this option and the volumes reserved for them. 

Of the available 1.2 billion kilos of milk the DMF reserved 

0.9 billion kilos for these market players. In December 2013 

FrieslandCampina and A-ware signed a contract, with a term 

of 10 years, for the supply of around 0.3 billion kilos of milk 

(the available remainder of the 1.2 billion kilos of raw milk). 

Delivery of raw milk to A-ware is expected to commence 

between 1 December 2014 and 1 May 2015.

The Foundation also administers the severance scheme 

for FrieslandCampina’s Dutch member dairy farmers. In 

the period 1 January to 31 December 2013 the Dutch Milk 

Foundation approved 9 requests (2012: 14) from dairy 

farmers who wished to terminate their membership of 

Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina under the severance 

scheme of 5.00 euro per 100 kilos of milk. In total this 

involved nearly 6.6 million kilos of milk. The volume 

of milk from Dutch member dairy farmers that leave 

FrieslandCampina through the severance scheme is 

deducted from the quantity of milk available to the DMF.

Since it went into effect in 2009, 84 member dairy farmers 

have utilised the severance scheme. The total quantity  

of milk involved is 62 million kilos. 
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Opening	of	the	FrieslandCampina	Innovation	Centre	in	Wageningen

On World Food Day – 16 October 2013 – Queen Máxima opened the new FrieslandCampina Innovation Centre on the 

Wageningen University & Research centre campus in Wageningen by pouring a jug of milk. In its new Innovation Centre 

FrieslandCampina is bringing together all its international expertise in the field of research and development. 

Innovation

FrieslandCampina’s innovation programmes focus on 

infant nutrition, dairy-based beverages, desserts, cheese, 

ingredients and milk fat specialities.

Of scientific interest was the completion and publication 

of a study into the nutrition and health of 16,000 children 

in Southeast Asia in cooperation with local universities 

and research institutes. This study is forming the basis for 

innovations in infant nutrition – the first such innovation 

(Dutch Lady Complete) was introduced in 2013.

In 2013 the innovation programme resulted in product 

introductions within the growth categories infant nutrition 

(Frisomum Nigeria nutrition for pregnant women and Dutch 

Lady Complete), dairy-based beverages (Campina lactose-

free milk and Optimel Puur yoghurt drink with no added 

sweeteners) and branded cheese (Boer en Land cheese, 

Milner Koe & Geit). Packaging innovation made a major 

contribution towards the savings within the restructuring 

programme in Europe, the growth of Friso in China (bag-

in-box as a replacement for tin) and of branded cheese in 

small quantities. Process innovations have led to increased 

revenue from cheese and ingredients. In QA Fit, the infant 

nutrition quality improvement programme, analyses and 

recommendations from child nutritionists contributed 

towards fulfilling the quality demands of export countries.

The total cost of the research & development activities 

during the year under review amounted to 77 million euro 

(2012: 70 million euro).

Report	of	the	Executive	Board



Nourishing by nature

No matter how economically efficient and up-to-date a farm’s 

operations, every dairy farmer knows his or her cows and has 

a connection with them. Care begins with knowledge of the land 

and the cultivation of grass and other feed crops. A dairy farmer 

sees and works with the cows several times a day and, thanks to 

an increasing wealth of data, gets to know them better and better. 

Their behaviour and health and the quality of the milk they produce 

are constantly checked and their feed is tuned to their needs. 

Dairy farming is a profession. 





36 Consumer Products Europe, Middle East & Africa

Key	figures 2013 2012 ▲ %

in millions of euros 

Revenue from third parties 3,829 3,779 1.3

Internal supplies 240 275

Operating profit before 
restructuring and  
goodwill impairment

237 262 -9.5

Operating profit 10 233

Operating profit as a % of 
revenue from third parties 0.3 6.2

Employees (average 
number of FTEs) 8,193 8,300 -1.3

Market share brands ▼ ▼

Volume ▼ ▼

In	2013	the	Consumer	Products	Europe,	Middle	East	&	

Africa	business	group’s	revenue	from	third	parties	rose	

by	1.3	percent	to	3,829	million	euro	(2012:	3,779	million	

euro)	due	to	higher	sales	prices.	The	operating	profit	

before	restructuring	and	goodwill	impairment	fell	to	

237	million	euro	(2012:	262	million	euro)	because	the	

rising	guaranteed	price	for	raw	milk	could	not	be	passed	

on	to	the	market	quickly	enough.	The	operating	profit	

fell	to	10	million	euro	as	a	result	of	the	200	million	

euro	goodwill	impairment	and	an	incidental	expense	of	

27	million	euro	for	the	restructuring	measures	in	the	

Netherlands	announced	in	October	2013.	A	focus	on	

cost	and	efficiency	programmes	contributed	towards	

cost	savings.	

Pressure	on	European	dairy	market

Poor economic market conditions in Europe led to a further 

decline in dairy product consumption in several countries 

during 2013. Volumes were under pressure as a result of 

reduced sales of branded products in supermarkets and the 

rationalisation of private label ranges.

 

In the Netherlands the market shares of most brands were 

under pressure. Various innovations were launched on the 

market. The introductions of Optimel Pure and Optimel 

Greek Yoghurt were very successful. 

In Germany 2013 was a year in which the competitive 

position improved due to the focus on the Landliebe brand 

and cost reductions. Landliebe’s market share increased. 

In 2013 the results recovered, but remained negative. 

In Russia the volumes and market shares of the various 

products increased. In 2013 sales of cheese under the 

Frico brand were transferred to the sales organisation in 

Russia in order to provide a better response to the growing 

demand for Dutch cheese.

In Greece the volume share of the NoyNoy products and 

Milner cheese rose. The production facility in Patras 

reached its maximum production capacity.

The business group was able to improve its results from 

products for the professional market (bakeries, catering 

and fast food chains). Sales to industrial processors 

increased the most. Sales to the fast food segment 

(ice-cream mixes and milk shakes) were under some 

pressure. During 2013 a start was made on the  

achievement of an organisation focused on the  

European food service market.

In the Middle East revenue stabilised while volume rose 

slightly. Profit decreased, in part because price increases 

could not be passed on due to government regulations.

FrieslandCampina WAMCO Nigeria once again achieved 

revenue growth although due to increasing price 

competition, especially in the major cities, and total 

utilisation of the production capacity, the growth was less 

than in previous years and profit was under some pressure.

Results under pressure due to economic 

developments and the rapid rise of the 

guaranteed price

Growth in Nigeria lags behind due to high prices

Market shares under pressure

Restructuring in the Netherlands announced  

in October 2013, restructuring in Germany  

on schedule
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Operational	developments	in	2013

In the Netherlands the integration of the sales and 

marketing activities of branded products was completed by 

also integrating the branded cheese and butter activities 

into the FrieslandCampina Branded Netherlands/Belgium 

operating company. This has made working with customers 

on the basis of the entire branded products range more 

effective. At the end of October 2013 measures were 

announced regarding the reorganisation of the production 

and distribution of fresh dairy products, such as milk, 

yoghurts and desserts, in the Netherlands. The number 

of products and types of packaging will be reduced 

and the utilisation of production facilities optimised 

by concentrating production capacity in Maasdam and 

Rotterdam. As a consequence, the facilities in Eindhoven 

and Woerden will be closed. Overall this reorganisation 

will result in the loss of 174 jobs. The restructuring started 

in Germany at the end of 2012 proceeded as planned. The 

range has been rationalised, the number of jobs reduced 

and efficiency improvements have been implemented. 

Investments in capacity increases took place in a number 

of production facilities including in Aalter, Belgium, 

Stupino, Russia, and Lagos, Nigeria.

To enable the business group to respond more effectively 

to the changes in the sector, at the beginning of 2014 

the activities of FrieslandCampina Professional and 

FrieslandCampina Out-of-Home were integrated into the 

new operating company FrieslandCampina Foodservice.

Attention	points	in	2014

In 2014 further cost reductions will remain an important 

attention point. At the same time investments will be made 

in the brands for the European home market through 

innovation, new production technologies, an automated 

distribution centre in Maasdam and innovative packaging. 

Further growth will be sought in Russia and Nigeria, 

including through improved distribution. 

Report of the Executive Board Consumer	Products	Europe,	Middle	East	&	Africa
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The	Consumer	Products	Asia	business	group	performed	

well	in	2013.	Revenue	from	third	parties	rose	by	

12.3	percent	to	2,338	million	euro	(2012:	2,081	million	

euro)	despite	negative	currency	translation	effects	of	

13	million	euro.	Operating	profit	rose	by	11.9	percent	to	

385	million	euro	(2012:	344	million	euro.	Friso	infant	

nutrition	and	dairy-based	beverages	showed	good	

growth.	In	most	countries	the	market	share	of	infant	

nutrition	improved	slightly	compared	with	2012.		

The	market	shares	of	dairy-based	beverages	recovered	

in	Indonesia	and	Vietnam	but	were	under	slight	pressure	

in	a	number	of	other	countries.

Higher	volumes	

The demand for dairy products in Asia continued to rise. 

The business group achieved volume growth, especially in 

Hong Kong, China, Malaysia, Indonesia and the Philippines. 

In several countries growth levelled off and competition 

from local dairy companies increased.

Infant	nutrition

The market position of the premium brand, Friso, improved 

in nearly every market. In China Friso recovered very well 

in the second half of the year after a disappointing first half 

year due to parallel imports and confusion regarding the 

origin of various brands. Consumer trust recovered and the 

distribution of Friso was extended further. The sale of Friso 

via the internet was successful. In Hong Kong sales of Friso 

showed robust growth. In Indonesia Friso was introduced 

during the fourth quarter of 2013. Infant nutrition sold 

under the Dutch Lady and Frisian Flag Growing Up Milk ‘123’ 

and ‘456’ brands also showed growth.

Dairy-based	beverages

Dairy-based beverages showed good results. In Indonesia 

and Vietnam growth was achieved through a focus on 

further improvements to distribution which made Frisian 

Flag and Dutch Lady more easily available to consumers. 

Both condensed milk and ready-to-drink products profited 

from the improved distribution. Sales also rose in the 

Philippines, Malaysia and Singapore. In Hong Kong the use 

of Black & White evaporated milk in ‘tea shops’ increased 

further and the product is now also sold in ‘tea shops’ in 

China. In Thailand growth lagged slightly behind the growth 

in neighbouring countries. 

 

Alaska	Milk	Corporation

The integration of Philippine dairy company Alaska Milk 

Corporation, which was acquired in March 2012, progressed 

smoothly. The achievement of synergy advantages is ahead 

of schedule. Major improvements in the areas of quality 

and safety were implemented. In 2013 the Philippines 

was confronted with several natural disasters such as 

earthquakes, typhoons and floods. Luckily no employees 

were affected personally.

 

Operating profit up by 11.9 percent

Volume growth of 10.3 percent

Geographic expansion of Friso distribution

Currency translation effect negative  

for turnover and result

Key	figures	 2013 2012 ▲ %

in millions of euros 

Revenue from third parties 2,338 2,081 12.3

Internal supplies 19 4

Operating profit 385 344 11.9

Operating profit as a % of 
revenue from third parties 16.5 16.5

Employees (average 
number of FTEs) 6,430 5,818 10.5

Market share brands = ▲

Volume ▲ ▲
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Investments	in	growth	and	development

Investments in efficiency improvements and the expansion 

of production capacity were made in every country.  

New production lines were installed in Malaysia, Vietnam, 

Thailand and the Philippines. In September a new 

Development Centre was opened in Singapore. This centre 

will focus specifically on the development of dairy-based 

beverages and infant nutrition for the Asian market.  

In Hong Kong the ‘old’ sales office was ‘retired’ after  

75 years in service and a new sales office was opened.

Development	of	local	dairy	farming

FrieslandCampina is contributing towards the further 

development of local dairy farming in Indonesia, 

Vietnam, Thailand, Malaysia and Nigeria through its Dairy 

Development Programme. The programme helps local 

dairy farmers improve the quality and volume of their milk 

production by sharing knowledge in the field of breeding, 

animal feed, animal health, milking and hygiene.

Attention	points	in	2014

In 2014 further growth in both infant nutrition and dairy-

based beverages is an important attention point. Further 

growth with Friso will be sought in a number of countries 

including China, Hong Kong, Malaysia and Indonesia. In 2014 

Friso will be introduced in the Philippines. As far as dairy-

based beverages are concerned, more attention will be paid 

to growth through further improvements to the distribution. 

Targeted investments in advertising and new product 

introductions will contribute towards this. 

Report of the Executive Board Consumer	Products	Asia
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Key	figures 2013 2012  %

in millions of euros 

Revenue from third parties 3,012 2,451 22.9

Internal supplies 466 276

Operating profit 54 -30

Operating profit as a % of 
revenue from third parties 1.8 -1.2

Employees (average 
number of FTEs) 2,664 2,365 12.6

Market share brands ▼ ▼

Volume ▲ ▲

The	Cheese,	Butter	&	Milkpowder	business	group	can	

look	back	on	a	good	2013.	Revenue	from	third	parties	

rose	by	22.9	percent	to	3,012	million	euro	as	a	result	

of	price	increases	and	through	acquisitions.	Volume,	

including	acquisitions,	increased	by	4.6	percent.	

Commodities,	such	as	foil	cheese,	butter	and	milk	

powder,	had	a	good	year.	FrieslandCampina	Export		

had	a	more	difficult	year	due	to	the	substantial	increase	

of	the	guaranteed	price	and	currency	developments.	

Operating	profit	rose	by	84	million	euro	from	30	million	

euro	negative	to	54	million	euro	positive.

High	prices	for	foil	cheese

FrieslandCampina Cheese improved both its revenue 

and its result. Sales of foil cheese were good throughout 

the year due to the continuing demand and shortages 

in supply. This led to higher listed prices for various 

products. The higher prices could be passed on in the 

sales prices relatively quickly. 

Cheese specialist Zijerveld and its packaging unit Den 

Hollander Food have been part of the operating company 

since 1 May 2013. The companies have added expertise in 

the fields of range management, packaging, purchasing 

and sales. They offer customers a wide range of cheeses, 

expertise, customer-specific concepts and logistics 

services. This also applies to Yoko cheese in Belgium,  

which was acquired in 2012.

Cheese Specialties’ result fell slightly. Sales of branded 

cheese in Germany and Spain also felt the effects of the 

difficult market conditions in Europe. Although volume 

remained the same in these countries the higher prices for 

cheese could only be passed on after delays and could not 

always be passed on in full. Frico Landkaas was introduced 

in Germany. The product responds to the growing demand 

for pre-packed cheese. Valess achieved growth in Germany 

while revenue remained stable in the Netherlands.

Export	difficult

FrieslandCampina Export has been part of this business 

group since 1 January 2013. The operating company 

achieved a slight increase of revenue with a lower volume. 

The result was under pressure because the high guaranteed 

price for raw milk could not be passed on in full in the 

market. The more expensive euro compared to other 

currencies also had a negative effect on the result. Cheese 

export developed positively in 2013, especially to Russia. 

Sales to the Middle East and Africa stagnated as a result 

of unrest in Egypt, Libya and Syria.

A	good	market	for	butter	and	milk	powder

Thanks to the favourable market conditions, 

FrieslandCampina Butter & Milkpowder’s results were far 

better than for 2012 and, unlike in previous years, were 

positive. Volume remained the same but revenue rose. 

After reaching a low point in 2012, in 2013 the listed price of 

butter rose to a record high. The high listed price of butter 

could also be passed on in the sales price. Nearly all the 

milk powder FrieslandCampina produces is sold to its own 

operating companies in Asia and Africa at world-market 

prices. The growing demand for and shortfall in supply 

of milk powder meant prices and revenue rose.

Recovery of foil cheese,  

butter and milk powder 

The acquisition of Zijerveld, Den Hollander  

Food (2013) and Yoko Cheese (2012)  

contributes towards revenue growth 

Sharp rise in exports of cheese,  

especially to Russia 

Investments in capacity expansion
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Investments	and	operational	developments

In 2013 the expansion of the cheese production facilities 

in Workum was completed and the facility was reopened. 

Investments in expanding the production capacity for 

butter are being made in 's Hertogenbosch and Lochem, 

both in the Netherlands, in preparation for the anticipated 

increase in milk supply after the expiry of the milk quota 

in 2015. In September 2013 the French subsidiary Société 

Industrielle Fromagère SAS (processed cheese producer) 

was sold to Austrian processed cheese company Rupp AG. 

The activities were not of strategic importance for 

FrieslandCampina.

Attention	points	in	2014

The optimisation of ranges and the improvement of 

cooperations with major customers and distributors, 

as far as export is concerned, are important attention 

points for 2014. Further improvements to the quality 

systems, safety and safety awareness on the shop floor are 

important attention points for the entire business group. 

The achievement of synergy with the acquired companies 

and the further roll-out of the cost leadership programme 

are important for the cheese activities. Achieving cost 

leadership remains an important attention point for milk 

powder and butter.

Report of the Executive Board Cheese,	Butter	&	Milkpowder
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Key	figures 2013 2012  %

in millions of euros 

Revenue from third parties 1,801 1,698 6.1

Internal supplies 505 429

Operating profit 275 226 21.7

Operating profit as a % of 
revenue from third parties 15.3 13.3

Employees (average 
number of FTEs) 3,002 2,784 7.8

Volume ▲ ▲

In	2013	the	Ingredients	business	group	once	again	

performed	well.	Revenue	from	third	parties	rose	by	

6.1	percent	to	1,801	million	euro	(2012:	1,698	million	

euro)	thanks	to	a	positive	mix	of	products	and	

higher	sales	prices	due	to	the	guaranteed	price	

developments.	The	greatest	contribution	was	made	by	

FrieslandCampina	Domo,	DMV	and	DFE	Pharma.		

The	volume	of	added-value	products	rose	at	the	cost		

of	commodities	with	full	capacity	utilisation.		

Operating	profit	rose	by	21.7	percent	to	275	million		

euro	(2012:	226	million	euro).

Higher	sales	prices	due	to	limited	supply

In 2013 the volume of added-value products increased yet 

again, which meant fewer commodities were produced. 

The demand for ingredients based on milk and whey 

remained high while the supply on the world market 

remained relatively limited. The demand for dairy 

ingredients for infant nutrition increased, especially from 

Asia. The demand for caseinates rose despite the high 

prices. The shift in the portfolio towards products with 

higher returns led to an improvement in the business 

group’s result.

Operational	developments	in	2013

FrieslandCampina Domo had a good year. The demand for 

desalinated products such as Deminal and Hiprotal, Vivinal 

GOS and lactose products was once again high. To meet 

the growing market demand and the increasingly stringent 

quality demands from importing countries and customers, 

investments were made in both in capacity expansion and 

further improvements to product quality.

Market conditions were positive for FrieslandCampina 

DMV thanks to the increasing demand for products such 

as caseinates and whey-protein concentrates. Investments 

were made in the production facility in Veghel to increase 

the reception and decreaming capacity for raw milk and for 

the production of products including caseinates, whey-

protein specialities and lactose.

FrieslandCampina Kievit, which specialises in encapsulated 

and spray-dried ingredients including creamers, foamers, 

toppings, fat powders and powders for infant nutrition, 

was able to respond well to the growing market for these 

products, especially in the second half of the year. In the 

fourth quarter of 2013 the first production of creamers for 

the Chinese market started in cooperation with a Chinese 

partner. This will enable a better response to the demand 

in China.

In 2013 Creamy Creation, which primarily produces cream 

liqueurs, achieved a reasonable result. Sales to Africa 

increased further. During the second half of the year export 

to the United States was hindered because no export 

documents were delivered.

Nutrifeed recovered during the second half of the year 

after a difficult first half. Sales of piglet feed recovered 

particularly well. In the Netherlands the revenue from calf 

milk rose, partly due to increased sales to the cooperatives 

own members.

Further improvement of revenue and result

The range shifts to products with added-value

Positive cash flow with a high investment level

From 2014 on additional capacity for growth 

available through investments
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The DFE Pharma joint venture’s revenue and result 

improved. Volume decreased slightly due to longer 

registration procedures. The integration of Brahmar 

Cellulose has added microcrystalline cellulose to  

the product portfolio and enabled a better response  

to market developments.

Investments

To be able to continue meeting the growing demand 

for (nutritious) dairy ingredients for infant nutrition, 

investment programmes have been on-going since 2012. 

During 2013 new production capacity in the Netherlands 

became available for Deminal 90 (desalinated whey) in 

Bedum, for ingredients for infant nutrition in Borculo, and 

for whey concentrates in Veghel. At the beginning of 2014 

new processing capacity for infant nutrition was completed 

in Beilen. In August 2013 a 135 million euro investment 

programme for the construction of a totally new factory 

in Borculo with a spray-drying tower for milk powder that 

is also suitable for the production of infant nutrition and 

high-quality ingredients was approved. In the Philippines 

FrieslandCampina Kievit, together with Alaska Milk 

Corporation, invested in the expansion of the production 

capacity for creamers. 

Attention	points	in	2014

In 2014 the step-by-step availability of extra production 

capacity will enable a better response to the growing 

demand for ingredients and complete infant nutrition. 

In advance of the end of the milk quota in 2015 new 

investment plans have been worked out for the further 

expansion of the production capacity in Borculo. The 

further improvement of quality systems, safety and safety 

awareness in the workplace remain attention points.

Report of the Executive Board Ingredients



Nourishing by nature

Cereals, vegetables, fruit, nuts, fish, meat and milk have played a 

major role in human nutrition since time immemorial. They supply 

the nutrients people need on a daily basis to breathe, grow, move, 

recover and develop. These products are recommended worldwide 

as part of a healthy diet. Milk and milk products are important 

because of the protein, vitamins B2 and B12, and minerals such as 

calcium. Over the centuries, in different cultures and uses, there 

has been a constant development of new applications in response 

to people’s local needs and tastes. FrieslandCampina focuses its 

innovations on producing healthy, responsible and tasty foods in 

which the nutritional advantages of milk are utilised in the best 

possible way. 
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FrieslandCampina	and	its	staff

FrieslandCampina has 21,186 employees worldwide. A third 

of the employees work in the Netherlands. In Asia in 

particular employee numbers have increased due to the 

expansion of the activities resulting from the economic 

growth in the region. In China, for example, an organisation 

with 450 employees has been built up in recent years 

and the number of employees is continuing to increase 

on an almost monthly basis due to the expansion of sales 

activities for Friso infant nutrition and ingredients.

Involvement	and	pride

In 2013 the outcomes of the ‘over2you’ survey carried 

out among all employees in 2012 were shared with all the 

employees. Over 80 percent of the employees completed 

the survey. The results showed a high degree of involvement 

and pride among the employees as well as areas that could 

be improved, such as change-management and internal 

communication. Over 90 percent of all the improvements 

were implemented through action plans during 2013.

Talent	management	

Having extremely well qualified and motivated people in 

key positions is essential if the goals of the route2020 

strategy are to be achieved. Nearly 70 percent of all the 

people appointed to senior management positions during 

2013 already worked for FrieslandCampina. The accelerated 

development of top talent and the selective appointment 

of senior managers from outside the Company is bearing 

fruit. In 2013 FrieslandCampina once again invested in 

talent and leadership development by offering programmes 

for senior managers and high potentials in cooperation 

with IMD in Lausanne and the Ashridge Business Schools. 

Managers around the world also participated in leadership 

programmes via the FrieslandCampina Academy.

Talented people within FrieslandCampina prepare 

themselves for the leadership challenges of the future  

by tackling challenging projects, business challenges and 

international assignments. The mobility and development  

of talent continued and increased during 2013.

One specific focal area was the percentage of women 

in senior management positions. In recent years this 

percentage has increased slightly and in 2013 was 

14 percent. The aim is to achieve a greater percentage of 

female senior managers during the coming years. An action 

plan for the inflow and throughflow of female top talent will 

be implemented in 2014.

FrieslandCampina	Academy

The FrieslandCampina Academy develops and organises 

training programmes comprising training course and 

e-learning programmes. In 2013 more than 3,000 

employees followed one of the over 300 training courses. 

The FrieslandCampina Academy’s offering includes: 

• general FrieslandCampina programmes:  

Goodness of Dairy, Code of Conduct, route2020 and 

Project & Portfolio Management; 

• FrieslandCampina behaviour competencies:  

for example coaching skills, stakeholder engagement  

and personal effectiveness; 

• FrieslandCampina management and leadership 

programmes: Leading Self, Leading People and 

Leadership in a Change Environment; 

• FrieslandCampina functional competencies:  

Commercial Academy (Consumer Marketing, Shopper 

Marketing, Customer Development), HR Academy  

and B2B Sales Academy.

In 2013 a new Learning Management System was 

implemented. The system enables employees to see 

a summary of all the training courses available within 

FrieslandCampina and to register for programmes online.
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Global	Compensation,	Benefits	&	Mobility

In 2013 the worldwide Talent Management Cycle, which 

integrates the assessment and talent management 

processes and specifies a clear annual schedule for these 

processes, was developed. Preparations were also made 

for the digital implementation of the cycle as of 1 January 

2014. The worldwide assessment process was evaluated 

and optimised based on the outcomes of a performance 

management audit. The goal of the audit was to improve 

the quality of this process in terms of both the specification 

of targets and the evaluation of their achievement, and the 

quality of the assessment discussions between employee 

and manager.

The job descriptions for senior management were reviewed 

in cooperation with the Hay Group. This review resulted in 

a few amendments. The worldwide salary structure, which 

had been evaluated and adjusted during previous years, was 

also implemented for senior management during 2013 and 

preparations were made for the worldwide implementation 

throughout the rest of the organisation from 1 January 2014 

on by tuning the salary structure to the specific situation in 

each country.

HR	the	Netherlands

The sustainable availability of employees now and in the 

future is at the core of the Fit4Work2020 programme. 

In 2013 specific attention was paid to development-

oriented assessment discussions, making work rosters 

more flexible, creating more opportunities for work 

placements, setting up an academy in the Netherlands 

and a fitness programme. The rising average age of the 

employees working in the production facilities and the 

expected natural outflow means that around 50% of the 

4,700 production employees in the Netherlands will leave 

FrieslandCampina between now and 2020. The programmes 

in the field of sustainable availability that have been 

running in the Dutch production facilities since 2011 have 

resulted in a noticeable downwards trend in the average 

age. The sustainable availability of our current employees 

and the targeted recruitment of new employees will 

safeguard the quality and quantity of FrieslandCampina’s 

workforce in the future.

In 2013 a number of (intended) decisions were taken in 

the Netherlands: the closure of the facilities in Eindhoven 

and Woerden, a new distribution centre in Maasdam, 

streamlining of the facility in Limmen and the closure of 

Drachten. A total of 264 employees were affected by these 

decisions. 

Our	way	of	working

FrieslandCampina also wants to be the world’s most 

successful, professional and attractive dairy company for 

its employees. An inspiring and dependable employer that 

offers its employees opportunities, creates a good and 

safe working environment and organises relevant training 

courses. FrieslandCampina sums this up as ‘The way we 

work’. The aim of FrieslandCampina’s company culture 

and working environment is to enable individual talents 

to be developed to the maximum and, at the same time, 

to contribute towards the achievement of the Company’s 

ambitions. Inspiring and motivating employees and 

promoting enterprise are key aspects.

Within route2020 this translates into a way of working 

that revolves around alignment, accountability and action. 

Employees are encouraged to take on challenges together, 

to develop together, to take responsibility themselves, to be 

a role model in the field of safety and to take decisions and 

then together convert them into actions.

Report	of	the	Executive	Board



Stakeholder	dialogue	about	sustainable	energy

Successful sustainable development demands dedication 

from the top, continuous dialogue with stakeholders and 

the involvement of employees. In September 2013 five 

FrieslandCampina Future Leaders organised a stakeholder 

dialogue about sustainable energy in the Netherlands. 

Around 100 stakeholders (member dairy farmers, 

clients, NGOs and scientists) met to create a platform for 

sustainable dairy farming. The dialogue is continuing on 

www.milkstory.nl.
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In addition, all the financial administrations in the 

Netherlands were combined into a financial shared service 

centre. This decision affected nearly 200 employees, for 

90 percent of whom a solution was found. To limit the 

social consequences it was agreed with the unions that the 

Social Plan that expired in 2013 would be extended until the 

end of 2015. The guiding principle remains that employees 

are assisted with finding new employment, preferably 

within FrieslandCampina.

A new Employment Agreement was agreed for the 

employees who come under the Private Cheese Warehouse 

Employment Agreement.

For FrieslandCampina the new developments in pensions  

(national and within the industry) have meant a reorientation 

of the content and administration of the pension scheme. 

Market conformance, transparency and durability were the 

starting points for the design. FrieslandCampina will work 

towards the implementation of a defined benefit scheme via 

a pension agreement with the social partners. The details 

will be worked out during 2014.

In addition to filling over 200 vacancies special attention 

was paid to campus recruitment at universities offering 

technical courses. This included participating in ‘Best 

Graduates’. Social media is playing an increasing role  

in recruitment activities.

Corporate	Social	Responsibility

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) plays a major  

role in the achievement of the route2020 strategy.  

The fundamental principle of the policy is the creation  

of shared value both for FrieslandCampina, member dairy 

farmers, employees, clients and consumers and for society 

as a whole.

Dairy	in	a	fast-changing	world

The worldwide need for more food is threatened by 

a shortage of land, water, energy and other natural 

resources and, on top of that, by the fact that the ‘greying’ 

and poverty of the farming community means there are  

less farmers to produce the food.

Milk is a natural source of nutrients and forms the basis 

of a wide range of dairy products. With these products 

FrieslandCampina makes a contribution towards food and 

nutrient security. FrieslandCampina has programmes that 

supports young farmers through knowledge-transfer. 

FrieslandCampina is working on the innovation-driven 

creation of more sustainability in both production chains 

and dairy farming.

FrieslandCampina’s CSR policy focuses on four priorities: 

nutrition & health, more efficient and sustainable 

production chains, developing local dairy farming  

in Asia and Africa, and sustainable dairy farming.



CSR

Mission, vision and strategy

CSR Governance Board – Four CSR implementation teams

CSR performance measurement – Annual reporting – Stakeholder dialogue – Partnerships

Employee & dairy farmer engagement – CSR training programmes – Annual CSR Team Award

Business practices for suppliers – Code of Conduct – Foqus quality system – Position papers

 
Nutrition & 

health

Combating nutrient 
deficiency

Efficient and 
sustainable 

production chains

Improving resource  
utilisation

Development of  
local dairy farming  
in Asia and Africa

Helping small farmers  
in Asia and Africa

 
Sustainable  

dairy farming

Setting the  
standard
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• Nutrition & health
 Making enough nutritious food available to a fast growing 

world population is one of the four cornerstones of 

FrieslandCampina’s CSR policy. A notable portion of 

the world’s population is faced with undernourishment, 

while an equally large portion has problems with obesity 

due to too much food and the wrong type of food. Milk 

makes a positive contribution towards meeting both 

challenges because milk contains essential nutrients, 

such as vitamins B2 and B12, minerals and proteins. 

FrieslandCampina also wants to help drive back obesity, 

including through disseminating information about 

healthy eating and lifestyle, emphasising the importance 

of sport and exercise, reducing the sugar content in its 

own products and offering responsible choices.

•  Efficient and sustainable production chains
 FrieslandCampina has committed itself to climate-

neutral growth and is working on improving production 

efficiency and increasing the use of green energy in its 

own production chain. FrieslandCampina’s goals include 

the 100 percent use of green electricity generated on its 

own dairy farms or in the agricultural domain to provide 

the electricity used in its 35 production facilities and 

offices in the Netherlands. This energy includes energy 

generated from biomass and wind and/or solar energy.

• Development of local dairy farming in Asia and Africa
 Thousands of small farmers in Asia and Africa are being 

trained at model farms via the Dairy Development 

Programme (DDP). This is increasing the productivity  

of the dairy cows, further guaranteeing milk quality  

and achieving a higher family income for these farmers. 

In developing these programmes FrieslandCampina’s 

emphasis is on cooperation with local partners. 

• Sustainable dairy farming
 FrieslandCampina deems it important that milk and 

other raw materials necessary for its dairy products 

are produced in a sustainable manner. Major topics in this 

are energy and climate, animal welfare, meadow grazing, 

retaining bio-diversity and nature conservation. 

Report of the Executive Board
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From	guarantee	to	implementation	and	monitoring

The CSR policy comprises:

• an organisation comprising the Corporate Social 

Responsibility Governance Board, the sustainability 

coordination team and four steering groups responsible  

for the implementation of the CSR policy;

• regular stakeholder consultation and partnerships;

• a policy with goals for 2020, guaranteed by the 

ISO 26000 standard, that is aimed at the optimum 

involvement of the employees and member dairy  

farmers in sustainable business operations;

• a compilation of agreements, commitments, codes  

of conduct, policy documents, covenants, reports  

and certification which guarantee social responsibility  

and sustainability within FrieslandCampina.

In 2013 FrieslandCampina focused primarily on further 

safeguarding and integrating sustainability in the 

organisation and a better monitoring of the results. 

Concrete goals have been formulated within the four 

priority areas of the CSR policy. 

Nutrition	&	health

Over half the children in Vietnam do not have an optimum 

eating pattern. The problems of undernourishment are 

most prevalent in rural areas. On the basis of the results 

of the survey, FrieslandCampina has set up the ‘two million 

packets of milk’ campaign in 800 rural communities in 

Vietnam. A start has also been made on the organisation of 

90 nutrition festivals aimed at passing on knowledge about 

good nutrition to parents in rural areas and the healthy 

development of Vietnamese children.

Efficient	and	sustainable	production	chains

FrieslandCampina is investing in the more efficient use 

of energy and water and the re-use of waste water at its 

production facilities. In the Netherlands in particular the 

Company uses sustainable energy, preferably generated by 

member dairy farmers. Two-thirds of FrieslandCampina’s 

total worldwide energy usage is used in the Netherlands. 

In 2013, 60 percent of FrieslandCampina’s energy needs 

were purchased sustainably via the surrender of green 

certificates, so-called guarantees of origin, to member 

dairy farmers. FrieslandCampina’s purchasing programme 

is aimed at sustainable (agricultural) raw materials. 

Agreements have been signed with Solidaridad and other 

organisations regarding the purchase of sustainable soya. 

Via Solidaridad FrieslandCampina focuses on 30,000 

small Indian farmers who, thanks to the use of responsible 

agricultural methods, have increased their soya production 

by 54 percent compared with 2008.

FrieslandCampina	DMV	in	Veghel	installs		

sustainable	condenser

In October 2013 an energy-efficient condenser was installed 

at FrieslandCampina DMV in Veghel. This condenser 

extracts the water from whey so the milk sugar that is 

present crystallises spontaneously. Thanks to the smart 

application of various technologies, energy-savings of 

60 percent have been achieved. This equates to the usage 

of around 500 Dutch households. The heat that is released 

by this new method is utilised in such a way that cooling 

water is no longer necessary. 
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Development	of	local	dairy	farming	in	Asia	and	Africa

FrieslandCampina is contributing towards the further 

development of local dairy farming in Indonesia, 

Vietnam, Thailand, Malaysia and Nigeria through its Dairy 

Development Programme (DDP). To improve and increase 

milk production local dairy farmers receive training in 

breeding, animal feed, animal health, milking and hygiene. 

The Farmer2Farmer programme has been implemented 

successfully in Thailand, Malaysia and Indonesia. Working 

in good cooperation with Agriterra and local dairy 

development teams, eleven member dairy farmers have 

between them trained over 600 local dairy farmers.

Sustainable	dairy	farming

FrieslandCampina supports the ‘Responsible development 

of Dutch dairy farming’ vision of the LTO en NZO. Land-

based dairy farming and the retention of meadow grazing 

for cows so dairy farming develops in a responsible way 

after the ending of the milk quota in 2015 are important 

components of this vision. Through its Foqus planet-

programme for member dairy farmers FrieslandCampina  

is stimulating sustainability on the dairy farms.  

The emphasis of Foqus planet is on energy and climate: 

the use of sustainable energy and the achievement of 

energy savings. The cooperation with LTO Energie, which 

began in June 2013, will be an additional stimulus for the 

generation of sustainable energy as FrieslandCampina will 

purchase the sustainable energy. Member dairy farmers will 

be supported with information on topics including animal 

welfare, animal health and meadow grazing. In 2013 some 

dairy farms were audited by the Landbouw Economisch 

Instituut (Agriculture Economic Institute) in respect of 

a number of points in the Foqus planet-programme that 

make comparison between dairy farms possible and further 

stimulate knowledge transfer.

CSR	Report	2013

More information about FrieslandCampina’s CSR policy, 

including the results for 2013, can be found in the 

CSR Report 2013 that will be published in May 2014.

FrieslandCampina	Indonesia	supports		

the	Dairy	Village	Programme

In November 2013 FrieslandCampina Indonesia signed 

a collaboration agreement with PT Perkebunan Nusantara 

VIII and Koperasi Peternak Sapi Bandung Utara (KPSBU) 

Lembang for the provision of support for the Indonesian 

Dairy Village Programme. The programme is aimed at 

helping the Indonesian government increase national 

fresh milk production by 50 percent by 2025 and thus 

make the country more self-sufficient in respect of fresh 

milk. This is happening by giving small farmers access to 

enough agricultural land and helping them set up strategic 

cooperation agreements with other farmers in order to 

increase their chances of being granted financing for 

investments.

The official signing took place at FrieslandCampina’s 

production facility in Ciracas in the presence of the 

Indonesian Minister of Nationalised Companies, Dahlan 

Iskan, and the Dutch State Secretary of Economic Affairs, 

Sharon Dijksma.

Report	of	the	Executive	Board
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2013	proved	how	difficult	it	is	to	predict	what	the	

dairy	market	will	do.	The	rapid	rise	in	the	listed	prices	

for	commodities	and	the	persistently	high	price	level	

throughout	the	year	took	producers	and	customers	around	

the	world	by	surprise.	FrieslandCampina	is,	therefore,	

remaining	cautious	in	its	forecasts	and	is	not	making	

any	predictions	regarding	the	expected	results	for	2014.

The long-term forecasts for the dairy market remain 

positive. As the world’s population grows and welfare 

increases in many regions the demand for dairy products 

will continue rising. Rapid urbanisation will reduce people’s 

degree of self-sufficiency even further and the demand 

for food, including dairy products, will increase. Growth 

in Asia is expected to remain positive. Africa is a continent 

with enormous potential. Currency developments, weather 

conditions, political unrest and differences of opinion 

between sections of the population could, however 

adversely affect developments.

In 2014 FrieslandCampina anticipates achieving further 

growth with infant nutrition and dairy-based beverages in 

Asia and Africa, taking into account increasing competition 

from local suppliers of dairy products. This demands 

a fast adaptation to local market conditions from 

FrieslandCampina. A number of new introductions are 

foreseen. In Asia and Africa the supermarkets that are 

emerging are playing an increasingly significant role in 

food distribution, particularly in the cities. In rural areas 

the more classic system of distribution via small, traditional 

shops stocked by middlemen will remain important. 

FrieslandCampina will continue to pay considerable 

attention to both channels. E-commerce is gaining in 

importance, particularly in China and infant nutrition. 

More and more parents are using information acquired 

via websites and social media and are buying infant 

nutrition via the internet more often.

The far-reaching globalisation is affected product price 

development and is leading to more market volatility. 

This can lead to increasing exchange rate differences.

Governments are imposing increasingly stringent criteria 

in the field of food safety and quality. Small deviations 

from protocols or differences in interpretation can have 

major consequences for export from the Netherlands. 

The increasing regulation drives costs up.

In 2014 Europe is expected to have to continue contending 

with consumers who limit their expenditure because 

their incomes are under pressure from higher costs 

and increasing unemployment. In such times, to remain 

attractive and have brands and propositions that can hold 

their own against private labels and discount outlets,  

a brand producer such as FrieslandCampina must manage 

on the basis of cost reduction and, at the same time, invest 

selectively in innovation and marketing.

The worldwide offering of milk is expected to increase 

slightly in 2014. Weather conditions and the availability 

of dairy cattle remain the key factors for milk production.  

New Zealand is expected to produce more milk, but 

production in North and South America is expected to 

continue lagging behind. In the European Union growth is 

expected to be below the available quota set in the previous 

milk quota year (2014-2015). In the Netherlands, Denmark 

and Germany milk production will probably increase further 

in advance of the ending of the milk quota in 2015.

FrieslandCampina anticipates further volume growth 

from added-value products. In particular, an acceleration 

in the growth in infant nutrition is foreseen in both the 

consumer and industrial markets due to the availability of 

new production capacity. Organic growth is also foreseen 

for dairy-based beverages partly through a number of 

innovations. Most of the growth of dairy-based beverages 

will be outside Europe. In Europe a slight reduction 

in dairy-based beverage volume is expected and the 

European branded cheese market will also remain difficult. 

North Africa remains an uncertain market due to the 

region’s political instability. Competition from local players 

in the various countries is increasing.

Expenditure on advertising & promotion is increasing to 

support the growth and strengthen market positions and 

market shares. Operating expenses will rise in-line with 

the Company’s growth and further professionalisation. 

Investments in production capacity expansion, equipment 

replacement, efficiency improvements and innovation are 

planned. The innovation programmes are linked to the 

strategic growth categories and foresee a more intensive 

cooperation with customers. Expenditure on research & 

development will increase and there will be investments in 

further sustainability and quality improvements and control.

Outlook



53

In the area of human resources there will be a continued 

need for well-trained talent and employee mobility in order 

to maintain the desired high quality of the workforce.  

The training of employees in various fields will continue 

to be paid considerable attention as will the further 

improvement of workplace safety. Increasing efficiency, 

organisational adjustments, activity expansion and possible 

acquisitions will all lead to changes in the workforce.

Within FrieslandCampina adjustments in process 

management and working methods that will enable the 

Company to respond better and faster to changes in the 

market and reap more benefit from scale advantages 

are being worked on.

FrieslandCampina’s solid financial base offers a good 

foundation for achieving the Company’s plans in the context 

of the route2020 strategy. FrieslandCampina is expected 

to have ample means to meet its financial obligations in 

2014. In 2014 the Company intends extending the core of its 

financing via banks and to improve the financing conditions.

A sharper focus on Corporate Social Responsibility 

throughout the dairy production chain will contribute 

towards sustainable value creation for all stakeholders. 

By taking further steps towards the achievement of the 

route2020 strategy, in 2014 FrieslandCampina will continue 

to contribute towards improving the position of the 

Cooperative’s member dairy farmers.

The members of the Executive Board of 

Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. hereby declare, 

in conformance with Article 5:25c, Clause 2 under c of 

the Financial Supervision Act, that to the best of their 

knowledge the financial statements give a true and fair  

view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit  

of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. and the companies included 

in the consolidation. The Executive Board also declares that 

the annual report gives a true and fair view of the situation 

as at 31 December 2013 and the business development 

during the financial year of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. 

and the associated companies for which the financial 

information is recognised in its financial statements.  

The annual report also describes the material risks  

with which Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. is confronted. 

Executive	Board

Cees	(C.C.)	’t	Hart	

Chief Executive Officer 

Kees	(C.J.M.)	Gielen	

Chief Financial Officer 

Piet	(P.J.)	Hilarides

Chief Operating Officer 

Roelof	(R.A.)	Joosten

Chief Operating Officer 

Freek	(F.)	Rijna	

Chief Operating Officer 

Gregory	(G.)	Sklikas

Chief Operating Officer

Amersfoort (Netherlands), 28 February 2014
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Nourishing by nature

Milk is the result of the cow’s ability to convert grass, which 

humans cannot digest, into a valuable food. By maintaining their 

pasture land dairy farmers play an important role in preserving 

the cultural landscape. Further increasing the sustainability 

of dairy farming and the dairy sector is a key spearhead in the 

policy of FrieslandCampina and the dairy sector. Energy & climate, 

animal welfare and putting cows out in the meadow to graze play 

a major role in this. New steps have been taken to retain meadow 

grazing and improve the mineral efficiency and reduction of 

greenhouse gases.
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Basic	principles

Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. (the ‘Company’) voluntarily 

applies the principles of the Dutch Corporate Governance 

Code (the ‘Code’). The manner in which these principles are 

applied is described in this section. The principles of the 

Code the Company does not apply, and the reason why not, 

are also included. Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. 

(the ‘Cooperative’) is exempted from applying a structural 

regime. The Company is a statutory two-tier company. 

A covenant has been agreed with the Central Works Council 

(the ‘CWC’) on the grounds of which the members of the 

Company’s Supervisory Board (the ‘Supervisory Board’) 

are appointed by the Supervisory Board, the so-called 

co-option system.

Shareholders	structure

All the shares in the Company’s capital are held by the 

Cooperative, the members of which are involved in dairy 

farming. The Cooperative’s geographical area of operations 

is divided into 21 districts, each of which has a District 

Board. The Cooperatives members appoint the Boards 

of the 21 districts. Together the 210 members of the 

District Boards form the Cooperative’s Member Council. 

The Member Council appoints the nine members of the 

Cooperative’s Board on the recommendation of the Board 

of the Cooperative. The Cooperative is the sole shareholder 

of the Company. The Board of the Cooperative exercises 

the Cooperative’s shareholders’ rights and in this capacity 

functions as the General Meeting of Shareholders of the 

Company. There are a number of decisions regarding which, 

on the grounds of the Company’s Articles of Association, 

the Company’s directors (the ‘Executive Board’) must 

obtain the approval of the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

For a number of the decisions for which the Board of the 

Cooperative votes on behalf of the Cooperative, the Board 

of the Cooperative must obtain the approval of the Member 

Council before casting its vote. Such approval from the 

Member Council is also applicable for a number of other 

major decisions of the Company’s General Meeting of 

Shareholders. The Cooperative’s governance structure 

is described in the Cooperative’s Annual Report.

Board	structure

The Company has a so-called two-tier structure with an 

Executive Board and a Supervisory Board. The Executive 

Board comprises six members: a Chief Executive Officer 

(CEO), a Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and four Chief 

Operating Officers (COOs). Each COO is responsible for 

a specific part of the organisation, such as a business group 

or the management of the consumer product categories. 

The Executive Board’s composition and division of tasks 

is explained on page 148.

The Supervisory Board comprises thirteen members; 

nine members of the Board of the Cooperative plus four 

‘external members’. The Supervisory Board’s composition 

is described on pages 146 and 147.

Supervisory	Board	committees

The Supervisory Board has formed two committees: the 

Audit Committee, which comprises four Supervisory 

Board members, and the Appointment & Remuneration 

Committee, which comprises three Supervisory Board 

members. The composition of the Supervisory Board’s 

Committees can be found on page 147.

Report	of	the	Supervisory	Board

The topics covered in the report of the Supervisory Board 

include the activities of the Supervisory Board and its 

Committees during the year under review. This report is 

included on pages 66 to 69. 

Corporate governance
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The	Corporate	Governance	principles	followed	by	Royal	

FrieslandCampina	N.V.	are	laid	down	in	the	Articles	

of	Association	and	the	Regulations	of	the	Company’s	

various	bodies,	all	of	which	are	published	on	the	

Company’s	website.	Although	the	Code	is	not	applicable	

to	the	Company,	because	according	to	the	law	only	stock	

exchange	listed	companies	are	governed	by	the	Code,	

the	Company	applies	the	principles	and	best	practices	

provisions	of	the	Code	that	are	compatible	with	its	

structure	of	authority	and	the	nature	of	the	Cooperative.	

The	provisions	that	are	not	applied	are	specified	in	this	

overview	along	with	the	reasons	why	they	are	deemed	

inappropriate.	During	the	year	under	review	there	were	

no	substantial	changes	to	the	governance	structure.	

Executive	Board

Tasks	and	responsibilities

The Executive Board, which on the grounds of the Articles 

of Association comprises a minimum of two members, 

is charged with the management of the Company. 

This means that the Executive Board’s responsibilities 

include the policy and business progress within the 

Company and with this the achievement of the goals, 

strategy, profit development and the social aspects of doing 

business that are relevant for the Company. The Executive 

Board is also responsible for the compliance with legislation 

and regulations, the management of the risks coupled 

with the company’s activities and the financing of the 

Company. The Executive Board discusses the internal risk 

management and control systems with the Supervisory 

Board and the Audit Committee.

In the performance of its duties the Executive Board is led by  

the interests of the Company and its subsidiaries and associates. 

The Executive Board is accountable to the Supervisory 

Board and the General Meeting of Shareholders for its policy.

Appointment

The members of the Executive Board are appointed by 

the Supervisory Board for an indefinite period. The basis 

for non-compliance with the recommendation of the Code 

(appointment for a maximum term of four years) rests 

in the principles of the management structure whereby 

the members of the Executive Board are appointed by 

the Supervisory Board. In addition, the Cooperative is 

oriented towards the long-term. The Supervisory Board 

notifies the General Meeting of Shareholders of an 

intended appointment and does not dismiss members 

of the Executive Board until after the General Meeting 

of Shareholders has expressed its opinion. 

Remuneration	of	Executive	Board	members

All the relevant recommendations of the Code are applied 

in the remuneration policy. The remuneration policy is not 

made public because the Company is legally exempt from 

publication. The remuneration policy is proposed by the 

Supervisory Board and approved by the General Meeting of 

Shareholders and is accounted for every year in the meeting 

of the Cooperative’s Member Council. Important changes  

in the remuneration policy are put before the General  

Meeting of Shareholders for approval. FrieslandCampina  

is accountable to the General Meeting of Shareholders  

and the Cooperative’s Member Council. 

Supervisory	Board

The Supervisory Board supervises the policy of the 

Executive Board and the general business progress of the 

Company and its associated companies and advises the 

Executive Board. The Supervisory Board discusses with 

the Executive Board the strategy and main risks related 

to the Company’s operations as well as the organisation 

and functioning of and any significant changes to the risk 

management and control systems.

The Supervisory Board also has the authorities and powers 

specified in the provisions of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code in 

respect of companies with a two-tier management structure. 

These powers include, in particular, the appointment of the 

Executive Board members, the determination of the number 

of members of the Executive Board and the approval of a 

number of other decisions of the Executive Board as specified 

in legislation. The Supervisory Board also has the authority 

to approve certain decisions of the Executive Board as 

stipulated in the Articles of Association.

In the performance of its duties the members of the 

Supervisory Board are led by the interests of the Company 

and its affiliated companies and takes into account the 

interests of all the Company’s stakeholders and all the 

aspects of social responsibility relevant to the Company.

Composition,	independence	and	appointment

A covenant has been signed with the Central Works Council 

that includes agreements regarding the composition of the 

Supervisory Board, the required profile of the members of the 

Supervisory Board, the strengthened rights of the CWC  

in respect of the appointment of Supervisory Board members 

and the way in which the CWC exercises these rights. The profile 

sketch has been published on the Company’s website as an 

appendix to the Supervisory Board Regulations. On the basis 

of the Covenant the Supervisory Board is composed properly 

Corporate	governance
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if two-thirds of its members are members of the Board of 

the Cooperative (the ‘internal members’) and one-third of its 

members are recruited from outside (the ‘external members’).

The chosen composition reflects the two-thirds to one-third 

dominance of internal members in a Supervisory Board 

permitted by the law for large cooperatives. This dominance 

by internal members is carried through to the Company level. 

This stipulation deviates from the Code’s best practice 

provision which states that all Supervisory Board members, 

with the exception of a maximum of one member, must 

be independent. All the external Board members are 

independent in the sense of the Code. The external 

Supervisory Board members are selected on the basis of 

the criteria laid down in the profile sketch. At least one 

Supervisory Board member is a so-called financial expert, 

which means he or she has acquired relevant expertise and 

experience in the field of financial administration/accounting 

with a large legal entity.

The membership of other Supervisory Boards and the holding 

of other position by both Supervisory Board members and 

Executive Board members is evaluated by the Supervisory 

Board on a case by case basis, taking into consideration the 

nature of the membership or position and the demands it 

would place on the time of the member concerned. Every 

member of the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board 

must ensure he or she devotes sufficient time and attention 

to the Company to guarantee his or her duties are fulfilled 

properly. None of the Supervisory Board members may hold 

more than five Supervisory Board memberships and/or other 

functions with Dutch stock exchange listed companies or other 

large companies with a Chairmanship counting as double. 

For members of the Supervisory Board who were already 

members of the Board on 1 January 2013 this rule comes into 

effect at the time of their first reappointment after this date. 

Supervisory Board members are appointed by the 

Supervisory Board for a term of four years and may be 

reappointed a maximum of twice. An exception to this 

is applicable for the incumbent Chairman who may be 

appointed for a fourth term in connection with the fact that 

the Company wants to be able to appoint a Supervisory Board 

member for this function who has a lot of experience of the 

day to day operations of the Company and the Cooperative. 

The term of office of a Supervisory Board member who is also 

a member of the Board of the Cooperative always ends upon 

the termination of the Board of the Cooperative membership. 

Information concerning the dates of (re)appointment and 

current terms of the Supervisory Board members can be 

found in the appointment and resignation roster on page 69.

Remuneration

The General Meeting of Shareholders fixes the remuneration 

of the Supervisory Board members on the recommendation 

of the Supervisory Board and is accountable to the  

Member Council for its decisions. The remuneration  

is not dependent on the Company’s results. 

Supervisory	Board	committees

The Supervisory Board has a Remuneration & Appointment 

Committee and an Audit Committee. The task of these 

Committees is to prepare the decision making of the 

Supervisory Board; they have no independent decision-

making authority. The Regulations of the Committees are 

published on the Company’s website. Both Committees 

report regularly to the Supervisory Board regarding  

their deliberations and findings.

Remuneration	&	Appointment	Committee

The Remuneration & Appointment Committee comprises 

the Supervisory Board member with the 'social profile', who 

is also the Chairman of this Committee, plus the Chairman 

and Vice-chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

The duties of the Remuneration & Appointment Committee 

include:

• proposals for the remuneration policy of the Executive 

Board and the individual Board members;

• compiling the remuneration report;

• selecting and appointing the members (including 

drawing-up appointment criteria and procedures) of the 

Executive Board and the external Supervisory Board 

members;

• regular evaluation of the size and composition of the 

Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board Committees 

and the Executive Board;

• regular evaluation of the functioning of the Executive 

Board, the Supervisory Board, the individual members 

of both these Boards and the Supervisory Board’s 

committees; 

• preparation of the decision-making regarding the 

Executive Board remuneration policy; and

• supervision of the Executive Board’s remuneration  

policy, selection criteria and appointment procedures  

for members of the senior management.
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Audit	Committee

The Audit Committee comprises the financial expert and 

one other external Supervisory Board member and two 

Supervisory Board members who are also members of  

the Board of the Cooperative.

The duties of the Audit Committee are of a preparatory 

nature and relate to:

• the accuracy and completeness of the financial reporting; 

• compliance with recommendations from the Corporate 

Internal Audit department and the external auditor;

• the reliability and continuity of ICT systems;

• the internal administrative organisation;

• the functioning of the internal risk management and 

control systems;

• compliance with legislation and regulations, the policy  

in respect of tax planning;

• financing and application of information and 

communication technology; 

• the role and functioning of the internal auditor; and

• the appointment of and relationship with the external 

auditor (including the auditor’s independence, 

remuneration and non-audit-related tasks).

The Audit Committee is the first contact point for the 

external auditor should the audit reveal irregularities  

in the Company’s financial reporting.

Conflict	of	interests

FrieslandCampina has drawn up strict rules to prevent 

every form and appearance of a conflict of interest between 

the Company on the one hand and the members of the 

Executive Board and the members of the Supervisory Board 

on the other side. Decisions to enter into transactions 

involving conflicting interests of Executive Board or 

Supervisory Board members of a material significance  

for the Company and/or for the relevant individual must,  

in accordance with these rules be approved by the 

Supervisory Board. During the year under review  

no conflicts of interests were reported. 

The	General	Meeting	of	Shareholders

The Company’s General Meeting of Shareholders has the 

authority to approve certain Executive Board decisions. 

These decisions, which are stipulated in the Articles of 

Association, are major decisions relating to the operations, 

legal structure and financial structure of the Company (and 

the companies in which it holds shares) as well as decisions 

related to major investments.
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The most important other authorities of the General 

Meeting of Shareholders are:

• adoption of the Company’s financial statements and 

profit appropriation;

• discharging the members of the Executive Board for their 

management and the members of the Supervisory Board 

for their supervision of the Executive Board;

• adoption of the dividend;

• adoption of the remuneration policy for the Executive 

Board and the remuneration of the Supervisory Board 

members;

• appointment and dismissal of the external auditor;

• amendments to the Articles of Association; and

• issuing of shares, exclusion of the application right, 

authorisation to repurchase the Company’s own shares, 

reduction of the paid up capital, dissolution, application 

for bankruptcy.

During the Company’s General Meeting of Shareholders 

the Board of the Cooperative exercises its voting rights on 

behalf of the Cooperative. In respect of a number of major 

shareholders’ decisions, stipulated in the Cooperative’s 

Articles of Association, the Board exercises its voting 

rights with the prior approval of the Cooperative’s 

Member Council.

The	Company,	share	capital	and	Articles	of	Association

Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. is a public limited liability 

company registered in Amersfoort, the Netherlands and 

with its central office at Stationsplein 4, Amersfoort. 

The Company’s Articles of Association were last amended on 

2 February 2011 and are published on the Company’s website. 

The Company is registered with the Chamber of Commerce 

under number 11057544. At 31 December 2013 the Company’s 

authorised capital amounted to 1,000,000,000 euro divided 

into 10,000,000 (ten million) shares with a nominal value 

of 100 euro. The shares are registered. On the same day 

3,702,777 shares were issued and paid-up and all are held by 

the Cooperative. For the sake of brevity, for the stipulations 

regarding the issuing of shares, application rights, acquisition 

of own shares and capital reduction, reference is made to the 

Company’s Articles of Association. 

FrieslandCampina	Leeuwarden:		

100	years	of	global	entrepreneurship

In 2013 FrieslandCampina Leeuwarden celebrated its 

centenary. In 1913, 33 dairy companies established the 

Coöperatieve Condensfabriek Friesland – one of the 

forerunners of the current FrieslandCampina. Over the 

past century the condensing factory has grown into  

a production facility in which over 1 billion kilos of milk  

a year are processed into milk powder and a billion tins  

of condensed milk that go all over the world.  

The Black & White, NoyNoy, Frisian Flag and Dutch Lady 

brands have built up an iron-cast reputation. The events 

organised by FrieslandCampina to celebrate the centenary 

included an international symposium on the theme  

of 100 years of enterprise. An exhibition was also set up.
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Audit	of	the	financial	reporting	and	the	roles		

of	the	internal	and	external	auditors

Financial	reporting

The Executive Board is responsible for the quality and 

completeness of the published financial announcements. 

The Supervisory Board ensures that the Executive Board 

fulfils this responsibility. 

External	auditor

The external auditor is appointed by the General Meeting of 

Shareholders on the recommendation of the Supervisory 

Board. The Supervisory Board is advised by both the Audit 

Committee and the Executive Board. The remuneration of 

the external auditor and orders to the external accountant 

to carry out tasks not related to the audit are approved by 

the Supervisory Board on the recommendation of the Audit 

Committee and after consultation with the Executive Board. 

The external auditor is present during the Supervisory 

Board meeting in which the decision to approve the 

financial statements is taken. The external auditor’s 

findings regarding the audit of the financial statements are 

reported to the Executive Board and Supervisory Board 

at the same time.

Internal	audit	function

The functioning of the internal auditor is the responsibility 

of the Executive Board. Both the Audit Committee and the 

external auditor are involved in the plan of work of the 

internal auditor and are notified of his/her findings.  

The internal auditor has regular consultations with the 

external auditor and the Chairman of the Audit Committee. 

Best	practice	provisions	of	the	Code	not	applied		

by	FrieslandCampina

The Company fully endorses the Code by applying the 

principles and best practice provisions or by explaining 

why the Company deviates from the Code. The principles 

listed below are not applied for the reason indicated in the 

foregoing text or below:

II.1.1 Appointment of a member of the Executive 

Board for a period of a maximum of four 

years: see motivation under ‘Executive Board- 

Appointment’.

II.1.9-11 and IV Response time to shareholders, Supervisory 

Board notification in the case of an 

acquisition bid; principles in respect of the 

(General Meeting of) Shareholders and 

information provision/logistics regarding the 

General meeting: not applicable due to the 

fact that the Company is not stock exchange 

listed and all the shares in its capital are held 

by the Cooperative.

II 2.12-15 Publishing remuneration report, most 

important components of employment 

conditions or severance payment of Executive 

Board member: the Company utilises the 

statutory exception as understood in Art. 

2:383b of the Dutch Civil Code for so-called 

‘private public liability companies’.

III.2.1 All Supervisory Board members, with 

the exception of a maximum of one, 

are independent: see motivation under 

‘Supervisory Board – Composition, 

independence and appointment’. 

III.3.5 A Supervisory Board member may only be 

a member of the Supervisory Board member 

for a maximum of three terms of four 

years: see motivation under ‘Supervisory 

Board – Composition, independence and 

appointment’.

III.5 The Remuneration Committee and the 

Selection & Appointment Committee have, 

for practical reasons, been combined into the 

Remuneration & Appointment Committee.
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62 Risk management

The	achievement	of	business	objectives	goes	hand-

in-hand	with	risks	and	uncertainties,	including	due	

to	external	economic	factors,	market	developments,	

calamities	and	internal	factors.	FrieslandCampina	

applies	general	measures	to	manage	these	risks		

and,	depending	on	the	type	of	risk,	additional		

specific	measures.

General	measures

The most important general measures applied by 

FrieslandCampina in order to manage the various risks  

as effectively as possible are described below.

• Strategic and operational risks linked to the route2020 

strategy are listed and the likelihood of these risks 

and the effect they could have on the achievement 

of the Company’s goals are assessed systematically 

by all the operating companies and business groups 

and the Executive Board by means of Enterprise Risk 

Assessments. Initiatives to improve the management  

of these risks are also defined and planned.

• Financial (reporting) risks are managed in several ways 

including through the application of the Internal Control 

Framework (ICF) that is based on the internationally 

recognised COSO framework as developed by the 

Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway 

Commission. The ICF comprises prescribed control 

measures that are evaluated by means of regular internal 

assessments including risk analysis and, if shortcomings 

are found, improvement measures. 

• FrieslandCampina’s Code of Conduct plays an important 

role in the management of compliance risks. This Code 

specifies the principles regarding the standard of 

conduct expected of all employees, including compliance 

with applicable legislation and regulations. The Company 

has a Whistle-blower’s regulation. Employees who 

suspect deviations from the conduct standards are  

taking place can report this via this regulation. 

• The Company has formulated procedures for strategic 

planning, budgeting, internal monthly management and 

financial reporting and financial forecasts (per quarter). 

These reports also include the business risks and the 

measures to manage these risks.

• The primary responsibility for the correct (day-to-

day) application, compliance and monitoring of the 

systems that have been put in place to adequately 

manage the relevant risks rests with the managements 

of the business groups and operating companies. 

The managements of the business groups and 

operating companies evaluate the application of and 

compliance with the risk management measures and 

submit their findings to the Executive Board in the form 

of a Statement of Internal Control.

• In 2013 the Corporate Internal Audit department carried 

out audits to assess the effectiveness of the implemented 

risk management measures. The conclusions and 

recommendations of these audits are used to implement 

improvements to the internal risk management and 

control systems.

• All the tasks related to the internal risk management 

and risk management systems as well as the findings, 

recommendations and measures that arise are reported 

to the responsible management and the Executive 

Board and discussed with the Audit Committee and 

the external auditor.
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Principal	operational	risks

In addition to the general management measures described 

above there are also specific measures for the operational 

risks. The five principal risks for the Company (according 

to the Enterprise Risk Assessment 2013) are described 

below on the basis of their likelihood and effect on the 

achievement of the Company’s goals.

Political	and	economic	developments

A significant portion of the growth in revenue and results 

FrieslandCampina achieves is generated in emerging 

(dairy) markets including countries in Asia and Africa. 

This has changed the Company’s risk profile. Any decline 

in economic growth, devaluation of the local currency 

and consumer trust in emerging countries could have 

a significant impact of revenue and result development. 

The persisting unfavourable economic situation in many 

European countries is putting pressure on the positions 

of dairy brands. In addition to economic developments, 

(sudden) changes, for example in import regulations, 

could have major consequences for FrieslandCampina’s 

business operations.

FrieslandCampina has strengthened its expertise and 

capacity in the field of legislation, regulations and 

governmental relations in its most important markets and 

also plays an active role in the development of the dairy 

sector in a number of countries in which it is active and is 

in discussions regarding the future of the dairy sector.

In Europe and markets with a declining economic growth 

FrieslandCampina uses scenarios to react at the earliest 

possible moment by means of adjustments to sales prices 

and project range composition, sales promotions and policy 

related to the hedging of foreign currency positions. Efforts 

in the field of cost reductions have also been increased 

(including a restructuring programme in Europe).

Calamities	in	production	facilities	and/or	

animal	diseases

The risk of unexpected calamities, such as animal diseases, 

floods or fire, are still present despite FrieslandCampina’s 

unceasing efforts to reduce the risks of such events and 

their impact, for example through prevention on the dairy 

farm, fire protection in the (production) facilities and safety 

inspections. The loss of raw material deliveries or significant 

production capacity caused by such a calamity could 

have a substantial disruptive effect on the entire chain. 

This possible impact is being controlled as far as possible 

through the further tightening of measures in the field of 

alternative capacity, business continuity and the testing and 

improvement of crisis plans. Increasingly the suppliers and 

insurers are involved in drawing up these plans.

Product	quality	and	food	safety

In view of the nature of the end products (food and 

ingredients for, among others, the food and pharmaceutical 

industries), it goes without saying that FrieslandCampina 

stipulates high standards for food quality and food safety.  

A quality problem, or even a change in the quality 

perception of consumers or governments, can have 

enormous consequences for the Company’s reputation  

and market position.

In addition to the constant compliance with external quality 

stipulations, including those of external (inter)national 

bodies, FrieslandCampina pays constant attention to 

improving quality through quality programmes (including 

Foqus in its own production companies and in dairy farming, 

quality safeguarding at suppliers’ premises and audits), 

further increasing quality awareness throughout the 

organisation, investments in the quality of its production 

processes and improvements to its crisis management 

process. These risks can have a substantial negative effect 

on FrieslandCampina’s reputation and products.
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Innovation

The nature, result and speed of product and process 

innovations are increasingly important for the improvement 

and retention of growth in emerging markets and the 

achievement of added-value for consumers and customers 

in the more saturated dairy markets. FrieslandCampina 

strives for competitive advantages through meaningful 

innovations, whereby optimum use can be made of the 

Company’s scale, including through the clustering of 

knowledge and expertise. Towards this end the Company 

has paid extra attention to the development of international 

categories and innovation strategies, improvements to 

the innovation processes (including project and portfolio 

management), the clustering of R&D expertise in the 

new R&D-centres (Wageningen and Singapore) and more 

intensive cooperation with external partners. The process 

of introducing and activating innovations in the market 

is reinforced through an international ‘customer and 

shopping’ marketing programme and targeted increases  

of investments in advertising & promotion.

Internal	organisation

The markets in which FrieslandCampina is active are 

developing at an increasingly rapid tempo, competition 

is fiercer and the price sensitivity of consumers and 

customers is rising. The Company has, therefore, started 

a process of transforming itself into a team-based 

organisation in which advantages in the fields of scope, 

scale and speed (‘3S’) can be gained. This will involve 

changes in the organisation (including far-reaching 

standardisation of business processes and overhead 

reduction). It is, therefore, vital that this transformation 

process is implemented successfully. Towards this end 

the internal capacity in the field of change and project 

management will be reinforced. The integral management 

of the project portfolio is being paid extra attention.

Frico	celebrates	115	years

Cheese brand Frico was introduced 115 years ago in 

Friesland and has since found its way to almost a hundred 

countries all over the world. The Frico brand automatically 

comes to mind for traditional Dutch type cheeses such as 

Gouda, Edam and Maasdam (named after these Dutch cities) 

and it is globally recognised as the standard in authentic 

taste and quality.



65

Management	statement

The Executive Board is ultimately responsible for the 

management of the risks that are coupled with the 

Company’s objectives and the reliability of the internal 

and external (financial) reporting. The Executive Board 

is also responsible for evaluating the effectiveness of the 

measures to prevent or mitigate these risks. By means of 

the measures described above the Executive Board has 

fulfilled its responsibilities in the year under review.

The Executive Board has evaluated the above internal 

management and control measures. On the basis of this 

evaluation the Executive Board is of the opinion that at the 

end of the 2013 financial year the internal management and 

control measures were functioning sufficiently effectively 

to provide a reasonable degree of assurance that:

• the Executive Board will be informed, in good time,  

of the degree to which the Company’s strategic, 

operational and financial objectives are being achieved;

• the internal and external (financial) reporting does not 

contain any material misstatement.

All the procedures relating to the internal risk management 

and control systems and the resulting findings, 

recommendations and measures have been discussed 

with the Audit Committee, the Supervisory Board and the 

external auditor.

Executive	Board

Amersfoort (Netherlands), 12 February 2014

Alaska	Milk	Corporation:		

‘Marketing	Company	of	the	Year	2013’	

In 2013 Alaska Milk Corporation (AMC)  – FrieslandCampina’s 

dairy company in the Philippines – won the Agora Award 

for ‘Marketing Company of the Year’ in recognition of its 

innovative marketing strategy and the excellence of the 

integral marketing and sales campaign. AMC is number-

two in the Philippine dairy sector. The Company markets 

evaporated and condensed milk, cream and milk powders. 

Well-known brands include Alaska, Liberty, Alpine and 

Krem-top.

Corporate governance Risk	management



66 Report of the Supervisory Board 

Supervisory	Board	activities

Major investment projects were discussed and submitted 

for approval, partly in the context of the long-term capacity 

plans and bearing in mind the expected increase in the 

quantity of milk available after the milk quota expires in 

2015. The projects included the expansion of the Borculo 

facility to fulfil the increased demand for infant nutrition 

ingredients and the investment in the construction of a new 

spray-dryer that can be used for various products including 

basis powders for infant nutrition. Both investments were 

approved by the Board, the second, due to its size, on 

condition that it also had the approval (since received) of 

the Member Council. The investments in Leeuwarden, which 

include the replacement of existing equipment and lines 

and a partial expansion, were approved by the Supervisory 

Board conditional to the (since received) approval of the 

Member Council. In the Philippines, after approval had been 

given by the Supervisory Board, a start was made on the 

installation of dry mixing equipment to enable powdered 

milk production to continue and on the conversion of three 

spray dryers, which has freed-up capacity for Kievit-

creamers. This investment will enable FrieslandCampina 

Kievit to achieve further growth in Asia and, at the same 

time, enable Alaska Milk Corporation to implement further 

improvements to its own milk powder production. This 

will create market opportunities. The Supervisory Board 

was also notified of the results achieved in completed 

investment projects; whereby the purchases made at the 

time were also examined. The Board was informed in detail 

regarding the plans in the field of ICT and the progress 

of the Summit project.

During the year under review the Management reported 

the progress of various acquisition projects and several 

projects were presented to the Supervisory Board for 

approval. The Management shared its plans for changes 

in the supply chain organisation and also informed the 

Supervisory Board of the progress of the route2020 

strategy. Considerable attention was paid to the increase 

in the quantity of milk offered during the plan period and 

progress in different fields of competence development. 

The results of the safety policy were reported during 

every meeting. China is an important country for 

FrieslandCampina. In that context the Sino-Dutch Dairy 

Development Centre that focuses on the improvement 

of the productivity, safety and quality of the dairy logistics 

chain in China, was established. The initiatives in the field 

of management development were also discussed.

Considerable attention was paid to the plans for 

restructuring the production and distribution of fresh 

dairy products, such as milk, yoghurt and desserts, in the 

Netherlands. These efficiency measures have, on balance, 

resulted in the loss of 174 jobs and the closure of two 

production facilities. 

The Company’s results were reported by the Management 

each quarter and discussed by the Supervisory Board as 

were the findings of the Audit Committee. In March the 

financial statements for 2012 and the text of the annual 

report were discussed with the Executive Board and the 

external auditor and approved by the Supervisory Board. 

The management letter from the external auditor, like the 

auditor’s report on his findings regarding the first half 

of the year, were explained by the external auditor and 

discussed with the Management as was the Management’s 

following-up of the indicated areas for improvement. 

During the year under review the outcomes of all the 

business group goodwill impairments tests, especially the 

goodwill impairment test related to the Consumer Products 

Europe, were discussed with the Management and the 

external auditor.

The Company’s financing was also discussed. 

The Supervisory Board approved the conversion of a loan 

from the Cooperative to the Company. During the year 

under review pensions were also paid the necessary 

attention, in particular the changes to the basic pension 

plan as of 2015. The proposal to change the reserve policy 

for 2014-2016 was discussed and approved. 

In September the Supervisory Board visited 

FrieslandCampina WAMCO Nigeria. In October 

FrieslandCampina DMV in Veghel was visited. At all the sites 

attention was paid to the results and the strategic plans 

of the company concerned.

Supervisory	Board	Committees

The Supervisory Board has formed two committees, the 

Audit Committee and the Remuneration & Appointment 

Committee, to advise them and prepare their decisions 

in respect of specific tasks. 
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Audit	Committee

The proposed changes to the reserve policy were discussed 

in depth and the Supervisory Board was appraised of the 

outcomes of the discussions. The Audit Committee also 

discussed the repayment of the perpetual notes and the 

resulting consequences for the Company’s financing. 

The annual report and the financial statements for 

2012 were discussed in depth as was the report of the 

external auditor regarding the financial statements and 

the declaration of the Executive Board included in the 

annual report. The 2013 half-yearly report and the external 

auditor’s findings regarding the half-yearly report and 

interim audit findings were discussed in depth. 

The tasks of the external auditor were discussed on 

the basis of the audit plan. The list of additional tasks 

assigned to the external auditor was evaluated by the 

Audit Committee four times during the year under review 

and the independence of the auditor was also evaluated. 

An extensive evaluation of the functioning of the external 

auditor was carried out and the findings shared with the 

Member Council. In preparation for the selection of a new 

auditor the selection process was discussed. 

During meetings of the Audit Committee a number of 

managers (internal audit, enterprise risk management, 

treasury, ICT, tax) reported to the Audit Committee 

regarding their activities. The tax risks in the different 

countries were inventoried and attention was paid to 

various topics including transfer pricing and VAT.

The scope of the tasks and responsibilities of the internal 

audit function were discussed in depth and, as a result, the 

number of internal audit investigations could increase. The 

independence of the external auditor was also considered 

and assess as ‘good’ by the Audit Committee. The topicality 

of the audit charter will be evaluated by an external auditor 

at least once every five years. Enterprise risk management 

reported on the internal control framework and the analysis 

of the division of tasks. 

In the ICT field the progress of the Summit project and the 

management of the related risks were discussed three times. 

During one meeting the Mergers & Acquisitions department 

(M&A) summarised the M&A-process, the approach to M&A 

projects and the criteria for going ahead with acquisition 

projects. A summary of claims of a material nature was 

also discussed. The Audit Committee considered at length 

the developments in the field of pensions and the effects of 

these developments on the Company. Attention was paid to 

compliance with the Code of Conduct within the company 

and the effectiveness of the related complaints procedure, 

to which several improvements have been made. 

During the year under review the Audit Committee met 

four times in the presence of the Management and the 

external auditor. After every meeting the findings of the 

Audit Committee were reported to the Supervisory Board 

by the Committee’s Chairman. The Chairman of the Audit 

Committee also had several separate discussions with the 

external auditor.

The composition of the Audit Committee can be found on 

page 147. Two members of the Audit Committee, Messrs. 

Henk Scheffers (Chairman) and Ben van der Veer, qualify 

as financial experts in the sense of the Supervisory 

Board Charter. Two members of the Audit Committee are 

internal members of the Supervisory Board. Other internal 

members of the Supervisory Board attend the Audit 

Committee meetings as a listener on a rota basis.

Remuneration	&	Appointment	Committee

During the year under review the Remuneration & 

Appointment Committee’s activities included the 

remuneration of the Executive Board. Items discussed 

included issues such as the determination of bonuses and 

the fixing of targets for the bonuses for the coming year. 

The twice-yearly report in which the remuneration of the 

Executive Board is compared with a reference group of 

companies was submitted to the Supervisory Board with 

recommendations for adjustments. These adjustments were 

accepted by the Supervisory Board and shared with the 

Member Council in April. Considerable attention was paid to 

talent development within the Company and the progress 

of the leadership development programmes. The Audit 

Committee also prepared the evaluation of the Executive 

Board and the Supervisory Board. During the year under 

review two rounds of evaluation discussions were held 

with the Executive Board and reported in the Supervisory 

Board meetings. Evaluation discussions were also held with 

the members of the Supervisory Board regarding their 

functioning and the functioning of the Supervisory Board 

and its Committees. These discussions took place on both an 

individual and group basis, the group discussion were carried 

out with the assistance of an external advisor. The outcomes 

of these discussions were reported to and discussed with the 

Supervisory Board. Attention points and action points were 

listed and will be followed up; these points do not relate so 

much to the functioning of the Supervisory Board and the 

cooperation with the Executive Board, which were assessed 

as excellent, but are more related to topics to be discussed 

during subsequent meetings and the need for a further 

deepening of the knowledge of one or more members  

in respect of areas of relevance to the Company. 
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The Remuneration & Appointment Committee met  

six times during the year under review and after each 

meeting reported to the Supervisory Board. 

The composition of the Remuneration & Appointment 

Committee can be found on page 147.

Composition	of	the	Supervisory	Board,	committees	and	

Executive	Board

Supervisory	Board

FrieslandCampina’s Supervisory Board comprises thirteen 

members. Nine of the members are members of the Board 

of Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. and four are 

external Supervisory Board members. 

All the external members of the Board (the members who 

are not also members of the Board of the Cooperative) 

are independent of the Company as stipulated in the Dutch 

Corporate Governance Code and the Supervisory Board 

Regulations. The composition of the Supervisory Board did 

not change during the year under review. Mr. Van der Veer 

and Mr. Wunnekink were reappointed for a term of four 

years in December 2013. 

Diversity	of	the	Supervisory	Board

FrieslandCampina strives for a composition of its 

Supervisory Board that is balanced and in which the 

combination of the members’ experience, expertise 

and independence ensures the Supervisory Board can 

fulfil its various duties on behalf of the Company and its 

stakeholders in the best possible way. FrieslandCampina 

also strives for a balanced participation of men and women 

in the Supervisory Board with at least 30 percent of the 

member being female. The Supervisory Board comprises 

13 members, one of whom is female. With one of the nine 

internal members of the Supervisory Board being female 

the composition of the Board reflects the percentage of 

female Cooperative members (15 percent). In 2013 two 

male Supervisory Board members were reappointed. 

Although the goal of a balanced participation of women 

and men was taken into consideration in respect of these 

reappointments, these two male Supervisory Board 

members were reappointed due to their experience and 

suitability for the function. The next time a vacancy 

arises the search criteria specified by the Remuneration 

& Appointment Committee will once again emphasise that 

the candidates should be female.

Committees

The composition of the Committees did not change  

during 2013. The composition of the Supervisory Board  

and its committees can be found on pages 146 and 147.

Executive	Board

In 2013 the Executive Board comprised five members. 

The composition of the Executive Board can be found 

on page 148. As of 1 January 2014 Mr. Gregory Sklikas 

was appointed a member of the Executive Board. In the 

Executive Board he is, as Chief Operating Officer, responsible 

for the Consumer Products Europe, Middle East & Africa 

business group. Mr. Sklikas had been the Executive Director 

responsible for the activities of Consumer Products Europe 

since 1 January 2013.

Diversity	of	the	Executive	Board	

FrieslandCampina strives for a balanced composition of the 

Executive Board including the balanced participation of men 

and women. Currently all the members of the Executive 

Board are men. Since 1 January 2013, when members of the 

Executive Board are (re)appointed every effort is made to 

ensure that at least 30 percent of the members are women. 

No suitable female candidates were found for the vacancy 

filled as of 1 January 2014 by the appointment of Gregory 

Sklikas. The search criteria specified by the Remuneration 

& Appointment Committee for the following vacancy will 

emphasise that female candidates are desirable. 

Financial	statements	and	appropriation	of	profit

In February 2014 the Audit Committee discussed the 2013 

financial statements drawn-up by the Executive Board and 

notified the Supervisory Board of their findings. During 

the Supervisory Board meeting of 28 February 2014 the 

Supervisory Board members and the Executive Board 

members signed the financial statements. The financial 

statements were audited by KPMG Accountants N.V., 

which then issued an unqualified auditor’s report. 

The financial statements will be submitted to the General 

Meeting of Shareholders (the Board of Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A.) for adoption on 2 May 2014.

From the profit of 157 million euro 78 million euro is 

attributed to minority interests. The Supervisory Board  

has approved the Executive Board’s proposal to exclude 

the effect of the goodwill impairment from the calculation 

of the performance premium and the distribution of 

member bonds and to add 41 million euro to the general 

reserve. The remaining profit will be appropriated as 
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Supervisory	Board	appointment	and	resignation	roster	(as	at	17	December	2013)

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018	 2019 2020	 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

P. Boer ‹ ‹› ‹›

J.H.G.M. Uijttewaal ‹ ‹› ‹›

P.A.F.W. Elverding › ‹ ‹›

S.H. Galema › › ‹

L.W. Gunning › › ‹

A.A.M. Huijben-Pijnenburg › › ‹

J.P.C. Keijsers ‹ ‹› ‹›

F.A.M. Keurentjes › ‹ ‹›

S.R.F. Ruiter ‹ ‹› ‹›

H. Scheffers › ‹ ‹›

H. Stöcker › › ‹

B. van der Veer › ‹ ‹›

W.M. Wunnekink › ‹ ‹›

› resigns, eligible for reappointment

‹ resigns, not eligible for reappointment 

‹› successor of current member resigns, eligible for reappointment

follows: 34 million euro will be reserved as interest payment 

for the holders of member bonds and 4 million euro will 

be reserved as interest payment for holders of perpetual 

notes. In accordance with Article 21, Clause 2, Item d of 

the Articles of Association, during the General Meeting of 

Shareholders it will be proposed that the members of the 

Executive Board will be discharged for their management 

during the 2013 financial year and, in accordance with 

Article 21, Clause 2, Item e of the Articles of Association 

it will be proposed that the members of the Supervisory 

Board will be discharged for their supervision of the 

Executive Board during 2013. 

On 30 April 2014 the Member Council of Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A. will be asked to approve the decision 

of the Cooperative’s Board, in its capacity as the General 

Meeting of Shareholders, to adopt the 2013 financial 

statements of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. and approve  

the appropriation of profit.

Supervisory	Board

Amersfoort (Netherlands), 28 February 2014
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Nourishing by nature

FrieslandCampina wants to be an inspiring and dependable 

employer that offers its employees opportunities, relevant 

training and education and a good and safe working environment. 

The Company’s business culture and working environment are 

aimed at facilitating the maximum development of individual 

talents. Inspiring and motivating employees and promoting 

entrepreneurship are the key factors. Employees are encouraged to 

set an example in the fields of safety, taking on challenges together, 

developing together, taking responsibility and being decisive 

and energetic. This allows employees to contribute towards the 

achievement of the Company’s ambitions. 
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Consolidated income statement

1    The comparative figures for 2012 have been adjusted for the impact of the new standard of Employee benefits (IAS 19, revised 2011).  
Refer to Note 20 for further information. 

Financial statements Consolidated income statement

In millions of euros, unless stated otherwise Note 2013 2012 1 

Revenue (4) 11,418 10,309

Other operating income (5) 23 15

Operating income 11,441 10,324 

 

Raw materials, consumables used and commodities (6) -7,613 -6,715 

Employee benefits expense (7) -942  -896  

Depreciation of plant and equipment and 
amortisation of intangible assets (11) (12) -213  -194  

Goodwill impairment (12) -200   

Other operating expenses (8) -2,160  -2,032  

Total expenses   -11,128  -9,837

Operating profit   313  487 

      

Finance income (9) 25  47  

Finance costs (9) -80  -104  

Net finance costs   -55  -57

      

Share of profit of joint ventures and associates (13)  8  16 

      

Profit before tax   266  446 

      

Income tax expense (10)  -109  -168 

Profit for the year   157  278 

      

Profit attributable to:      

• holders of member bonds   34  41 

• holders of perpetual notes   4  9 

• shareholder of the company   41  162 

•  shareholder and other providers of capital  
of the company   79  212 

• non-controlling interests   78  66 

Profit for the year   157  278 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Financial statements Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

In millions of euros, unless stated otherwise 2013 2012 1

Profit for the year 157 278 

Items of other comprehensive income that are or may be 
reclassified to the income statement:

Effective portion of cash flow hedges, net of tax -6 -8

Currency translation differences, net of tax -81 5

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets, 
net of tax 15

Net other comprehensive income that is or may be  
reclassified to the income statement -72 -3 

Items of other comprehensive income that will never be 
reclassified to the income statement:

Remeasurement of obligations (assets) in connection with 
defined benefit scheme, net of tax -34 -190

Net other comprehensive income that will never be reclassified 
to the income statement -34 -190 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax -106 -193 

Total comprehensive income for the year 51 85 

Attributable to:

• shareholder and other providers of capital of the company -17 21

• non-controlling interests 68 64
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1   The comparative figures for 2012 have been adjusted for the impact of the new standard of Employee benefits (IAS 19, revised 2011).  
Refer to Note 20 for further information.

Financial statements Consolidated statement of financial position

Consolidated statement of financial position

 
At 31 December, in millions of euros, unless stated otherwise

 
Note

 
2013 

 
2012 1

1 January 
2012 1 

Assets

Property, plant and equipment (11) 2,183 1,918 1,660

Intangible assets (12) 1,182 1,290 945

Deferred tax assets (21) 320 295 247

Investment in joint ventures and associates (13) 116 118 111

Employee benefits (20) 6 4

Other financial assets (15) 76 60 73

Non-current assets 3,883 3,685 3,036

Inventories (16) 1,303 1,139 1,085

Trade and other receivables (17) 1,335 1,221 1,127

Income tax receivable 18 20 12

Other financial assets (14) 4 3

Cash and cash equivalents (18) 560 756 420

Assets held for sale (3) 9 7 4

Current assets 3,229 3,146 2,648

  

Total assets 7,112 6,831 5,684

Equity (19)

Issued capital 370 370 370

Share premium 114 114 113

Perpetual notes  130 130

Member bonds 1,195 1,084 1,003

Cooperative loan 290

Fair value reserve 15

Other reserves -138 -61 -59

Retained earnings 559 503 521

Equity attributable to shareholder of the company and 
other providers of capital 2,405 2,140 2,078

Non-controlling interests 226 118 116

Total equity 2,631 2,258 2,194

Liabilities

Employee benefits (20) 630 602 319

Deferred tax liabilities (21) 98 128 63

Provisions (22) 24 9 25 

Interest-bearing borrowings (23) 876 1,080 891 

Other financial liabilities (24) 87 46 150

Non-current liabilities 1,715 1,865 1,448

  

Current borrowings (25) 371 393 250

Trade and other payables (26) 2,245 1,973 1,669

Income tax payable 118 109 69

Provisions (22) 23 56 37

Other financial liabilities (14) 9 177 17

Current liabilities 2,766 2,708 2,042 

Total liabilities 4,481 4,573 3,490 

  

Total equity and liabilities 7,112 6,831 5,684
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Financial statements Consolidated statement of cash flows

Consolidated statement of cash flows
In millions of euros, unless stated otherwise Note 2013 2012 1

Cash flows from operating activities 

Profit before tax 266 446

Adjustments for: 

• interest (9) 31 33

•  depreciation of plant and equipment and amortisation  
of intangible assets 213 194

• impairment of fixed assets 219 7

• reversal of impairment of fixed assets -1

• share of profit of joint ventures and associates (13) -8 -16

• put-option costs (9) 3 28

• revaluation result of hedging derivatives -2

• issue of fixed member bonds 114 84

• gain on sale on disposals -12

Total adjustments 557 330

Movements: 

• movements in the fair value of securities (15) -14 -4

• movements in inventories (31) -175 -16

• movements in receivables (31) -74 -49

• movements in liabilities (31) 234 228

• movements in employee benefits -11 28

• movements in provisions (22) -18 3

Total movements -58 190

Cash flows from operating activities 765 966

Dividends received (13) 7 8

Income tax paid -134 -91

Interest paid -60 -73

Interest received 18 32

Net cash from operating activities 596 842

Cash flows from investing activities 

Investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -521 -392

Disposals of property, plant and equipment,  
intangible assets and assets held for sale 20 7

Payments related to loans provided -15

Received repayments of loans provided (15) 4 7

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (2) -79 -309

Net cash used in investing activities -576 -702

Cash flows from financing activities 

Investments in non-controlling interests -4 -4

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests -87 -66

Amounts paid to providers of perpetual notes -9 -9

Repayment of perpetual notes -125

Amounts paid to providers of member bonds -37 -44

Interest-bearing borrowings drawn 558 455

Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings -457 -106

Paid to holder of put-option -10 -20

Maturity of derivatives -11 -7

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities -182 199

Net cash flow -162 339

 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January (18) 756 420

Net cash flows -162 339

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash equivalents -34 -3

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December (18) 560 756
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1  Including the appropriation of profit of prior years and current year.
2   Equity attributable to shareholder of the company and other providers of capital.

Financial statements Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
In millions of euros, unless stated otherwise 2013 

Issued 
capital 

 Share 
premium 

reserve 
 Perpetual 

notes 
Member 

bonds 

Coope-
rative  

loan
Fair value 

reserve

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 

Currency 
translation 

reserve 
Retained 
earnings 1 Equity 2 

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total

At 1 January  370  114  130  1,084  -18  -43  503  2,140  118  2,258 

Comprehensive income:

• profit for the year 4 34 41 79 78 157

•  other comprehensive 
income  15  -6  -71  -34  -96  -10  -106 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year 4 34  15  -6  -71  7  -17  68  51 

 

Transactions with 
shareholder and other 
providers of capital 
recognised directly in 
equity:

•  dividends paid to non-
controlling interests  -98  -98 

•  amounts paid to 
providers of perpetual 
notes

 -9 1 -8  -8 

•  amounts paid to 
providers of member 
bonds

 -37 7  -30  -30 

•  issue of member 
bonds-fixed  114  114  114 

•  repayment of 
perpetual notes  -125  -125  -125 

•  conversion 
Cooperative loan 290  290  290 

• other  1 1 1

Total transactions 
with shareholder and 
other providers of 
capital

 -134 77 290  9  242  -98  144 

 

Changes in ownership 
interests in subsidiaries:

•  transactions with 
owners of non-
controlling interests

 -5  -5 

•  expiry of DFE put-
option 40 40 143 183

Total changes in 
ownership interests in 
subsidiaries

40 40 138 178

At 31 December  370  114   1,195  290  15  -24  -114  559  2,405  226  2,631 
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3   The comparative figures for 2012 have been adjusted for the impact of the new standard of Employee benefits (IAS 19, revised 2011).  
Refer to Note 20 for further information.

Financial statements Consolidated statement of changes in equity

In millions of euros, unless stated otherwise 2012 3 

 Issued 
capital 

 Share 
premium 

reserve 
 Perpetual 

notes 
 Member 

bonds 

 Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 

 Currency 
translation 

reserve 
Retained 

earnings 1 Equity 2 

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total 

At 1 January 370 113 130 1,003 -10 -49 521 2,078 116 2,194

Comprehensive income: 

• profit for the year   9 41 162 212 66 278 

•  other comprehensive 
income     -8 6 -189 -191 -2 -193 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year   9 41 -8 6 -27 21 64 85 

        

Transactions with 
shareholder and other 
providers of capital 
recognised directly in 
equity: 

•  dividends paid to non-
controlling interests -66 -66 

•  amounts paid to holders 
of perpetual notes -9 2 -7 -7 

•  amounts paid to holders 
of member bonds -44 8 -36 -36 

•  issue of member  
bonds-fixed 84  84 84 

•  capital contribution 
by Zuivelcoöperatie 
FrieslandCampina U.A. 

1   1 1 

•  leaving premium to 
member dairy farmers 
Zuivelcoöperatie 
FrieslandCampina U.A. 

 -1 -1 -1 

Total transactions with 
shareholder and other 
providers of capital 

 1 -9 40 9 41 -66 -25 

Changes in ownership 
interests in subsidiaries: 

•  transactions with 
owners of non-
controlling interests 

4 4

Total changes in 
ownership interests in 
subsidiaries

4 4

At 31 December 370 114 130 1,084 -18 -43 503 2,140 118 2,258 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

General 

Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. has its registered office in

Amersfoort, the Netherlands. The address is: 

Stationsplein 4, 3818 LE, Amersfoort, the Netherlands. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2013 comprise the financial statements of 

Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. and its subsidiaries (jointly 

referred to as FrieslandCampina).

Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. is the sole 

shareholder of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. 

FrieslandCampina processes over 10.5 billion kilograms of 

milk per year into a very varied range of dairy products 

containing valuable nutrients for consumers. In the 

professional market, FrieslandCampina is a key supplier of 

dairy products to bakeries, restaurants, bars and fast-food 

chains. In addition, FrieslandCampina also supplies high-

quality ingredients to manufacturers in food industry and 

pharmaceutical sector.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

on a going concern basis. 

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by the European Union. 

They also comply with the financial reporting requirements 

included in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, as far 

as applicable.

For the presentation of the company income statement 

use has been made of the facility provided by Article 402, 

Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

After authorisation for issue by the Executive Board 

and the Supervisory Board on 28 February 2014 the 

financial statements of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. as at 

31 December 2013 will be made available for publication 

by the Executive Board on 12 March 2014. On 2 May 2014 

the financial statements will be submitted for approval 

to the Board of Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. 

in its role as the General Meeting of Shareholders of 

Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.

Basis of measurement

Unless stated otherwise, the financial statements have 

been prepared on historical cost basis, except for the 

following material items in the statement of financial 

position:

• financial instruments, other than derivatives, valued at 

fair value through profit or loss;

• derivatives measured at fair value through profit or loss;

• net defined benefit liability (assets), measured at the fair 

value of plan assets less the present value of the defined 

benefit obligation, limited as explained in Note 20.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 

euros, which is FrieslandCampina’s functional currency. 

All financial information presented in euros has been 

rounded off to the nearest million, unless stated otherwise. 

 

Use of estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with IFRS requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 

the application of accounting policies and the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The 

actual results may differ from management’s estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 

an ongoing basis. The judgements, assumptions and 

estimates have been made taking into account the opinions 

and advice of (external) experts. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the 

estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

The estimates and assumptions considered most critical 

are:

• impairments (Note 11);

• useful lives of property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets (Notes 3, 11 and 12);

• utilisation of tax losses and uncertain fiscal positions 

(Note 21);

• measurement of defined benefit obligations (Note 20);

• key assumptions used in discounted cash flow 

projections (Notes 12, 23 and 30);

• provisions and contingencies (Notes 22 and 27).

For more detailed information regarding the treatment 

of the items mentioned refer to the Notes of the financial 

statements.

Financial statements Notes to the consolidated financial statements

In millions of euros, unless stated otherwise 
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Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

New and amended standards as adopted by 

FrieslandCampina

The following new standards and amendments to 

standards were mandatory for the first time for the 

financial year beginning 1 January 2013:

• IAS 1 Presentation of items of other comprehensive 

income – Amendments to IAS 1;

• IAS 19 (revised 2011) Employee benefits; and

• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.

Various other new standards and amendments were 

applicable for the first time in 2013 but do not have any 

impact on FrieslandCampina’s consolidated financial 

statements.

IAS 1 Presentation of Items of other comprehensive 

income – Amendments to IAS 1

The amendments to IAS 1 introduce a grouping of items 

presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income. Items that may be reclassified (or recycled) to the 

income statement at a future point in time (e.g. exchange 

differences on the currency translation of foreign 

operating activities and net movement on cash flow 

hedges) must now be presented separately from items 

that will never be reclassified (e.g. remeasurement of net 

pension obligation (asset)). The amendments only affect 

presentation and have no impact on FrieslandCampina’s 

financial position or performance.

IAS 19 Employee benefits (revised 2011)

IAS 19 includes a number of amendments to the accounting 

for defined benefit plans, including actuarial gains and 

losses that are now recognised in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income and permanently 

excluded from the income statement; expected returns 

on plan assets are no longer recognised in the income 

statement, instead interest on the net defined benefit 

liability (asset) must be recognised in the income 

statement, calculated using the discount rate used to 

measure the defined benefit obligation; unrecognised past-

service costs are now recognised in the income statement 

at the earlier of when the amendment occurred or when 

the related restructuring or termination costs were 

recognised. Other amendments include new disclosures, 

such as quantitative sensitivity disclosures.

The comparable figures for 2012 have been adjusted for 

the impact of this new standard. The impact of the changes 

is explained under Note 20.

IFRS 13 Fair Value measurement

IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS 

for all fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not change 

when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather 

provides guidance on how to measure fair value under IFRS 

when fair value is required or permitted. The application 

of IFRS 13 has not materially impacted the fair value 

measurements carried out by FrieslandCampina.

IFRS 13 also requires specific disclosures on fair values in 

the financial statements, some of which replace existing 

disclosure requirements in other standards, including  

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. IFRS 13 requires 

specific disclosures for financial instruments, thereby 

affecting the financial statements. FrieslandCampina 

provides these disclosures in the paragraph regarding 

financial instruments.

New and revised prescribed standards, amendments and 

interpretations issued but not effective for the financial 

year beginning 1 January 2013 and not adopted early

The following new standards, amendments to standards 

and interpretations are effective for annual periods 

beginning after 1 January 2013, and have not been applied 

in preparing these consolidated financial statements:

IFRS 9 Financial instruments

IFRS 9 will become mandatory at the earliest for 

FrieslandCampina’s 2015 consolidated financial statements 

and could change the classification and measurement of 

financial assets. FrieslandCampina will not early adopt 

this standard and the extent of the impact has not yet 

been determined. This standard has yet to be endorsed by 

the EU.

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements

IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation requirements in SIC 12 

and IAS 27. IFRS 10 changes the definition of control such 

that the same criteria are applied to all entities in order to 

assess control. The revised definition of control focuses 

on the need to have both power over an investee and 

exposure or rights to variable returns before control is 

present. The new standard includes guidance on control 

with less than half of the voting rights and for agent/

principal relationships. This new standard is endorsed 

by the EU and will be applicable as from 1 January 2014. 

FrieslandCampina has evaluated the impact of this new 

standard and it is not expected that this new standard 

will have a material effect on the consolidated financial 

statements of FrieslandCampina.
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IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

This new standard focuses on the rights and obligations 

of the parties to the joint arrangement rather than on its 

legal form. There are two types of joint arrangements: 

joint operations and joint ventures. Under IFRS 11 interests 

in joint operations are accounted for on the basis of 

the interest in those assets and liabilities and interests 

in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity 

method. This new standard is endorsed by the EU and will 

become applicable as from 1 January 2014. Whether joint 

arrangements of FrieslandCampina are joint operations or 

joint ventures under the new standard is currently being 

reviewed. Depending on the outcome of this assessment 

changes in the accounting for these interests might be 

necessary because currently all joint arrangements are 

accounted for using the equity method. It is not expected 

that this new standard will have a material effect on the 

consolidated financial statements of FrieslandCampina.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities

IFRS 12 became effective as of 1 January 2014. This new 

standard includes all of the disclosures that were previously 

included in IAS 27, IAS 31 and IAS 28 and a number of 

new disclosures. This new standard will only affect the 

disclosures relating to interests in subsidiaries, joint 

arrangements and associates. It is not expected that this 

new standard will have a material effect on the consolidated 

financial statements of FrieslandCampina.

IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 Transitional arrangement – 

Amendments to IFRS 10, 11 and 12

These amendments provide additional guidelines for the 

changes in IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, whereby only 

adjusted comparable information should be disclosed over 

the most recent prior period. In addition, differences in 

the carrying value due to the implementation of IFRS 10 

are recognised immediately in equity. This transitional 

arrangement is applicable from 2014 and FrieslandCampina 

does not expect it will have any material impact.

IAS 39 Renewal of derivatives and continuation of hedge 

accounting (Amendment to IAS 39)

This amendment to IAS 39 enables companies, in certain 

circumstances, to continue a hedging relationship when the 

underlying contract is renewed. This can be the case when 

a novation is necessary to settle accounts with a central 

counterparty due to changes in legislation and regulations. 

The amendment of IAS 39 is the result of changes in 

legislation and regulations in many jurisdictions that will 

lead to a great many renewals of hedging instruments. 

This amendment is effective from 2014 and is not expected 

to have any material impact on FrieslandCampina’s 

consolidated financial statements.

FrieslandCampina is currently evaluating the potential 

impact of the remaining new standards, amendments to 

standards and interpretations that will be effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and 

that have not yet been applied by FrieslandCampina. None 

of these standards are expected to have a significant 

impact on FrieslandCampina’s consolidated financial 

statements.

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied 

consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 

financial statements and have been applied consistently by 

all FrieslandCampina’s entities.

Basis of Consolidation

Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the 

acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the 

date on which control is transferred to FrieslandCampina. 

Control is the power to govern the financial and operational 

policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 

activities. In assessing control, FrieslandCampina takes 

into consideration potential voting rights that are currently 

exercisable.

FrieslandCampina measures goodwill at the acquisition date 

as: 

• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in 

the acquiree; plus

• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair 

value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree; less

• the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the 

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is 

recognised immediately in the income statement. The 

consideration transferred does not include amounts 

related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. 

Such amounts are generally recognised in the income 

statement. Transaction costs incurred by FrieslandCampina 

in connection with a business combination, which are not 

costs in connection with the issue of shares or bonds, are 

recognised in the income statement when they are incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair 

value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration 

is classified as equity it is not remeasured and settlement is 

accounted for within equity. Subsequent changes in the fair 

value of the contingent consideration are recognised in the 

income statement.
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Changes in the value of put-option obligations related to 

acquisitions before the implementation of IFRS 3 in 2010 

are recognised in goodwill.

For each business combination, FrieslandCampina elects to 

measure any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either 

at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 

identifiable net assets, which are generally at fair value.

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Changes in FrieslandCampina’s interest in a subsidiary 

that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 

as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners. 

Adjustments to non-controlling interests are based on a 

proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary. 

No adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is 

recognised in the income statement.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by FrieslandCampina. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date that 

control commences until the date that control ceases.

Loss of control

At the moment of loss of control, FrieslandCampina 

derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, 

any non-controlling interests and the other components 

of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit 

arising on the loss of control is recognised in the income 

statement. If FrieslandCampina retains any interest in the 

previous subsidiary such interest is measured at fair value 

at the date control ceases. Subsequently it is accounted for 

as an equity accounted investee or as an available-for-sale 

financial asset depending on the level of influence retained. 

Associates and joint ventures

Associates are those entities in which FrieslandCampina 

has significant influence, but not control, over the financial 

and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed 

to exist when FrieslandCampina holds between 20% and 

50% of the voting power in another entity. A joint venture 

is a contractual arrangement whereby FrieslandCampina 

and other parties undertake an economic activity through 

a jointly controlled entity. Joint control exists when 

strategic, financial and operating policy decisions relating 

to the activities require the unanimous consent of the 

parties sharing control.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted 

for using the equity method and are recognised initially at 

cost. The cost of the investment includes transaction costs.

The consolidated financial statements include 

FrieslandCampina’s share of the results and other 

comprehensive income of equity accounted investees, 

from the date that significant influence or joint control 

commences until the date that significant influence or joint 

control ceases.

When FrieslandCampina’s share of losses exceeds its 

interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying 

amount of the investment, including any long-term interest 

that forms a part thereof, is reduced to zero and the 

recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the 

extent that FrieslandCampina has an obligation or has made 

payments on behalf of the investee.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised 

gains arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated 

in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates 

and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of 

FrieslandCampina’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses 

are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only 

to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

A list of the principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and 

associates is included on page 134.

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated at the exchange rates at 

the statement of financial position date. Transactions 

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 

exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Non-monetary items valued at historical cost in foreign 

currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the date 

of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items valued at fair 

value in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange 

rates at the date on which the fair value was determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are 

recognised in the income statement, except for the 

following differences which are recognised in other 

comprehensive income arising on the translation of:

•  available-for-sale equity investments (except on 

impairment), in which case foreign currency differences 

that have been recognised in the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income are reclassified to the income 

statement; 

•  a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net 

investment in a foreign operation to the extent the hedge 

is effective, or

•  qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent the hedges are 

effective.

These differences are recognised in equity via the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
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Foreign operations

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated 

at the exchange rates on the statement of financial position 

date; their income and expenses are translated at the 

exchange rates on the date of the transaction. Foreign 

currency translation differences are recognised in other 

comprehensive income and presented in the currency 

translation reserve in equity. If however, the foreign 

operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, the relevant 

proportion of the translation difference is allocated to non-

controlling interests. 

When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, 

significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative 

amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign 

operation is reclassified to the income statement as part 

of the gain or loss on disposal. When FrieslandCampina 

disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that 

includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the 

relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is classified 

to non-controlling interest. When FrieslandCampina 

disposes of only part of its investment in an associate 

or joint venture that includes a foreign operation while 

retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant 

proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to the 

income statement.

If the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or 

payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely 

in the foreseeable future, foreign currency gains and losses 

arising from such an item are considered to form part of a 

net investment in the foreign operation and are recognised 

in other comprehensive income and presented in the 

currency translation reserve in equity.

Hedging of net investments in foreign activities

FrieslandCampina applies hedge accounting to the currency 

translation differences that arise through translating the 

functional currency of the foreign activity into the functional 

currency of FrieslandCampina (the euro), whether or not the 

net investment is held directly or via an intermediary holding.

Currency translation differences that arise through the 

translation of a financial obligation used to hedge a net 

investment in a foreign operation are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income to the 

extent that the hedge is effective and the effective portion is 

recognised in the currency translation differences reserve in 

equity. The portion that is not effective is recognised in the 

income statement. If the hedged net investment is sold, the 

portion of the currency translation differences reserve related 

to this net investment is reclassified to the income statement 

as a component of the gain or loss on the sale.

The following exchange rates have been used in the 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

2013

At year-end Average

US dollar 1.37 1.33 

Singapore dollar 1.74 1.66 

Hong Kong dollar 10.67 10.30 

Indonesian rupiah (10,000) 1.68 1.38 

Malaysian ringgit 4.51 4.20 

Nigerian naira (100) 2.20 2.12 

Vietnamese dong (10,000) 2.90 2.79 

Chinese yuan 8.32 8.16 

Philippine peso 61.02 56.44 

Thai Baht 45.09 40.88

Russian Ruble 45.22 42.41

2012

At year-end Average

US dollar 1.32 1.29 

Singapore dollar 1.61 1.61 

Hong Kong dollar 10.22 10.00 

Indonesian rupiah (10,000) 1.29 1.21 

Malaysian ringgit 4.04 3.97 

Nigerian naira (100) 2.06 2.05 

Vietnamese dong (10,000) 2.75 2.69 

Chinese yuan 8.22 8.13 

Philippine peso 54.19 54.39 

Thai Baht 40.36 40.04

Russian Ruble 40.33 40.06

Financial Instruments

Non-derivative financial assets

FrieslandCampina initially recognises loans and receivables 

on the date that they are originated. All other financial 

assets (including assets designated as at fair value through 

the income statement) are recognised initially on the trade 

date, which is the date that FrieslandCampina becomes a 

party to the contractual provision of the instrument.

FrieslandCampina derecognises a financial asset when the 

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 

or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash 

flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 

amount is presented in the statement of financial position 

if, and only if, FrieslandCampina has a legal right to offset 

the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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FrieslandCampina classifies non-derivative financial assets 

into the following categories: financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, 

loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit 

or loss if it is designated as such on initial recognition or 

if the financial asset is reclassified as an available-for-

sale financial asset. Attributable transaction costs are 

recognised in the income statement as incurred. Financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at 

fair value and changes therein are recognised in the income 

statement. 

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value 

plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 

to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured 

at amortised costs using the effective interest method, less 

any impairment losses. Loans and receivables comprise 

cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables.

Available-for-sale financial assets

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any 

directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and any 

changes, other than impairment losses, are recognised in 

the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income 

and accumulated in the fair value reserve. When these 

assets are derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in 

equity is reclassified to the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and 

in hand and short-term deposits with maturities of three 

months or less from the acquisition date.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

FrieslandCampina initially recognises debt securities and 

subordinated liabilities on the date on which they were 

originally issued. All other financial liabilities (including 

liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss) 

are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date 

that FrieslandCampina becomes a party to the contractual 

provision of the instrument.

FrieslandCampina derecognises a financial liability when its 

contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

FrieslandCampina classifies non-derivative financial 

liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such 

financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value less 

any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at 

amortised costs using the effective interest method. Other 

financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, bank 

overdrafts and trade and other payables.

Equity

Share capital

The shares are classified as equity. Costs directly 

attributable to the extension of the share capital are 

deducted from equity after taxation. The authorised 

capital comprises paid-up capital and the remaining 

portion concerns share premium reserve.

Other financial instruments

Other financial instruments are classified as equity 

if the instruments do not have a maturity date and 

FrieslandCampina can defer the interest payments.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which 

they are declared. 

Derivatives (including hedge accounting)

FrieslandCampina holds derivatives to hedge its foreign 

currency risk, cash flow risks and interest rate risk 

exposure.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable 

transaction costs are recognised in the income statement 

as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives 

are measured at fair value and changes are accounted 

for as described below, depending on whether hedge 

accounting has been applied. 

Derivatives for which hedge accounting is applied

FrieslandCampina applies cash flow hedge accounting on a 

portion of its foreign currency and interest rate derivatives.
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Determination of hedge effectiveness

On initial designation of the derivative as a hedging 

instrument, FrieslandCampina formally documents the 

relationship between the hedging instrument and the 

hedged item, including the risk management objectives 

and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction and the 

hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used 

to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. At 

the start of the hedge relationship, and on each subsequent 

reporting date, FrieslandCampina assesses whether the 

hedging instruments are expected to be ‘highly effective’ in 

offsetting the changes in fair value or cash flow attributable 

to the hedged position(s) throughout the period of the 

hedge such that the actual result of every hedge will be 

between 80% and 125%. The criteria for a cash flow hedge 

of an anticipated transaction are that it is very probable 

that the transaction will take place and that this transaction 

will create an exposure to fluctuations in cash flow of such 

a severity that they could ultimately affect the reported 

profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument 

in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to 

a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or 

liability, or as a highly probable forecast transaction that 

could affect the income statement, the effective portion of 

changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in 

other comprehensive income and presented in the hedging 

reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in the 

fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the 

income statement.

If the hedged item is a non-financial asset the amount 

accumulated in equity is included in the carrying amount 

of the asset when the asset is recognised. In other cases 

the amount accumulated in equity is reclassified to the 

income statement in the same period that the hedged item 

affects the income statement. If the hedging instrument 

no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires, 

is sold, is terminated or is exercised, hedge accounting is 

terminated from the date of the most recent assessment 

of effectiveness. If the forecast transaction is no longer 

expected to occur the balance in equity is reclassified to the 

income statement.

Other non-trading derivatives

When a derivative is not designated as a hedge relationship 

that qualifies for hedge accounting all changes in its fair 

value are recognised immediately in the income statement.

Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured 

at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. The cost price includes any costs 

directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost 

price of self-manufactured assets comprises:

• costs of materials and direct labour costs;

• any other costs directly attributable to making the asset 

ready for use;

• if FrieslandCampina has an obligation to remove the 

asset, an estimate of the cost of dismantling and 

removing the items;

• capitalised borrowing costs.

Property, plant and equipment also include assets of which 

FrieslandCampina has acquired beneficial ownership under 

finance lease agreements. On initial recognition the leased 

asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its 

fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 

payments. Subsequent to initial recognition the asset is 

accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy 

applicable to that asset.

If parts of an item of property, plant and equipment 

have different useful lives the parts are accounted for as 

separate items of property, plant and equipment. Any gain 

or loss on the disposal of an item of property, plant and 

equipment is determined on the basis of a comparison of 

the proceeds from the sale and the carrying amount of 

the property, plant or equipment and is recognised in the 

income statement.

Subsequent costs

Subsequent costs are capitalised only when it is probable 

that the future economic benefits associated with the 

expenditure will flow to FrieslandCampina. Ongoing repairs 

and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated 

on a straight-line basis in the income statement over the 

estimated useful life of each component. Leased assets 

are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and 

their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that 

FrieslandCampina will obtain ownership by the end of the 

lease term. Items of property, plant and equipment are 

depreciated from the date that they are installed and are 

ready for use.
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The estimated useful lives for the current year of significant 

items of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Land     not depreciated

Buildings     10-25 years

Plant and equipment   5-33 years

Other operational assets   3-20 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values 

are reviewed at each reporting date and if appropriate, 

adjusted.

Intangible assets and goodwill

Goodwill

Goodwill that arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries is 

presented as an intangible asset. For the measurement of 

goodwill at initial recognition, see the basis of consolidation 

for business combinations. Goodwill is measured at cost 

less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity-

accounted investees the carrying amount of goodwill is 

included in the carrying amount of the investment and any 

impairment loss is allocated to the carrying amount of the 

equity-accounted investee as a whole.

Research and development

Expenditure on research activities undertaken with 

the prospect of gaining new technical knowledge and 

understanding is recognised in the income statement as 

incurred. Development activities include the drawing-

up of a plan or design for the production of new or 

significantly improved products or processes. Development 

expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can 

be measured reliably, the product process is technically 

and commercially feasible, future economic benefits 

are probable, and FrieslandCampina intends to and has 

sufficient resources to complete development and to use 

or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes the 

cost of materials, direct labour, overhead costs directly 

attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use 

and capitalised borrowing costs. Other development 

expenditure is recognised in the income statement as 

incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is measured 

at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 

impairment losses.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets which are acquired by 

FrieslandCampina and which have finite useful lives are 

measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 

accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent costs

Subsequent costs are capitalised only when it increases 

the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 

asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including 

expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, 

is recognised in the income statement as incurred.

 

Amortisation

Intangible assets other than goodwill are amortised on 

a straight-line basis in the income statement over their 

estimated useful lives calculated from the date that they 

are available for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 

years are as follows:

Trademark and patents  10-40 years

Customer relations  5-20 years

Software  5 years

Capitalised internal development costs  5 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are 

reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-

in first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in 

acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs, and 

other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location 

and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories cost 

includes an appropriate share of production overheads based 

on normal operating capacity. The net realisable value is the 

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 

the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 
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Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset that is not classified at fair value through 

profit and loss is assessed at each reporting date to 

determine whether there is objective evidence that it is 

impaired. A financial asset is impaired if there is objective 

evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 

that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and 

the event has had a negative effect on the estimated future 

cash flows of the asset that can be measured reliably. An 

objective indication of impairment can comprise significant 

payment difficulties of a debtor or group of debtors, 

indications that it is possible a debtor may not be able to 

meet payment obligations or may file for bankruptcy, the 

disappearance of an active market that will bring about, 

or observable data indicating, a measurable decline in the 

expected cash flows of a group of financial assets.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

FrieslandCampina considers evidence of impairment for 

financial assets measured at amortised cost at both a 

specific asset and collective level. An impairment loss in 

respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is 

calculated as the difference between its carrying amount 

and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. If 

an event occurring after the impairment was recognised 

causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the 

decrease in impairment loss is reversed through the income 

statement.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of FrieslandCampina’s non-financial 

assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are 

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there 

is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists 

the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill and 

intangible assets with an indefinite life are tested annually 

for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised if the 

carrying amount of an asset or Cash Generating Unit (CGU) 

exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of 

its value in use and its fair value less costs to dispose. When 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects the current market assessment of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or 

CGU. The business value is determined on the basis of the 

budget and the long-term plans and then the cooperative 

surcharge of Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder is added.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are 

grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 

generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. 

Subject to the operating segment ceiling test, CGUs to 

which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that 

the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects 

the lowest level within FrieslandCampina at which goodwill 

is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill 

acquired in a business combination is allocated to the 

FrieslandCampina CGUs that are expected to benefit from 

the synergies of that combination.

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. 

Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are 

allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 

allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying 

amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. 

An impairment loss on other assets is reversed only to the 

extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 

the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 

of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 

been recognised.

Assets held for sale or distribution 

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising 

assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered 

primarily through sale rather than through continuing 

use are classified as held for sale. Immediately before 

classification as held for sale the assets, or components 

of a disposal group, are remeasured in accordance with 

FrieslandCampina’s accounting policies. Thereafter the 

assets, or disposal group, are generally measured at the 

lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs 

to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first 

allocated to goodwill and then to remaining assets and 

liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated 

to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets or 

employee benefit assets, which continue to be measured in 

accordance with FrieslandCampina’s accounting policies. 

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale 

and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are 

recognised through the income statement. Gains are not 

recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

Once classified as held for sale intangible assets and property, 

plant and equipment are not amortised or depreciated.

In addition, equity accounting of equity-accounted 

investments ceases once classified as held for sale.
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Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit 

plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 

separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligations to 

pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined 

contribution plans are recognised as an employee benefit 

expense in the income statement in the periods during which 

the related services are rendered by employees. Prepaid 

contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that 

a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

The portion of the pension obligation FrieslandCampina 

has placed with an industry-branch pension fund in the 

Netherlands can be qualified as a defined contribution plan.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other 

than a defined contribution plan. The net pension obligation 

(asset) in respect of defined benefit plans are calculated 

annually for each plan on the basis of expected future 

developments in discount rates, salaries and life expectancy, 

less the fair value of the fund investments related to the plan. 

The present value of the obligations is calculated actuarially 

using the projected unit credit method. The discount rate 

used is the return at the balance sheet date on high-quality 

corporate bonds with at least an AA credit rating and with 

maturity dates similar to the term of the pension obligations.

The net present value is recognised as a pension obligation, 

or as a pension asset, under non-current financial assets.

Remeasurement of the net pension obligation (asset), 

comprising actuarial gains and losses resulting from 

changes in the assumptions for calculating the pension 

obligation, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) 

and the impact of the effect of the asset ceiling (if 

applicable) is carried out for each individual plan and 

recognised immediately in consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income.

If the calculation of the net pension obligation results in a 

positive balance, the asset recognised is limited to the sum 

of the present value of any future repayments by the fund 

or lower future pension contributions.

FrieslandCampina determines the net interest expenses 

(gains) resulting from the defined benefit plan by 

multiplying the net pension obligation (asset) with the 

discount rate used to measure the defined pension plan at 

the start of the year. Changes in the net pension obligation 

(asset) during the year as a result of benefits being paid 

out are taken into account. The net interest expenses and 

other expenses related to the defined pension plan are 

recognised through profit or loss.

FrieslandCampina recognises results due to the adjustment 

or curtailment of pension plans through profit or loss at the 

time an adjustment or curtailment occurs or at the moment 

a restructuring provision is formed. 

A gain or loss on a settlement of a defined benefit pension 

plan is recognised through profit or loss at the moment the 

settlement takes place.

Other long-term employee benefits

The net obligation for other deferred employee 

remuneration is recognised similarly to defined benefit 

plans.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured 

on an undiscounted basis and are expensed at the time 

the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 

for the amount expected to be paid as a short-term 

employee benefit if FrieslandCampina has a present legal 

or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of 

past service provided by the employee and the obligation 

can be estimated reliably. 

Provisions

A provision is recognised when, as a result of a past event, 

FrieslandCampina has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money 

is material, provisions are discounted using a pre-tax rate 

that reflects the current market assessments of the time 

value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The 

unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance costs.

Provisions for restructuring are formed when 

FrieslandCampina has formalised a detailed and formal 

restructuring plan and has either started implementing the 

restructuring plan or has announced the main aspects of 

the restructuring in such a way that the people who will be 

affected by it have a valid expectation the restructuring will 

take place.

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when 

the expected benefits to be derived by FrieslandCampina 

from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of 

meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is 

measured at the present value of the lower of the expected 

cost of terminating the contract and the expected net 

cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is 

established FrieslandCampina recognises any impairment 

loss on the assets associated with the contract. 
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Revenue

Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary 

activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable net of returns, trade discounts and 

volume rebates. Revenue is recognised when persuasive 

evidence exists, usually in the form of an executed sales 

agreement, that the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership have been transferred to the customer, recovery 

of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and 

possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there 

is no continuing management involvement with the goods, 

and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. If it 

is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount 

can be measured reliably, the discount is recognised as a 

reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised.

FrieslandCampina has customer loyalty programmes in 

place through which customers can earn points when they 

purchase certain FrieslandCampina products. When a 

minimum number of points has been earned they can be 

exchanged for discounts on third-party goods or services. 

The proceeds are allocated to the products sold and the 

points granted with the value attributed to the points being 

their fair value. Recognition of the fair value of the points 

granted is deferred and the fair value is recognised as 

revenue when points are redeemed.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at fair value when there is 

reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 

related conditions will be complied with. When a grant relates 

to an expense item it is recognised as income over the period 

necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs 

that it is intended to compensate. If a grant relates to an asset 

it is deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and is 

released to the income statement over the expected useful life 

of the relevant asset through the lower depreciation charge.

Cost of raw materials, consumables used and 

commodities

This concerns the cost of raw materials, consumables 

used and commodities related to the products sold and/

or the cost of acquiring the products sold. The cost of raw 

materials, consumables used and commodities is calculated 

in accordance with the first-in-first-out principle. The cost 

includes the currency translation differences related to 

trade payables as well as the differences in valuation of 

related derivatives.

Leases

At the inception of an arrangement FrieslandCampina 

determines whether such an arrangement is, or contains, 

a lease. This will be the case if the following two criteria 

are met: the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on 

the use of a specific asset or assets; and the arrangement 

contains a right to use the asset(s). At inception, or on 

reassessment of the arrangement, FrieslandCampina 

separates payments and other considerations required by 

such an arrangement into those for the lease and those 

for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. 

If FrieslandCampina concludes that it is impracticable to 

separate the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability 

are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the 

underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is reduced as 

payments are made and an imputed finance cost on the 

liability is recognised using FrieslandCampina’s incremental 

borrowing rate.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the 

income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral 

part of the total lease expense over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases 

are apportioned between the finance expense and the 

reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance cost 

is allocated to each period during the lease term so at 

to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 

remaining balance of the liability.

Finance income and finance costs

Finance income comprises interest received on loans and 

receivables from third parties, dividend income, positive 

changes to the fair value of financial assets valued at 

fair value after incorporating changes in value in the 

income statement, gains on hedging instruments that are 

recognised in the income statement and reclassifications 

of amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income. Interest income is recognised in the income 

statement as it accrues using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprises interest expenses on borrowings 

and other obligations to third parties, fair value losses 

on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 

unwinding the discount on provisions, impairment 

losses recognised on financial assets (other than trade 

receivables), losses on hedging instruments that are 

recognised in the income statement and reclassifications 

of amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income.

Foreign currency gains and losses from trade debtors and 

creditors are recognised as a component of operating 

profit. All other foreign currency gains and losses are 

reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance 

costs depending on whether foreign currency movements 

are in a net gain or net loss position.
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Taxes

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the income 

statement except to the extent that it relates to a business 

combination, or items recognised directly in equity, or in 

other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the 

taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted 

or substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any 

adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Current tax payable also includes any tax liability arising 

from the declaration of dividends.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary 

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 

used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets 

and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that affects neither accounting nor 

taxable profit or loss;

• temporary differences related to investments in 

subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent 

that it is probable that they will not be settled in the 

foreseeable future;

• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial 

recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected 

to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 

using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax 

FrieslandCampina takes into account the effect of uncertain 

tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest 

may be due. FrieslandCampina operates in several different 

tax jurisdictions. This leads to complex tax issues. The 

ultimate decision regarding these complex tax issues is 

often outside the control of FrieslandCampina and depends 

on the efficiency of the legal processes in the relevant tax 

jurisdiction. FrieslandCampina believes that its accruals for 

tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on 

its assessment of many factors, including interpretations 

of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies 

on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series 

of judgements about future events. New information 

may become available that causes FrieslandCampina to 

change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing 

tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will affect tax 

expense in the period that such a determination is made. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a 

legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 

assets and the assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied 

by the same tax authority, on the same taxable entity or on 

different tax entities, but they intend either settling current 

tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or realising their tax 

assets and liabilities simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, 

tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the 

extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax 

assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 

tax benefit will be realised. Unrecognised deferred tax 

assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are 

recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 

future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 

recovered.

Segmentation

The identified operating segments are the separate segments 

within FrieslandCampina for which financial information is 

available and frequently evaluated by the Executive Board 

in order to come to decisions regarding the attribution of 

the available means to the segment and to determine the 

performance of the segment. In 2013 the segmentation was 

adjusted to some extent as explained in Note 1. 

FrieslandCampina has divided the operating segments into 

the business groups: Consumer Products Europe, Middle 

East & Africa; Consumer Products Asia; Cheese, Butter 

& Milkpowder and Ingredients. Inter-segment pricing is 

determined on an arm’s length basis. Segment results, 

assets and liabilities include items directly attributable 

to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on 

a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly 

corporate assets and liabilities, corporate expenses, the 

performance premium and the distribution of registered 

fixed member bonds.

Cash flows

The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect 

method. Cash flows in foreign currencies have been 

translated into euros at the exchange rates prevailing on 

the transaction date. 
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Determination of fair values

A number of FrieslandCampina’s accounting policies and 

disclosures require the determination of fair value for both 

financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values 

have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure 

purposes based on the following methods. If applicable, 

further information about the assumptions made in 

determining fair values is disclosed in the Notes.

Property, plant and equipment

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised 

as a result of a business combination is the estimated 

amount for which property could be exchanged on the 

acquisition date between a willing buyer and a willing seller 

in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing 

wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably. 

The fair value of items of plant and equipment is based 

on the market approach and cost approaches using 

quoted market prices for similar items when available 

and depreciated replacement costs when appropriate. 

Depreciated replacement cost reflects adjustments for 

physical deterioration as well as functional and economic 

obsolescence.

Intangible assets

The fair value of patents and trademark names acquired 

in a business combination is based on the discounted 

estimated royalty payments that are expected to be avoided 

as a result of the patents or trademarks being owned. The 

fair value of customer relationships acquired in a business 

combination is determined using the multi-period excess 

earnings method. The fair value of other intangible assets is 

based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived 

from the use and eventual sale of the assets.

Inventories

The fair value of inventories acquired in a business 

combination is determined based on the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 

cost of completion and sale plus a reasonable profit margin 

based on the effort required to complete and sell the 

inventories.

Trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables outstanding 

for longer than a year is determined based on the present 

value of future cash flows, discounted at the market 

interest rate at the reporting date.

Associated interests

The fair value of associated interests listed on the stock 

exchange is determined on the basis of the stock exchange 

price.

Derivatives

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is generally 

determined by discounting the difference between the 

contractual forward price and the current forward price for 

the residual maturity of the contract using current interest 

rates and current foreign currency rates.

The fair value of interest rate swaps and cross-currency 

interest rate swaps is determined by discounting the cash 

flows resulting from the contractual interest rates of both 

legs of the transaction, taking into account the current 

interest rates, current foreign currency rates and the 

current creditworthiness of both the swap counterparties 

and FrieslandCampina.

Non-derivative financial instruments

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is 

calculated based on the present value of future principal 

and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate 

of interest at the reporting date. For finance leases the 

market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar 

lease agreements. The fair value of the option liability is 

determined on the basis of the discounted cash flows.
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1  Segmentation

FrieslandCampina is divided into four segments – the four business groups – which are recognised in the segment 

reports. Each business group is concerned with a particular product group. In the Consumer Products product group an 

additional division is made according to geographic region. FrieslandCampina’s four business groups are:

• Consumer Products Europe, Middle East & Africa: liquid milk, milk powder, condensed milk, infant nutrition, dairy 

based beverages, yoghurts, desserts, coffee creamers, cream, cheese, fruit juices and beverages in Europe, Africa 

and the Middle East . Brand names include Campina, Chocomel, Frico, Fruttis, Landliebe, Milli, Milner, Mona, NoyNoy, 

Optimel, Peak and Rainbow;

• Consumer Products Asia: liquid milk, milk powder, condensed milk, infant nutrition, dairy based beverages, yoghurts 

and desserts in mainly Asia. Brand names include Alaska, Dutch Lady, Foremost and Frisian Flag;

• Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder: cheese, butter and milk powder, all over the world. Brand names include Botergoud 

and Frico;

• Ingredients: ingredients for the food and pharmaceutical industries, all over the world.

As a result of changes to FrieslandCampina’s management structure and the reporting to the Executive Board, as of 

1 October 2013 the segment reporting has been amended, as have the comparative figures as at 31 December 2012. As 

a result of the changes to the management structure, since 1 October 2013 the operating companies Wamco (Nigeria), 

Middle East (Saudi Arabia), West Africa (Ghana), and Supply Point Leeuwarden (the Netherlands), have been part of 

the former Consumer Products Europe segment, the name of which has been changed to Consumer Products Europe, 

Middle East & Africa. Before the change in management structure these operating companies were part of the former 

Consumer Products International (CPI) segment, the name of which has been changed to Consumer Products Asia.

The goodwill of EUR 134 million resulting from the acquisition of Alaska Milk Corporation in the Philippines in 2012, 

which was allocated to former CPI segment, is not relavant to the transferred operating companies. The changes in 

management structure have no implications for the allocation of goodwill.

Revenue third parties in the ‘other’ category includes the supply of raw milk to third parties resulting from the remedy 

imposed by the European Commission at the time of the merger in 2008, refer to Note 27 for further information.
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Segmentation by business group 2013 

Consumer 
Products 

EMEA

Consumer 
Products 

Asia

Cheese, 
Butter & 

Milkpowder Ingredients Other Elimination Total

Revenue third parties 3,829 2,338 3,012 1,801 438  11,418 

Inter-segment revenue 1 240 19 466 505  -1,230  

Total revenue 4,069 2,357 3,478 2,306 438 -1,230 11,418 

Other operating income 9 13 1 23 

Total operating income 4,078 2,370 3,478 2,306 439 -1,230 11,441 

Operating profit before goodwill 
impairment 210 385 54 275 -411  513 

Operating profit 10 385 54 275 -411  313 

Share of profit of joint ventures  
and associates 7 1 1 -1  8 

Finance income and cost       -55 

Income tax expense       -109 

Profit for the year       157 

Operating profit as a % of revenue 
third parties 0.3 16.5 1.8 15.3  2.7 

Carrying amounts of assets 
employed in operating activities 2 2,029 879 1,411 1,606 715 -636 6,004 

Carrying amounts of other assets       1,108 

       7,112 

Liabilities resulting  
from operating activities 3 907 460 539 400 1,321 -636 2,991 

Other liabilities       1,490 

       4,481 

Additions in property, plant, 
equipment and intangible assets 138 40 56 254 71  559 

Depreciation of plant  
and equipment and amortisation  
of intangible assets

-75 -30 -46 -48 -14  -213 

Impairment of fixed assets -214 -1 -2 -1 -1  -219 

Reversal of impairment  
of fixed assets 1 1 

Investments in joint ventures  
and associates 2 67 25 17 5  116 

Geographical information 2013 

Revenue third  
parties 4 

Carrying amount  
of operating  

non-current assets 5 

The Netherlands 5,525 2,078

Germany 1,067 384

Remaining Europe 1,504 299

Asia and Oceania 2,472 511

Africa and the Middle East 717 78

North and South America 133 15

Total 11,418 3,365 

1  Internal supplies are measured in the same way as transactions with third parties.
2   Concerns carrying value of assets excluding deferred tax assets, joint ventures and associates, loans provided, securities, non-current receivables, income tax 

receivables, receivables from affiliated companies, cash and cash equivalents and assets held for sale.
3   Concerns employee benefits, provisions, derivative liabilities, trade payables and other liabilities, excluding option liabilities and obligations to affiliated 

companies.
4   Revenue third parties separated according to the country in which the operating company is located. Refer to Note 4 for a breakdown of revenue according to 

the customer’s geographical location.
5  Relates to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
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Segmentation by business group 2012 6

Consumer 
Products 

EMEA

Consumer 
Products 

Asia

Cheese, 
Butter & 

Milkpowder Ingredients Other Elimination Total 

Revenue third parties 3,779 2,081 2,451 1,698 300  10,309 

Inter-segment revenue 1 275 4 276 429  -984  

Total revenue 4,054 2,085 2,727 2,127 300 -984 10,309 

Other operating income 10 4   1  15 

Total operating income 4,064 2,089 2,727 2,127 301 -984 10,324 

Operating profit 233 344 -30 226 -286  487 

Share of profit of joint ventures  
and associates  9 4 2 1 16 

Finance income and cost       -57 

Income tax expense       -168 

Profit for the year       278 

Operating profit as a % of revenue 
third parties 6.2 16.5 -1.2 13.3   4.7 

Carrying amounts of assets 
employed in operating activities 2 1,766 1,310 1,050 1,395 621 -593 5,549 

Carrying amounts of other assets       1,282 

       6,831 

Liabilities resulting  
from operating activities 3 600 692 416 428 1,157 -593 2,700 

Other liabilities       1,873 

       4,573 

Additions in property, plant, 
equipment and intangible assets 106 37 56 181 43  423 

Depreciation of plant  
and equipment and amortisation  
of intangible assets 

-76 -26 -38 -44 -10  -194 

Impairment of fixed assets -4  -1 -2   -7 

Reversal of impairment  
of fixed assets 

Investments in joint ventures  
and associates 1 70 24 16 7  118 

Geographical information 2012 

Revenue  
third parties 4

Carrying amount  
of operating  

non-current assets 5

The Netherlands 4,990 1,737 

Germany 985 357 

Remaining Europe 1,350 462 

Asia and Oceania 2,226 572 

Africa and the Middle East 619 68 

North and South America 139 12 

Total 10,309 3,208 

6   The comparative figures for 2012 have been adjusted for the changes to the management structure implemented in 2013.
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2  Acquisitions

Zijerveld and Den Hollander Food

On 1 May 2013 FrieslandCampina acquired full control of Zijerveld en Veldhuyzen B.V. and G. den Hollander Holding B.V. 

(Zijerveld and Den Hollander Food). 

Zijerveld Food not only offers its customers a wide range of specialty items, such as the North Holland cheeses and 

farmhouse cheeses, but also know-how, tailor-made concepts and its own logistics services. Den Hollander Food is a 

packaging business unit with its focus on sliced cheeses in various resealable packages. This acquisition is in line with 

FrieslandCampina’s route2020 ambition of becoming the preferred supplier for customers in various market segments. 

Zijerveld complements FrieslandCampina’s existing business in the pre-packed segment and contributes towards 

further value growth for its customers, in particular customers in the fresh counter segment with specialty cheeses.

Since the acquisition date, Zijerveld and Den Hollander Food have been consolidated as part of the business group 

Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder. In the eight months until 31 December 2013 Zijerveld and Den Hollander Food contributed 

EUR 310 million towards revenue and EUR 1 million negative towards profit including one-time effects related to 

acquisitions. If the acquisition occurred on 1 January 2013, management estimates that consolidated revenue would 

have been EUR 11,558 million, and consolidated profit for the year would have been EUR 154 million. In determining 

these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the acquisition date would 

have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2013. 

FrieslandCampina acquired Zijerveld and Den Hollander Food for the sum of EUR 80 million plus a contingent 

consideration of EUR 19 million.

The major assets acquired and liabilities assumed recognised at the acquisition date are as follows:

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Property, plant and equipment 21 

Intangible assets 48 

Inventories 28 

Other financial assets 69 

Cash and cash equivalents 1 

Deferred tax liabilities -12 

Other payables -81 

Total net identifiable assets 74 

The fair values of the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been determined based on the 

preliminary purchase price allocation performed by a third party. The European Union has specified two remedies 

in respect of the acquisition. On the one hand Amalthea (independent goat’s milk cooperative) must offer a portion 

of the sales volume of semi-soft goat’s cheese previously supplied to FrieslandCampina available to one or more 

external parties. On the other hand, during the term of this remedy, FrieslandCampina must supply a total of 3.5 million 

kilos of goat’s milk to a third party. FrieslandCampina will finalise the purchase price allocation within the one-year 

measurement period specified by IFRS.

The trade and other receivables comprise gross contractual amounts of EUR 66 million, of which EUR 3 million was 

expected to be uncollectible at the acquisition date.
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Goodwill

Goodwill has been recognised as a result of the acquisition as follows:

Total consideration transferred 99 

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities -74 

Goodwill 25 

The goodwill relates primarily to the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating Zijerveld and Den Hollander 

Food into the business group Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder. The included goodwill is fiscally non-deductible.

Acquisition costs amounting to EUR 2 million are recognised as other expenses in the income statement 2013.  

The acquisition costs include external legal fees and due diligence costs.

Alaska Milk Corporation

At the beginning of 2013 the purchase price allocation related to the acquisition of Alaska Milk Corporation in 2012 was 

settled definitively. There were no changes compared with the interim purchase price allocation.

 

3  Assets and liabilities held for sale

Assets held for sale relate to property, plant and equipment amounting to EUR 9 million (2012: EUR 7 million). At the 

end of 2013 and 2012 no liabilities related to current and non-current liabilities were held for sale. 

At the end of 2013 the assets held for sale comprised primarily the Debrecen facility in Hungary and two facilities in the 

Netherlands which, due to the opening of the new Innovation Centre in Wageningen, are no longer used.

2013 2012 

At 1 January 7 4 

Transfer of property, plant and equipment 2 5 

Disposals  -2 

Impairment -1  

Reversal of impairment 1  

At 31 December 9 7 

4 Revenue

2013 2012

Revenue by geographical sales market

% %

The Netherlands 2,684 23 2,323 23 

Germany 1,445 13 1,269 12 

Remaining Europe 2,836 25 2,535 24 

Asia and Oceania 2,938 26 2,650 26 

Africa and the Middle East 1,165 10 1,147 11 

North and South America 350 3 385 4 

11,418 100 10,309 100 

Concerns revenue according to the geographical location of the customers. Refer to Note 1 for the breakdown of 

revenue third parties according to the country in which the operating company is located.

Revenue includes EUR 4 million (2012: EUR 2 million) of government grants. The conditions for these grants have been 

met and the related obligations have been fulfilled.
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5  Other operating income

Other operating income includes proceeds from services provided to third parties, rental income and the sale of 

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. This balance includes the profit resulting from the sale of a 

business premises of EUR 10 million and brands of EUR 4 million during 2013.

6 Raw materials, consumables used and commodities  

2013 2012

% %

Milk from member dairy farmers -3,990 52 -3,273 49

Cost of other raw materials, consumables used and commodities -3,623 48 -3,442 51

-7,613 100 -6,715 100

7 Employee benefits expense 

2013 2012

% %

Wages and salaries -743 79 -694 77

Social security charges -117 12 -114 13

Pension costs -82 9 -88 10

-942 100 -896 100

 Employees by business group (average number of FTEs) 

2013 2012

% %

Consumer Products EMEA 8,193 39 8,300 41

Consumer Products Asia 6,430 30 5,818 29

Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder 2,664 13 2,365 12

Ingredients 3,002 14 2,784 14

Other 897 4 778 4

21,186 100 20,045 100

  Employees by geographical region (average number of FTEs)

2013 2012

% %

The Netherlands 7,112  34 6,580  33 

Germany 1,692  8 1,786  9 

Remaining Europe 4,343  20 4,331  21 

Asia and Oceania 6,846  32 6,188  31 

Africa and the Middle East 1,026  5 1,010  5 

North and South America 167  1 150  1 

 21,186  100 20,045 100 

8 Other operating expenses

2013 2012

Transport costs -469 -432

Advertising and promotion costs -485 -456

Work contracted out and temporary staff costs -355 -307

Utility costs -219 -216

Repairs and maintenance costs -160 -159

Other expenses -472 -462

-2,160 -2,032
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The other expenses include:

•  research and development expenses of EUR 77 million (2012: EUR 70 million);

•  operational leasing expenses amounting to EUR 62 million (2012: EUR 55 million);

•  various government grants amounting to EUR 2 million (2012: EUR 3 million). The conditions for these grants have 

been met and the related obligations fulfilled;

•  impairment of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets (excluding goodwill) and assets held for sale 

amounting to EUR 19 million (2012: EUR 6 million) and the reversal of impairment of assets held for sale amounting to 

EUR 1 million (2012: EUR 0 million);

•  an addition to the restructuring provision of EUR 17 million (2012: EUR 33 million);

•  cleaning expenses of EUR 40 million (2012: EUR 33 million);

•  auditor’s fees of EUR 4 million (2012: EUR 4 million).

 Specification of auditor’s fees

2013 2012

Total KPMG network Total KPMG network

Audit fees financial statements -2.7 -2.5

Other audit fees -0.5 -0.5

Tax services fees -0.3 -0.3

Other non-audit fees -0.3 -0.2

-3.8 -3.5

9 Finance income and cost

2013 2012

Interest income 23 33

Interest expense -54 -66

Gains (losses) on foreign exchange -14 11

Put-option costs -3 -28

Other finance income 2 3

Other finance costs -9 -10

-55 -57

Interest expenses include EUR 5 million (2012: EUR 7 million) resulting from financing by Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A. of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.

Other finance cost includes amortisation of transaction costs and fees paid for the syndicate loan of EUR 5 million 

(2012: EUR 7 million) and the increase due to passage of time of the contingent consideration of EUR 1 million.

Foreign exchange results arising from the cost of raw materials and consumables used and other operating expenses 

are included in cost of sales or in the appropriate component of operating expenses. In 2013 FrieslandCampina included 

this net exchange effect of EUR -15 million in operating profit (2012: EUR -2 million). 
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10 Income tax expense

2013 2012

Breakdown of tax expense

Current tax expense

Current tax expense, current year -143 -121

 -143 -121

Deferred tax expense

Deferred tax expense recognised in the current year 34 -11

Write-down of deferred tax assets -1 -39

Adjustments for prior years 1 3

 34 -47

Income tax expense -109 -168

2013 2012

Before tax

Tax 
expense/

benefit Net of tax Before tax

Tax 
expense/

benefit Net of tax

Income tax recognised directly  
in equity

Perpetual notes -4 1 -3 -9 2 -7

Member bonds -34 7 -27 -41 8 -33

-38 8 -30 -50 10 -40

Income tax recognised as other 
comprehensive income

Currency translation reserve -78 7 -71 5  5

Cash flow hedge reserve -9 3 -6 -12 4 -8

Available-for-sale financial assets 16 -1 15

Remeasurement of obligations 
(assets) connected with defined 
benefit pension plans

-44 10 -34 -341 85 -256

-115 19 -96 -348 89 -259

2013 2012

Effective tax rate Amount % Amount %

Theoretical tax rate in the Netherlands -66 25.0 -111 25.0

Effect of different tax rates in other countries -6 2.1 -6 1.3

Share of result of joint ventures and associates 2 -0.8 5 -1.1

Withholding tax on dividends -8 3.0 -5 1.1

Non-deductible expenses -43 16.2 -17 3.9

Tax exempt income 12 -4.5 2 -0.5

Write-down of deferred tax assets -1 0.4 -39 8.7

Adjustments to estimates relating to prior years 1 -0.4 3 -0.7

Effective tax rate -109 41.0 -168 37.7

The theoretical tax rate is calculated by applying the tax rate in the Netherlands of 25% to the result before tax. 
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11 Property, plant and equipment

2013

Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
equipment

Other 
operating 

assets
Assets under 
construction Total

Carrying amount at 1 January 505 1,017 76 320 1,918

Acquired through acquisition 7 8 6  21

Additions 24 81 16 386 507

Disposals  -4 -2  -6

Currency translation differences -11 -32 -2 -1 -46

Transfers 33 106 45 -187 -3

Transfer to assets held for sale -2    -2

Depreciation -38 -127 -23  -188

Impairment -2 -15 -1  -18

Carrying amount at 31 December 516 1,034 115 518 2,183

 

Cost 1,126 2,960 352 518 4,956

Accumulated depreciation and impairment -610 -1,926 -237  -2,773

Carrying amount at 31 December 516 1,034 115 518 2,183

2012

Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
equipment

Other 
operating 

assets
Assets under  
construction Total

Carrying amount at 1 January 493 1,082 85 1,660

Adjustment for introduction of assets under 
construction -45 -182 -10 237  

Acquired through acquisition 23 27 50

Additions 29 112 43 219 403

Disposals -4 -1 -5

Currency translation differences -4 -4

Transfers 47 109 -20 -136  

Transfer to assets held for sale -5 -5

Depreciation -36 -118 -21 -175

Impairment -1 -5 -6

Carrying amount at 31 December 505 1,017 76 320 1,918

 

Cost 1,084 2,868 300 320 4,572

Accumulated depreciation and impairment -579 -1,851 -224 -2,654

Carrying amount at 31 December 505 1,017 76 320 1,918

Acquired through acquisition relates to property, plant and equipment amounting to EUR 21 million acquired from 

Zijerveld and Den Hollander Food.

Impairment relates mainly to a write-down to the estimated realisable value of property, plant and equipment, due to 

the intended closure of two production facilities in the Netherlands as part of the Reorganisation programme Reshape. 

Impairment is classified as other expenses in the income statement. 

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment for which financial lease agreements apply was EUR 15 million 

(2012: EUR 16 million).

At the end of the financial year FrieslandCampina was committed to investments in property, plant and equipment 

amounting to EUR 243 million (2012: EUR 116 million). 

Additions include capitalised borrowing costs amounting to EUR 7 million (2012: EUR 5 million). The applicable interest 

rate is 4.0% (2012: 4.3%). 
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12 Intangible assets 

2013

Goodwill

Trademarks, 
customer 
relations 

and patents Software Other Total

Carrying amount at 1 January 1,046 158 32 54 1,290

Acquired through acquisitions 25 47  1 73

Additions arising from internal development    35 35

Additions   12 5 17

Transfers   13 -10 3

Currency translation differences -20 -16   -36

Amortisation  -9 -13 -3 -25

Impairment -200    -200

Change in value in connection with put-option 25    25

Carrying amount at 31 December 876 180 44 82 1,182

 

Cost 1,080 199 160 94 1,533

Accumulated amortisation and impairment -204 -19 -116 -12 -351

Carrying amount at 31 December 876 180 44 82 1,182

2012

Goodwill

Trademarks, 
customer 
relations 

and patents Software Other Total

Carrying amount at 1 January 855 8 36 46 945

Acquired through acquisition 146 150 296

Additions arising from internal development 15 15

Additions 5 5

Transfers 1 3 -4  

Currency translation differences 17 4 -1 20

Amortisation -5 -12 -2 -19

Change in value in connection with put-option 28 28

Carrying amount at 31 December 1,046 158 32 54 1,290

 

Cost 1,050 190 134 64 1,438

Accumulated amortisation and impairment -4 -32 -102 -10 -148

Carrying amount at 31 December 1,046 158 32 54 1,290

The change in acquired through acquisition concerns the intangible non-current assets acquired from Zijerveld and 

Den Hollander Food of EUR 48 million and the goodwill related to this acquisition of EUR 25 million, which is allocated 

to the business group Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder. At the end of 2013 the net amount of transfers was EUR 3 million. 

This concerned a transfer of Property, plant and equipment to Intangible assets, refer also to Note 11.

In 2010 FrieslandCampina started a worldwide ICT-standardisation programme. During 2013 an amount of EUR 35 

million (2012: EUR 15 million) was capitalised for this programme. The portion of this amount related to assets under 

construction at the end of 2013 is recognised in the category ‘Other’. In 2012 the system went into service in the 

first group of operating companies and in 2013 this implementation was rolled-out to a number of other operating 

companies. The roll-out to the remaining operating companies will take several years.

The exercise date of the DFE put-option expired in June 2013. Until the expiry of the DFE put-option the liability in 

respect of the DFE put-option increased by EUR 25 million in 2013. This increase in value has been added to the 

goodwill. The expiry of the put-option has no effect on the recognised amount of goodwill. For further information 

regarding the DFE put-option refer to Note 14 and Note 19.
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 Impairment test for groups of cash flow-generating units containing goodwill

FrieslandCampina carries out the goodwill impairment test during the second quarter of each year, or at another time if 

impairment is indicated. Goodwill is monitored and tested at the business group level, which comprises a group of cash 

flow-generating units at the time the goodwill impairment test is carried out. The goodwill impairment test calculates 

the recoverable amount - the value in use - per business group.

The goodwill impairment test carried out in the second quarter of 2013 for the Consumer Products Europe business 

group showed that the estimated recoverable amount of the Consumer Products Europe business group exceeded the 

carrying amount by EUR 279 million. However, as the outcomes of the Consumer Products Europe business group’s 

goodwill impairment test were sensitive to relatively minor changes in the assumptions and the business group’s actual 

results in the second half of 2013 fell short of the budget for 2013, it was decided to carry out an updated goodwill 

impairment test for the Consumer Products Europe business group. Despite the improved results, due to worsening 

economic conditions in Europe and the rapidly increased milk price, the recovery lagged behind expectations. It is 

estimated that these market circumstances and the volatility of the milk prices will be of a structural nature for which 

the forecasts have been adjusted. As a result of the outcome of the updated goodwill impairment test, an impairment of 

EUR 200 million has been recognised for the goodwill of the Consumer Product Europe business group.

The principle assumptions applied for the calculation of the recoverable amount per business group are listed in the 

table below. The assumptions for the business group Consumer Products Europe are the assumptions used for the 

updated goodwill impairment test.

% % %

Growth rate  
terminal value

Budgeted EBITDA in 
relation to revenue Pre-tax discount rate

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Consumer Products Europe 1.7 2.0 4-7 5-9 11 12

Consumer Products International 2.5 2.5 16-20 16-18 13 16

Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder 2.0 4-5 11

Ingredients 2.0 2.0 14-23 15-21 10 11

The budgeted EBITDA margins are based on past experience, specific expectations for the near future and market-

based growth percentages. The discount rate for each business group is based on information that can be verified in 

the market and is before tax.

The values in use of the business groups were determined on the basis of the 2013 budget and the long-term plans 

until 2017, taking into account the factors mentioned above, which led to the forecasts for the Consumer Products 

Europe business group being adjusted. A cooperative surcharge for the cooperative role the Cheese, Butter & 

Milkpowder business group plays by processing member milk was also taken into account. For the period after 2017 a 

growth percentage equal to the forecast long-term inflation percentages was used.

The outcome of the goodwill impairment test was that the values in use exceeded the carrying amounts of all the 

business groups except for Consumer Products Europe. As a result a goodwill impairment amounting to EUR 200 

million was recognised for the business group Consumer Products Europe, after which the value in use equalled the 

carrying value of this business group.
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Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The outcomes of the goodwill impairment tests of the Consumer Products International, Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder 

and Ingredients business groups show that the values in use largely exceed the carrying amounts. In these cases 

a reasonable adjustment of the assumptions did not result in values in use lower than the carrying values of these 

business groups.

Following the impairment loss recognised in business group Consumer Products Europe, the value in use of  

EUR 1.1 billion was equal to the carrying amount. Any adverse movement in a key assumption would therefore lead to 

further impairment.

Implementation of amended management structure

The management structure was changed as of 1 October 2013. For further information refer to Note 1.

The table below shows the allocation of the goodwill per business group. The impairment of goodwill of EUR 200 million 

is allocated to the business group Consumer Products EMEA. No goodwill has been reallocated between the different 

business groups as a result of the implementation of the changes to the management structure. The implementation of 

the revised management structure has, therefore, had no effect on the comparative figures in the table below.

2013 2012

Consumer Products EMEA 554 758

Consumer Products Asia 134 150

Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder 25

Ingredients 163 138

876 1,046

The values in use of the business groups Consumer Products EMEA and Consumer Products Asia, as defined as of 

1 October 2013, also exceed the carrying amounts. In these instances a reasonable adjustment of the assumptions 

would also not result in the value in use of these business groups being lower than the carrying amounts. The principal 

assumptions applied when calculating the value in use of the business groups Consumer Products EMEA and Consumer 

Products Asia are comparable to the principal assumptions applied when calculating the value in use of the former 

business groups Consumer Products Europe and Consumer Products International respectively. 

13 Investments in joint ventures and associates

2013 2012

Carrying amount at 1 January 118 111

Impairment  -1

Currency translation differences -3

Profit for the year 8 16

Dividends received -7 -8

Carrying amount at 31 December 116 118

Financial data of joint ventures and associates:

Share of profit 8 16

Share of revenue 174 156

Balance sheet:

Non-current assets 164 184

Current assets 86 102

Equity 146 166

Non-current liabilities 55 67

Current liabilities 49 53

For a summary of the most important joint ventures and associates refer to page 134.

Financial statements Notes to the consolidated financial statements



	 	

107
14 Derivatives

Refer to Note 30 for the objectives, guidelines and policies related to the use of derivatives and other financial 

instruments in FrieslandCampina’s activities.

Hedging derivatives

In the statement of financial position the hedging derivatives are included in current and non-current other financial 

assets and liabilities.

Hedging activities 2013

Repay- 
ment Assets Liabilities

Contract 
volume at 

the end

Cross currency swaps for fixing interest on non-current liabilities 
(carried as assets)

2017 and 
2020 3  143

Cross currency swaps for fixing interest on non-current liabilities 
(carried as liabilities) after 2017  62 364

Interest rate swaps for fixing interest on interest-bearing liabilities 2014 - 
2015  6 200

Total cash flow hedges subject to hedge accounting  3 68  

Cross currency swap for fixing non-current liabilities 2014 1  17

Currency derivatives carried as assets 2014 3  129

Currency derivatives carried as liabilities 2014  1 75

Derivatives not subject to hedge accounting 4 1

 

Total derivatives 7 69

 

Classified as current 4 2

Classified as non-current 3 67

Hedging activities 2012

Repay- 
ment Assets Liabilities

Contract 
volume at 

the end

Cross currency swaps for fixing interest on non-current liabilities 
(carried as assets) after 2017 13 138

Cross currency swaps for fixing interest on non-current liabilities 
(carried as liabilities)

2013 and  
after 2017 44 489

Interest rate swaps for fixing interest on interest-bearing liabilities 2013-2015 16 400

Currency derivatives carried as liabilities  5

Total cash flow hedges subject to hedge accounting  13 60

Cross currency swap for fixing non-current liabilities 2014 1 18

Currency derivatives carried as assets 2013 3 121

Currency derivatives carried as liabilities 2013 65

Derivatives not subject to hedge accounting 3 1

 

Total derivatives 16 61

 

Classified as current 3 15

Classified as non-current 13 46
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Cash flow hedges 

Cross-currency interest rate swaps have been contracted for borrowings of USD 696 million, as a result of which 

the USD repayment and interest obligations to institutional investors have been converted into EUR liabilities.

The interest rate swaps have been contracted to convert the floating-interest obligations on the interest-bearing 

liabilities into fixed-interest liabilities.

The hedges to which hedge accounting is applied meet the documentation requirements for hedge accounting in IAS 

39 and are tested for effectiveness prior to and as per reporting date. These hedges were effective as a result of which, 

at 31 December 2013, EUR -24 million was recognised in equity as cash flow hedge reserve. Of this sum, EUR -20 million 

relates to the cross currency swaps and EUR -4 million to the interest rate swaps. During 2013 a hedge relationship was 

terminated and EUR 3 million was transferred to the income statement from the cash flow hedge reserve. This was the 

effective portion of the interest payments during the year. The underlying hedged item was also terminated in 2013.

Derivatives not subject to hedge accounting 

Derivatives not subject to hedge accounting relate to contracted sales and purchases, loans and outstanding 

receivables and payables. The changes in the value of these derivatives are largely offset by value changes in 

receivables and payables that have an opposite effect. FrieslandCampina’s policy is, and has been throughout 

the year under review, that no trading takes place for speculative purposes. 

Put-option liability

In the consolidated statement of financial position the put-option liability is recognised under other current financial liabilities.

2013 2012

Liabilities in connection with put-options 7 162

On the basis of an agreement between FrieslandCampina and Fonterra Co-operative Group Ltd., FrieslandCampina was 

obliged to acquire the 50% participation in DMV-Fonterra Excipients GmbH & Co KG held by Fonterra for an amount 

that at least equalled the value of Fonterra’s contribution at the commencement of the joined venture of 2006. As 

Fonterra did not utilise its right to exercise this put-option in June 2013, the put-option expired and the application 

of the (anticipated) acquisition method was discontinued. As FrieslandCampina retained control of DMV-Fonterra 

Excipients GmbH & Co KG after the expiry, the transaction is recognised as a transaction between shareholders. As a 

result the EUR 183 million liability in respect of the put-option has been credited to the reserves and the non-controlling 

interests within equity.

Until June 2013 this option was treated on the basis that it would be exercised by Fonterra and thus created a liability 

which was determined in accordance with the conditions related to the agreement. The present value of this liability was 

calculated as at the balance sheet date. Changes in the value of the liability were added to or deducted from goodwill.  

The change in value of the put-option liability amounted to EUR 28 million in 2013 (2012: EUR 33 million). 

 

15 Other financial assets 

2013 2012

Loans 39 43

Securities 30  

Derivatives 3 13

Long-term receivables 4 4

76 60

Of the loans EUR 19 million concerns the joint venture Great Ocean Ingredients Pty. Ltd. (2012: EUR 20 million).  

The remainder concerns loans to third parties. The average interest rate on the loans at the end of 2013 was 2.8%  

(2012: 2.9%). The due date of EUR 21 million of the loans is after 2018. All the loans provided are still within their terms.
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On 11 July 2013 FrieslandCampina paid EUR 14 million to acquire a 7.5% interest in Synlait Milk Ltd. This is a dairy 

company in New Zealand that is listed on the New Zealand stock exchange (“NZX”). On 31 December 2013 this interest 

was valued at EUR 26 million, which is included under securities.

Refer to Note 14 for information regarding derivatives. 

16 Inventories 

2013 2012

Raw materials and consumables used 383 378

Finished goods and commodities 920 761

1,303 1,139

Inventories of finished goods and commodities included EUR 287 million (2012: EUR 175 million) valued at lower market 

value.

In 2013 the write-down of inventories to net realisable value amounted to EUR 30 million (2012: EUR 17 million).  

The write-down is included in the raw materials and consumables used.

No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities.

 

17 Trade and other receivables  

2013 2012

Trade receivables 1,163 966

Receivable from affiliated companies 12 39

Other receivables 63 98

Provision for doubtful debts -14 -15

1,224 1,088

Receivables related to tax (excluding income tax) and social security 
contributions 67 99

Prepayments 44 34

1,335 1,221

Provision for doubtful debts

At 1 January -15 -14

Acquired through acquisition -3 -2

Charged to the income statement -1 -3

Released to the income statement 1 2

Trade receivables written off 4 2

At 31 December -14 -15

Maturity schedule: trade and other receivables Gross Write-down Net

Within payment term 1,128 -3 1,125

Overdue by less than 3 months 95 -1 94

Overdue by 3 - 6 months 5  5

Overdue by more than 6 months 10 -10  

1,238 -14 1,224

The additions and releases of the provision for doubtful debts have been included in other operating expenses (Note 8). 

Amounts charged to the provisions account are written-down, when it is not expected that these are collectable.

Trade and other receivables are non-interest-bearing and generally fall due between 10 and 90 days.

In various countries FrieslandCampina has taken out credit insurance to mitigate the credit risk related to customers. 

At the end of 2013 this insured position amounted to EUR 318 million (2012: EUR 348 million). 
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18 Cash and cash equivalents 

2013 2012

Deposits 157 288

Cash and cash equivalents 403 468

560 756

Cash and cash equivalents up to an amount of EUR 21 million (2012: EUR 6 million) are not at FrieslandCampina’s free 

disposal. These amounts are fully related to bank guarantees.

19  Equity

Issued capital

The number of shares in issue at both the start and the end of the year was 3,702,777. EUR 370 million has been paid up 

on these shares. The authorised capital amounts to EUR 1,000 million, divided into 10,000,000 shares with a nominal 

value of EUR 100. The shares are held by Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A.

Share premium reserve

The share premium comprises the amount in excess of the nominal value paid up when shares are issued.

Perpetual notes

On 3 June 2013 FrieslandCampina repaid its 7.125% perpetual cumulative subordinated notes with a nominal amount of 

EUR 125 million from 2003. The notes are no longer listed on Euronext Amsterdam. In addition to the nominal amount 

of the notes owed interest was paid.

Until the moment the perpetual cumulative subordinated notes were repaid, EUR 4 million (2012: EUR 9 million) from 

the profit over the 2013 financial year was attributed to the holders of the perpetual notes.

Member bonds

The member bonds comprise registered fixed member bonds and unrestricted member bonds. Registered fixed 

member bonds cannot be traded. On the termination of business activities and the termination of the membership the 

registered fixed member bonds are automatically converted into unrestricted member bonds. Legal bodies that are 

members of FrieslandCampina can also convert registered fixed member bonds into unrestricted member bonds on the 

transfer of business between members. Unrestricted member bonds can be held interest-bearing and can be traded 

between member bond holders.

Member bonds have been issued to Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. and its members. The member bonds are 

perpetual and have no expiry date. The interest charge for the member bonds is the six month Euribor plus 3.0% as at 

1 June and 1 December of the year in question. The bonds are subordinated to the claims of all other existing and future 

creditors to the extent that these are not subordinated. Member dairy farmers receive a part of their compensation 

for the supply of milk during the financial year in the form of fixed member bonds. Interest payments may be deferred, 

provided that Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. has not fixed or distributed any performance premium in the 12 months prior 

to the annual coupon date. Deferred interest becomes payable on the date on which a performance premium is next 

distributed. Member bonds are classified as equity.

From the profit over the 2013 financial year, EUR 34 million (2012: 41 million) is attributed to the holders of the member 

bonds. In addition, in 2013 EUR 114 million (2012: 84 million) is attributed to member dairy farmers through the issue of 

fixed member bonds as part of the compensation for milk supplied during 2013.
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Cooperative loan

As of 30 December 2013 the EUR 290 million subordinated loan advanced to Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. by 

Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. in 2009 has been converted into a perpetual subordinated loan. The interest 

rate applicable for the EUR 290 million perpetual subordinated loan is the six months Euribor plus 3.0%, as at 1 June 

and 1 December of the respective year. The loan from the Cooperative is subordinated to the claims from all other 

existing and future creditors to the extent that these are not subordinated. Interest payments may be deferred, 

provided that Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. has not fixed or distributed any performance premium in the 12 months 

prior to the annual interest payment date. Deferrered interest becomes payable on the date on which a performance 

premium is next distributed. The perpetual subordinated loan from the Cooperative is classified as equity.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve concerns the changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets.

Cash flow hedge reserve

The cash flow hedge reserve concerns changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps and 

forward currency contracts to the extent they classify as effective hedge relationships and are recognised as cash flow 

hedges.

Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve concerns accrued gains and losses on foreign currency translation at subsidiaries, 

and currency valuation gains and losses on loans of a permanent nature granted to subsidiaries.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings concerns the balance of accrued profits which have not been distributed to the shareholder. 

Pursuant to the Articles of Association a decision to distribute dividend may be taken if and to the extent that equity 

exceeds the issued share capital plus the statutory reserves.

Non-controlling interests

The item non-controlling interests concerns the share in equity that is not attributed to FrieslandCampina.

The exercise date of the DFE put-option expired in June 2013, refer to Note 14. As FrieslandCampina has retained 

control over DMV-Fonterra Excipients GmbH & Co KG since the expiry of this put-option, the transaction has been 

recognised as a transaction between shareholders. As a result the EUR 183 million liability related to the put-option has 

been charged to the reserves and the non-controlling interest within equity. Due to the expiry of the DFE put-option 

the share of Fonterra Co-operative Group Ltd. in DMV-Fonterra Excipients GmbH & Co KG has been classified as a non-

controlling interest since the expiry date. 
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20  Employee benefits

FrieslandCampina operates a number of defined benefit plans with obligations that relate primarily to the Dutch and 

German divisions. These plans are principally indexed average salary plans. FrieslandCampina also has a number of 

defined contribution plans for its Dutch and foreign activities. At the end of 2013 91% of the pension obligations related 

to defined benefit plans concerned two pension plans for Dutch employees explained in more detail below.

Former Campina employees Former Friesland Foods employees 

and new FrieslandCampina employees

Plan characteristics The pension plan is based on the collective labour agreement for the dairy industry, 

offers the entitlement to an old-age pension and a next-of kin pension and has a 

retirement age of 65, (as of 1 January 2014: 67). Each year the accumulated entitlements 

of employees are increased by the general wage index applicable for the dairy industry. 

The entitlements of non-active participants are increased each year, by a maximum of 

the 'consumer price index based on all households', on the basis of a resolution of the 

management of the company pension fund (former Campina employees) and the Board 

of FrieslandCampina (former Friesland Foods employees and new FrieslandCampina 

employees). The award is conditional. No maximum salary stipulation is applicable for the 

pension accruals of the former Friesland Foods employees. For the other participants the 

pension on salary above EUR 59,434 (2013) is accrued via a defined contribution plan. 

Pension administrator The company pension fund An insurance company, in a segregated 

investment fund via a guarantee 

contract

Financing agreements Each year FrieslandCampina pays 

a premium that covers the costs, 

which include the actuarial costs of 

pension accrual and indexing for active 

participants. In addition, supplementary 

financial agreements have been reached 

(extra premium and supplementary 

payments in the case of coverage 

shortfall) amounting to EUR 77 million 

up to 2014. This amount has been 

paid and there are no supplementary 

payments owing. At the end of 2013 

the administration agreement with the 

pension fund was terminated so this 

formally expires at the end of 2014. 

At the end of 2013 the coverage ratio 

was 102.7%.

In addition to the costs of actuarial 

accrual and indexing, payments for 

increases in the mortality rates are also 

charged. As long as the fund’s coverage 

ratio at the end of the year meets the 

contractual condition of being higher 

than 110%, no additional payments are 

required. If, however, the coverage ratio 

remains lower than the contractual 

110% for the following 18 months a 

supplementary payment to restore 

the 110% coverage ratio is required. 

At the end of 2013 the coverage ratio 

was 114.8%.

Supervision and governance The pension premium and required 

buffers are calculated on the basis of the 

stipulations of the Pension Act. According 

to these stipulations the pension premium 

should cover the costs and the pension 

fund's coverage ratio at the end of 2013 

was fixed at a minimum of 104%. The 

Nederlandsche Bank (DNB) supervises this. 

As the coverage ratio at the end of 2013 

was 102.7%, the pension fund management 

has prepared itself for possible discount 

measures. The pension fund's management 

comprises representatives of the employer, 

employees and pensioners.

The responsibility for retaining sufficient 

means to pay out all pensions rests 

with the insurance company. This is 

supervised by the DNB. 

The pension premium is determined on 

the basis of the principles specified in 

the insurance contract.

The investment policy for the insurance 

contract is drawn-up in consultations 

between FrieslandCampina and the 

insurance company. 

Financial statements Notes to the consolidated financial statements



	 	

113
Participants Approximately 15% of the participants are 

active, 35% are former employees and 

50% are retired. The average duration of 

the pension obligations is around 15 years.

Approximately 65% of the participants 

are active, 25% are former employees 

and 10% are retired. The average 

duration of the pension obligations is 

around 20 years.

Principal risks After the agreed recovery payment untill 

2013 FrieslandCampina is not liable for 

any further supplementary payments. 

This means the risks related to the plan 

are, to a great extent, borne by the 

pension fund. 

The greatest risk is that the coverage 

ratio at the end of the year drops 

below 110%. If it does, after 18 months 

FrieslandCampina is obliged to make a 

one-time payment such that the 110% 

covered ratio is restored. As the pension 

obligations in the contract are calculated 

on the basis of a fixed interest rate, the 

development of the plan assets is of 

significant influence on the coverage 

rate.

The tables below summarise the assumptions used in determining the present value and movements in the present value 

of the pension obligation and plan assets and the components of the net benefit expense recognised in the consolidated 

statement of financial position and consolidated income statement.

Assumptions 1 2013 2012

 % %

Discount rate 3.2 / 3.5 3.3 / 3.9

Wage inflation 2.5 2.5

Price inflation 2.0 2.0

Indexation 

 - active 2.5 2.5

 - non-active and retired 0.0 - 1.8 0.0 - 1.7

Life expectancy in years in years

 - 65 year old man / woman at end of 2013 20.4 / 22.9 20.3 / 22.8

 - 65 year old man / woman over 20 years 22.4 / 24.0 22.3 / 24.0

1  The percentages shown concern the Dutch pension plans mentioned above and a transition regulation instigated in the past, which represent 94% 
(2012: 93%) of the present value of the defined benefit obligations, 99% (2012: 99%) of the fair value of the plan assets respectively.

The discount rate method applied gives a true reflection of the market for high-quality corporate bonds and takes the 

volatility of the interest on loans with a longer term into account in the correct manner.
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Movement in defined benefit obligation 2013 2012

Present  
value of 
defined 
benefit 

obligations
Fair value of 
plan assets

Net pension  
obligation

Present 
value of 
defined 
benefit 

obligations
Fair value of 
plan assets

Net pension  
obligation

At 1 January 2,841 2,243 598 2,288 1,969 319

Acquired through acquisition    11 11  

Reclassification 2  2    

Current service costs1 72  72 59  59

Adjustment to pension plan -29  -29    

Interest expense/income1 99 81 18 105 94 11

Adminstration and 
implementation costs  -3 3  -2 2

Contributions received  77 -77  44 -44

Benefits paid -93 -93  -90 -90  

Currency translation 
differences -8 -2 -6 -2  -2

Return on plan assets  36 -36  217 -217

Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from changes in 
financial assumptions 

81  81 467  467

Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions 

-1  -1 2  2

Mutations due to file 
development -1  -1 1  1

At 31 December 2,963 2,339 624 2,841 2,243 598

Classification 

Non-current assets 6 4

Non-current liabilities 630 602

1  As of 2013 the interest expenses related to the current service costs are no longer recognised under interest expenses but as current service costs. 
The comparative figures for 2012 have been adjusted.

At the end of 2013, EUR 236 million of the EUR 2,963 million in awarded pension entitlements had not yet been funded 

(2012: EUR 248 million).

Pension costs recognised through the income statement 2013 2012

Current service cost 72 59

Adjustment of pension plan -29  

Interest expense 18 11

Administration and implementation costs 3 2

Expense recognised in the income statement for IAS 19-based defined benefit 
plans 64 72

Pension costs for defined contribution plans 23 21

Employees' share in pension costs -5 -5

Pension costs recognised through the income statement 82 88

The adjustment to the pension plan is related primarily to the raising of the pensionable age to 67 years for Dutch 

plans.

The Dutch multi-employer plans are to qualify as defined contribution plans. FrieslandCampina expects to contribute 

EUR 120 million towards its defined benefit plans in 2014 and EUR 23 million towards its defined contribution plans.
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Principal plan asset categories, by percentage of fair value 2013 2012

% % % %

Company 
pension fund

Insurance 
contract

Company 
pension fund

Insurance 
contract

Shares

- North America 8  5  

- Europe 4  6  

- Far East including Japan 2  2  

- Emerging Markets 4  4  

- Other 3  2

Fixed interest rate securities

- Investment grade 29  34

- Non-investment grade 1  1  

Guaranteed value of insurance contract  48  45

Total 51 48 54 45

At the end of 2013 the investments in the company pension fund and the guaranteed value of the insurance contract 

accounted to 51% and 48% of the total investments respectively. The remaining investments (1% of the total 

investments) concerned foreign pension plans and comprised insurance contracts and various investments. Of the 

investments in the company pension fund EUR 6 million (2012: EUR 5 million) is not listed on any stock exchange either 

directly or indirectly. In addition, approximately EUR 25 million is invested in subordinated bonds Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A. As far as the company pension fund is concerned, 51% of the interest rate risk related to the 

obligation is hedged by means of a liability-matching portfolio, for the most part consisting of physical Government 

bonds. For the major portion of the remaining fixed interest securities and the shares, 70% to 100% of the currency 

risk is hedged. The value of the investments in the insurance contract is derived from the guaranteed value of this 

contract. The profit sharing in this contract is, however, determined by the investments in the segregated investment 

depot. Approximately 50% of these investments are fixed-income securities, 44% are shares and 6% are other 

investments. Because the insurer determines the pension obligation at a fixed interest rate, use of interest rate hedging 

is limited.

The impact of a change in a key assumption on the present value of the defined benefit obligation granted in respect of 

the Dutch settlements is shown in the tables below.

Effect on the present value of the pension entitlements granted at 
December 31

 
2013

Increase Decrease

Change of 0.25% to discount rate -116 125

Change of 0.25% to wage inflation and indexing actives 33 -31

Change of 0.25% to indexing non-actives 89 -84

Change of 1 year to life expectancy 91 -90

The impact as specified above was determined by the actuary who carried out the actuarial calculations. Changes 

in several assumptions could result in cross-effects that have additional implications for the individual securities. 

In addition, the consequences for the net pension obligation are generally less because the effects shown above will 

be partly compensated by a change in the value of investments or the indexation-assumption.
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Impact of IAS 19 (revised 2011)

IAS 19 (revised 2011) has been applied since 1 January 2013. As a result, the expected return on plan assets of defined 

benefit plans is not recognised in the income statement. Instead, the interest on the net pension obligation related to 

defined benefit plans is recognised in the income statement. This is calculated by multiplying the net pension obligation 

discount rate used to value the pension entitlements.

As yet unrecognised costs related to past service years can also no longer be deferred and accounted for during future 

service years. Instead, all costs related to past service years are recognised at the moment a change in a pension 

plan is implemented or at the moment FrieslandCampina absorbs the costs of restructuring or termination. Until 2012 

costs related to past service years were recognised on a straight line basis as liabilities in the average period until the 

agreements were awarded unconditionally.

The impact of IAS 19 (revised 2011) on the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2012:

Impact of IAS 19 (revised 2011) on net pension obligation

Net pension obligation before implementation 257

Increase in net pension obligation from implementation 341

Net pension obligation after implementation 598

Classified under fixed assets 4

Classified under non-current liabilities 602

Impact of IAS 19 (revised 2011) on equity

Increase in net pension obligation -341

Increase in deferred tax assets 85

Net effect on equity -256

Of the EUR 256 million negative impact on equity, EUR 260 million negative exists of not yet recognised actuarial results 

and not yet recognised past service costs, and EUR 4 million positive is the net impact on 2012 income statement (mainly 

as a result of the calculation of the revenue from investments on the basis of the discount rate used to discount the 

defined pension agreements). Of the not yet recognised actuarial results and not yet recognised past service costs (EUR 

260 million) EUR 190 million concerns 2012 and EUR 70 million concerns prior years.

The impact of IAS 19 (revised 2011) on the consolidated income statement at 31 December 2012:

Increase in profit before tax 5

Increase in tax effect -1

Increase in profit before tax 4

Remeasurement of net pension obligation before 2012, after tax, recognised in the start of 
year balance -70

Remeasurement of net pension obligation, after tax, recognised in comprehensive income -190

Total remeasurement of net pension obligation -260

Net effect on equity -256
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21 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Assets and liabilities per type of temporary difference 2013

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
Intangible 

assets
Employee 

benefits

Invento-
ries, trade 

receivables, 
derivatives, 

accounts 
payable and 

provisions

Unused tax 
losses and 

relief facilities Total

At 1 January -60 33 116 41 37 167

Acquired through acquisitions -12 -12

Recognised through the income 
statement 4 22 -8 16 34

Recognised in equity 10 9 8 27

Currency translation differences 3 6 -1 -3 5

Other 1 1

At 31 December -53 49 117 64 45 222

Deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the following items of the statement of financial position:

Assets Liabilities Net

Property, plant and equipment 3 56 -53

Intangible assets 108 59 49

Employee benefits 120 3 117

Inventories, trade receivables, derivatives, accounts 
payable and provisions 69 5 64

Unused tax losses and facilities 45 45

Netting -25 -25 

Net deferred tax asset 320 98 222

Assets and liabilities per type of temporary difference 2012

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
Intangible 

assets
Employee 

benefits

Invento-
ries, trade 

receivables, 
derivatives, 

accounts 
payable and 

provisions

Unused tax 
losses and 

relief facilities Total

At 1 January -43 90 17 27 70 161

Acquired through acquisitions -5 -41 1 -45

Recognised through the income 
statement -12 -14 14 9 -43 -46

Recognised in equity 85 4 10 99

Currency translation differences -2 -2

At 31 December -60 33 116 41 37 167

Deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the following items of the statement of financial position items:

Assets Liabilities Net

Property, plant and equipment 2 62 -60

Intangible assets 114 81 33

Employee benefits 116 116

Inventories, trade receivables, derivatives, accounts 
payable and provisions 52 11 41

Unused tax losses and facilities 37 37

Netting -26 -26 

Net deferred tax asset 295 128 167
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On the basis of its long-term plans, FrieslandCampina expects to be able to offset unused tax losses and facilities 

against future profits.

Deferred tax assets are not recognised if it is not probable that there will be future taxable profits within the entities 

against which the losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following losses and facilities:

2013 2012

Tax losses 334 321 

Facilities 1 2 

335 323 

EUR 4 million of the unrecognised losses expire between 5 and 10 years. The remaining unrecognised losses and 

facilities will not elapse under the current fiscal rules.

22 Provisions

2013 2012

Restructuring
Other 

provisions Total Restructuring
Other 

provisions Total

At 1 January 41 24 65 26 36 62 

Additions charged to the income 
statement 17 7 24 33 21 54 

Released to the income statement -5 -7 -12 -4 -18 -22 

Utilised -20 -10 -30 -14 -15 -29 

At 31 December 33 14 47 41 24 65 

      

Non-current provisions 17 7 24 3 6 9 

Current provisions 16 7 23 38 18 56 

33 14 47 41 24 65 

Restructuring provisions

In 2013 FrieslandCampina started a new long-term reorganisation programme, called Reshape, in the business group 

Consumer Products EMEA. The primary focus of Reshape is to reduce complexity, improve efficiency and commercial 

effectiveness, and release the means to invest in FrieslandCampina’s brands, technology and innovation. As phase 1 

of Reshape was announced in 2013, at the end of 2013 a restructuring provision was formed for the programme. The 

provision comprises primarily redundancy payments plus related costs as a consequence of the closure and shrinking 

of production facilities in the Netherlands.

In addition, in previous years FrieslandCampina formed various provisions for the reorganisation of production and 

packing facilities. In 2013 the withdrawals and releases were mainly related to the provision for the Consumer Products 

EMEA business group’s facilities in Germany and to the provision for the Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder business group’s 

Sénas facility. At the end of 2013 the reorganisation of the production and packing facilities in Elsterwerda were 

complete. The remaining restructuring provisions relate mainly to the production facilities in Germany and Hungary, 

all of which are part of the Consumer Products EMEA business group.

The restructuring provisions will result in future cash outflows. The provisions are recognised at nominal value because 

their present value is not materially different.

Other provisions 

These provisions are formed for obligations the extent or likelihood of which is uncertain at the statement of financial 

position date. These provisions are stated at nominal value as their present value is not materially different. 

Other provisions include EUR 2 million (2012: EUR 11 million) for onerous contracts. The remainder relates primarily to 

received claims and other provisions.
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23 Interest-bearing borrowings

2013 2012

Amounts owed to syndicate of credit institutions 245 145 

Amounts owed to institutional investors 531 552 

Loans from affiliated company 290 

Loans from member dairy farmers 41 33 

Finance lease liabilities 11 14 

Amounts owed to credit institutions 12 12 

Other interest-bearing borrowings 36 34 

876 1,080 

The terms and conditions of outstanding non-current loans are as follows:

Loan Currency

Nominal 
interest 

rate
Year of 

maturity

Nominal 
amount 

2013

Carrying 
amount 

2013

Nominal 
amount 

2012

Carrying 
amount 

2012

Syndicate (variable interest) EUR 1.2 2015 250 245 150 145 

Private Placement (fixed interest) USD/EUR 4.4 2017 107 107 110 110 

Private Placement (fixed interest) USD 5.7 2020 96 96 100 100 

Private Placement (fixed interest) USD 4.0 2022 58 58 61 61 

Private Placement (fixed interest) USD 4.2 2024 106 106 111 111 

Private Placement (fixed interest) USD 4.0 2027 164 164 171 170 

Loan from Zuivelcoöperatie 
FrieslandCampina U.A.  
(variable interest)

EUR 290 290 

Loans from member dairy farmers 
(variable interest) EUR 1.8 2015 41 41 33 33 

Fonterra (variable interest) EUR/NZD 2.2 2018 29 29 29 29 

Other 30 30 31 31 

  881 876 1,086 1,080 

Owed to syndicate of credit institutions 

In 2011 agreement was reached with a syndicate of credit institutions regarding a EUR 1 billion refinancing of the credit 

facility with a term until August 2015. On 31 December 2013 EUR 490 million of the credit facility had been utilised 

(2012: EUR 185 million), of which EUR 240 million (2012: EUR 35 million) is recognised as current. 

Borrowings from institutional investors (private placements)

In total FrieslandCampina took out private loans with institutional investors in the United States amounting to 

USD 696 million (2012: USD 808 million) and a private loan with an European investor amounting to EUR 25 million 

(2012: EUR 25 million). 

In June 2012 FrieslandCampina took out private loans amounting to USD 500 million with institutional investors in the 

United States. These private placements, effective as of August 2012, have terms between 5 and 15 years and fixed 

interest rates in dollars between 3.1% and 4.2% depending on the term. These loans are intended, inter alia, to finance 

possible acquisitions. 

Cross-currency swaps have been used to convert the USD repayment and interest obligations related to these 

borrowings into EUR obligations at fixed interest rates. The cross-currency swaps were entered into to hedge the cash 

flows. Cash flow hedging has been applied to them. The cross-currency swaps have been recognised at fair value. 

The portion of the gains and losses made on these hedge instruments regarded as effective is recognised directly in 

equity. The borrowings of USD 696 million (2012: USD 808 million) have been fixed by these swaps at EUR 532 million 

(2012: EUR 627 million). 

On 31 December 2013 the total amount of borrowings from institutional investors (private placements) was classified as 

non-current (2012: EUR 552 million). 
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Loans from affiliated company

This concerns a subordinated loan from Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A., which was converted into a perpetual 

subordinated loan on 30 December 2013. At the end of 2013 this loan was, therefore, classified as equity, refer to Note 19.

Loans from member dairy farmers

These loans concern the non-current portion of three-year deposit loans held by member dairy farmers.

Financial lease liabilities

2013 2012

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments Interest

Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments Interest

Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments

Less than one year 4 4 4 4 

Between 1 and 5 years 11 9 12 10 

More than five years 3 2 6 4 

18 7.2 15 22 6.6 18 

The lease installments payable include EUR 11 million (present value EUR 9 million) for the agreement with a third party 

for ripening, storing and packaging cheese (2012: EUR 14 million). This agreement expires in 2020.

EUR 4 million (2012: EUR 4 million) of the present value of the minimum lease payments is current and recognised 

under current borrowings. 

No security has been provided for current and non-current borrowings.

24 Other financial liabilities        

2013 2012

Derivatives 67 46 

Contingent consideration 20 

87 46 

For information regarding the contingent consideration please refer to Notes 2 and 30. For information regarding 

derivatives refer to Note 14.

25 Current borrowings 

2013 2012

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 255 150 

Current interest-bearing borrowings 66 187 

Bank overdrafts 50 56 

371 393 

At the end of 2013 an amount of EUR 66 million (2012: EUR 72 million) for Commercial papers was recognised under 

current interest-bearing borrowings. The bank facility was terminated as of 31 December 2013 (2012: EUR 115 million).

The average interest rate on current borrowings at the end of 2013 was 1.3% (2012: 2.5%).

26 Trade and other payables 

2013 2012

Amounts owed to member dairy farmers 586 472 

Trade creditors 1,176 1,062 

Payables related to tax (excluding income tax) and social security 
contributions 32 37 

Payable to affiliated company 1 

Other payables 451 401 

2,245 1,973 
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27 Commitments and contingencies

2013

2014 2015 - 2018 After 2018 Total 

Guarantees to third parties 9 1 10 

Operational lease obligations 43 92 32 167 

Purchase commitments for non-current assets 210 33 243 

Tax contingencies  46 46 

Other liabilities 39 48 87 

301 219 33 553 

2012 

2013 2014 - 2017 After 2017 Total 

Guarantees to third parties 4   4 

Operational lease obligations 37 69 7 113 

Purchase commitments for non-current assets 107 9  116 

Tax contingencies  18  18 

Other liabilities 46 72 1 119 

194 168 8 370 

FrieslandCampina has granted the second shareholder of Frisian Flag Singapore (Holdings) Pte Ltd a call option 

whereby the second shareholder has the right, subject to certain conditions, to purchase 4.3% of the shares in Frisian 

Flag Singapore (Holdings) Pte Ltd from FrieslandCampina in the period 2012 to 2015. Currently the second shareholder 

has not utilised this call option.

In the context of the merger in 2008 Friesland Foods and Campina made two commitments to the European 

Commission.

The first commitment requires member dairy farmers of Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. who terminate their 

membership to be paid a lump-sum leaving premium of EUR 5 per 100 kilograms of milk delivered in the year preceding 

the year in which the application for eligibility for the lump-sum leaving premium is made. The eligibility requirement 

for the lump-sum leaving premium is that the member dairy farmer must become a supplier to another purchaser of 

raw milk in the Netherlands. 

The second commitment is that a maximum of 1.2 billion kilograms of raw milk per annum must be made available 

to purchasers who have a dairy plant and who produce fresh dairy products or naturally ripened Dutch cheese, or 

either of these in combination with other dairy products. Purchasers may only obtain this milk to expand production 

in existing plants, for production in new plants or for production in the plants in Nijkerk (fresh dairy products) and 

Bleskensgraaf (cheese) disposed of by FrieslandCampina in accordance with the agreement with the European 

Commission. 

The milk is to be made available through an independent foundation. The price of the milk is the guaranteed milk price 

(paid by FrieslandCampina for milk delivered by its member dairy farmers) applicable in the month of delivery. There 

will be a discount of 1 percent on this price for the first five years after the commitment takes effect. This five-year 

period will expire on 1 July 2014, after which this discount will no longer be applicable.

 

The commitments will remain in force until member dairy farmers with a total milk volume of 1.2 billion kilograms have 

left FrieslandCampina or until the requirement is withdrawn by the European Commission when it is convinced that 

sufficient Dutch raw milk is available for the aforementioned purchasers.

The business units that had to be sold at the time of the merger and that now form part of Arla Foods and Deltamilk, 

utilise this possibility. The Dutch Milk Foundation has reserved 0.9 billion kilograms of the available 1.2 billion kilograms 

of milk for these market parties. In December 2013 FrieslandCampina and A-ware signed a contract with a term of 

10 years for the supply of around 0.3 billion kilograms of milk (the available remainder of the 1.2 billion kilograms of raw 

milk). Deliveries of raw milk to A-ware are planned to commence between 1 December 2014 and 1 May 2015.
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28  Related parties

Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. is the sole shareholder of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.

Refer to Note 29 for the remuneration of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board.

Refer to Note 20 for pensions. 

Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A.

Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A., the shareholder of the company, and FrieslandCampina Nederland B.V., a 

subsidiary of the company, have agreed that the latter will purchase the milk supplied by the Cooperative's members. 

In 2013 this was 9.3 billion kilograms (2012: 8.9 billion kilograms). The price to be paid for this milk is based on the 

weighted average milk price in Germany, the Netherlands, Denmark and Belgium, which represents 48 billion kilograms 

of milk in total. The milk price calculated in this way is guaranteed and, therefore, referred to as the guaranteed price. 

Out of the profit of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V., after deduction of profit attributable to providers of member bonds, 

providers of perpetual notes and non-controlling interests, 50% is added to the company’s equity, 30% is paid out 

to member dairy farmers as a performance payment for the milk supplied and 20% is paid out to the member dairy 

farmers in the form of fixed member bonds. The reserve policy is reviewed every three years. On the basis of the review 

of the reserve policy it has been decided that, as of 2014, 45% will be added to the Company’s equity, 35% will be paid 

out to the member dairy farmers in cash as a performance premium and 20% will be paid out to member dairy farmers 

in the form of fixed member bonds. Under both the current and the revised reserve policy the Executive Board may, 

in the event of an impairment greater than EUR 100 million, decide to add the entire amount to the Company’s equity. 

This option was utilised for the goodwill impairment of EUR 200 million.

Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. issued a subordinated loan to finance the assets of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. 

Interest costs were charged on this loan throughout the year. On 30 December 2013 this loan was converted into a 

perpetual subordinated loan as explained in Note 19.

EUR 253 million (2012: EUR 270 million) of the member bonds are placed with Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. 

The accrued interest on these member bonds amounted to EUR 8 million on 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012:  

EUR 11 million).

2013 2012

Interest charged by Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. -5 -7 

Receivable from Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. 12 39 

Payable to Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A.  291 

Joint ventures and associates

FrieslandCampina regularly purchases and sells goods from and/or to associated companies in which FrieslandCampina 

has an interest of 50% or less and over which it can exercise significant influence. The conditions under which these 

transactions can take place are the same as for transactions with third parties. The relations are specified in the table 

below:

2013 2012

Purchase of raw materials, consumables and goods for resale 47 41 

Sale of raw materials, consumables and goods for resale 74 64 

Receivable from joint ventures and associates 37 39 

Payable to joint ventures and associates 5 4 
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Supervisory Board and Executive Board

As member dairy farmers the members of the Supervisory Board who are also members of the Cooperative’s Board 

conduct transactions with FrieslandCampina, including supplying FrieslandCampina with milk, and also hold member 

bonds. This results in an obligation on 31 December to recompense the members of the Supervisory Board for the milk 

they have supplied. The Supervisory Board members also hold member bonds and deposit loans. The relations are 

specified in the table below:

2013 2012

Purchase of raw materials 3 3 

Member bonds 2 1 

29 Remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board

2013 2012

Supervisory Board  

Short-term remuneration 0.9 0.9 

 0.9 0.9 

Executive Board   

Short-term remuneration  4.5 4.1 

Long-term remuneration  1.4 1.5 

Pension plans 0.8 0.8 

Remuneration of Executive Board excluding crisis levy 6.7 6.4 

Crisis levy 0.5 0.9 

Remuneration of Executive Board including crisis levy 7.2 7.3 

In both 2013 and 2014 employers have been charged a crisis levy of 16% on the wage from current employment that an 

employee was paid in 2012 respectively 2013, to the extent that the wage was higher than EUR 150,000.

30  Financial risk management and financial instruments

Capital management

FrieslandCampina strives to achieve a balance between a prudent financing and reserve policy, investment in the 

Company and payments to the member dairy farmers. The relationship between the reserves and the payments to 

member dairy farmers is reviewed every three years and approved by the Member Council. When reviewing the policy 

future circumstances are taken into consideration. Unforeseen circumstances and risks over which FrieslandCampina 

has no influence are also taken into account.

The Executive Board, under the supervision of the Supervisory Board, is responsible for, and formulates the policy for, 

FrieslandCampina’s risk management and internal control measures. This policy is revised on a regular basis to ensure 

it reflects changes in market conditions or activities. The internal control framework within FrieslandCampina supports 

the Executive Board in its monitoring tasks. 
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Financial risk management 

FrieslandCampina is a multinational concern with many operating companies in various countries. This makes 

FrieslandCampina sensitive to various financial risks, such as credit risks, interest rate risks, liquidity risks and currency 

translation risks. The general risk policy is aimed at identifying and analysing risks and, if necessary, mitigating 

these risks in such a way that possible negative financial results are prevented. Corporate Treasury has been given 

the mandate to implement these mitigating measures. These measures are laid-down in clearly formulated policy. 

Corporate Treasury reports the exposure to financial risks, including the liquidity risk, currency translation risk, 

interest rate risk and credit risk related to financial services providers to the Treasury Committee.

FrieslandCampina’s principal financial instruments are borrowings from credit institutions and institutional investors, 

members bonds and cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of this mix of financial instruments is to raise 

funds for FrieslandCampina’s operations from a variety of markets and investors. FrieslandCampina has various 

other financial instruments, such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations. 

FrieslandCampina monitors the market risks relative to all financial instruments, mainly currency risks and interest rate 

risks, very closely.

FrieslandCampina also enters into derivative transactions, primarily forward currency contracts and interest rate 

swaps, in order to manage the currency risks and interest rate risks arising from its operations and the financing of its 

operations. FrieslandCampina’s policy is, and has been throughout the year under review, that no trading in financial 

instruments takes place for speculative purposes. The main risks arising from FrieslandCampina’s financial instruments 

are foreign currency risks, interest rate risks, liquidity risks and credit risks. 

Currency risks 

As FrieslandCampina conducts business worldwide, a considerable portion of its assets, liabilities and results is 

sensitive to currency fluctuations. The purpose of the policy for managing transaction risks is to limit the effect of 

currency fluctuations on financial performance. Although, in principle, transaction risks are hedged, specific product 

and market circumstances may mean that this is not done, for example in the case of the Nigerian naira, the Indonesian 

rupiah and the Vietnamese dong. 

Currency risks resulting from investments in foreign subsidiaries and joint ventures and associates are, in principle, 

not hedged. By financing foreign subsidiaries in the local currency to the extent that this is possible, the risk arising 

from a currency ‘mismatch’ between assets and liabilities is limited. The solvency requirements that FrieslandCampina 

imposes on its foreign subsidiaries do, however, result in a degree of currency translation risk.

Exposure of currency risk 

The summary of quantitative data about FrieslandCampina’s exposure to foreign currency risk provided to 

management based on its risk management policy was as follows (positions given in EUR):

2013 2012

EUR/
USD

NGN/
USD

IDR/
USD

SGD/
HKD

EUR/
CNY

EUR/
USD

NGN/
USD

IDR/
USD

SGD/
HKD

EUR/
CNY

Receivables 80 3 46 42 40  2 31 57 

Cash 3 5 1 2 

Liabilities 16 59 33 14 5 38 

Net statement of financial 
position 67 -59 -30 46 42 31 -4 -34 31 57 

Forecast sales next year 668 18 149 206 644 150 200 

Forecast purchases next year 29 364 349 30 318 246 

Net forecast transaction exposure 639 -364 -331 149 206 614 -318 -246 150 200 

Forward exchange contracts 91 42 108 25 

Net exposure 31 December EUR 615 -423 -361 153 248 537 -322 -280 156 257 
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Sensitivity analysis

FrieslandCampina is sensitive primarily to fluctuations in the US dollar exchange rate due to its sales and purchases in 

dollars. The largest currency pairings are EUR/USD, NGN/USD, IDR/USD, SGD/HKD and EUR/CNY. As far as the euro is 

concerned this relates mainly to sales in American dollars and Chinese yuan. As far as other currencies are concerned 

this relates mainly to the purchase of raw materials on the world market. The breakdown below summarises the impact 

of 5% change of the specified exchange rate against the local currency in the income statement. A change in the 

exchange rate of 5% is assumed to be a realistic possibility.

A positive figure means an increase in profit and in the amount of the cash flow hedge reserve, while a negative figure 

means a decrease. Currently there are no large cash flow hedges, which is why they have not been reported.

A strengthening (weakening) of the specified exchange rate, as indicated below, against the EUR, NGN, IDR, and SGD at 

31 December would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis is 

based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that FrieslandCampina considered to be reasonably possible at the 

reporting date. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

Strengthening Weakening

(in EUR)
Effect on profit  

or loss
Effect on profit  

or loss

31 december 2013

USD (5% movement against EUR) 31 -31 

USD (5% movement against NGN) -21 21 

USD (5% movement against IDR) -18 18 

HKD (5% movement against SGD) 8 -8 

CNY (5% movement against n EUR) 12 -12 

31 december 2012

USD (5% movement against EUR) 28 -28 

USD (5% movement against NGN) -16 16 

USD (5% movement against IDR) -14 14 

HKD (5% movement against SGD) 8 -8 

CNY (5% movement against EUR) 13 -13 

Interest rate risk

The objective of interest rate risk management is to limit the effect of interest rate fluctuations on profit and to reduce 

interest expense where possible. Interest rate derivatives are used to match the effective interest in borrowings to the 

intended interest rate risk profile. The average percentage of FrieslandCampina’s interest bearing instruments (with 

the exception of member bonds, the perpetual loan to an associated company and the loan to member dairy farmers) 

that is characterised by a fixed interest percentage or is fixed by means of a hedge, is expected to average 81% for the 

next 5 years. The overview below shows the situation at the end of the year:

2013 2012

Interest on borrowings
Carrying 
amount 

excluding 
hedging

Carrying 
amount 

including 
hedging

Carrying 
amount 

excluding 
hedging

Carrying 
amount 

including 
hedging

Fixed rate 550 750 656 956 

Floating rate 697 497 817 517 

1,247 1,247 1,473 1,473 
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FrieslandCampina carried out a sensitivity analysis based on the influence of interest rates on derivatives and other 

financial instruments at the end of the year. The analysis of cash and cash equivalents and liabilities with variable 

interest rates was carried out based on the assumption that the outstanding amount at the end of the year had been 

outstanding throughout the year. This sensitivity analysis indicated that, if interest had risen or fallen by 0.5%, the 

cumulative interest expense for the current year would have been less than 1 million euro higher or lower. 

Liquidity risk

FrieslandCampina’s objective is to maintain a balance between the continuity and flexibility of its funding by using 

a range of financial instruments. Total net debt should be covered mainly by long-term borrowings and committed 

credit facilities. FrieslandCampina manages its liquidity mainly by keeping available a significant amount of headroom 

under the unconditional credit facilities of EUR 1,531 million (2012: EUR 1,637 million). Of these facilities EUR 510 million 

(2012: EUR 815 million) was unused at the end of 2013, which is substantially more than the minimum headroom of 

EUR 350 million required according to FrieslandCampina’s financial policy.

The table below sets out the maturity dates of financial liabilities according to the nominal amounts in the contract, 

including related interest obligations.

Cash flows on borrowings

2013

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows 2014 2015 - 2018 After 2018

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings 1,232 -1,434 -410 -562 -462 

Financial lease liabilities 15 -18 -4 -11 -3 

Trade and other payables 2,245 -2,245 -2,245  

Contingent consideration 20 -25 -25 

Derivatives    

Interest rate swaps 6 -7 -5 -2 

Cross currency swaps 62 -77 -1 -11 -65 

Forward exchange 1 -1 -1 

 3,581 -3,807 -2,666 -611 -530 

2012

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows 2013 2014 - 2017 After 2017

Non-derivative financial liabilities      

Interest-bearing borrowings 1,455 -1,722 -428 -684 -610 

Financial lease liabilities 18 -22 -4 -12 -6 

Trade and other payables 1,973 -1,973 -1,973 

Derivatives

Interest rate swaps 16 -19 -10 -9  

Cross currency swaps 44 -68 -9 -5 -54 

Forward exchange 1 

3,507 -3,804 -2,424 -710 -670 
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Credit Risk

FrieslandCampina is exposed to credit risk with its trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents and derivative financial 

instruments. FrieslandCampina manages credit risk by systematically monitoring the credit rating of its customers at a 

decentralised level and financial counterparties at a central level

FrieslandCampina generally trades with reputable third parties with whom it maintains long-standing trading 

relationships. In accordance with FrieslandCampina’s credit management policy, customers are categorised, and 

depending on their credit profile, the following types of risk mitigating measures are taken:

• prepayment, paid cash on delivery or collateralisation;

• coverage by letter of credit or bank guarantee;

• credit insurance.

Thanks to the spread of geographical areas and product groups there is no significant concentration of credit risk in 

FrieslandCampina’s trade receivables (no single customer accounts for more than 4% of revenue). Since the merger in 

2008, total write-offs of trade receivables have amounted to less than 0.1% of annual revenue. For further information 

regarding trade receivables refer to Note 17.

Whenever possible, cash and cash equivalents have been deposited with first-class international banks, i.e. those with 

at least a ‘single A’ credit rating. Cash and cash equivalents held by subsidiaries in relatively unstable political climates 

are, however, subject to local country risks. To limit these risks as far as possible FrieslandCampina follows an active 

dividend policy in relation to these subsidiaries. FrieslandCampina has, for example, cash positions in Nigeria and to 

mitigate this risk FrieslandCampina not only has an active dividend policy to minimise these cash positions, but also a 

stringent bank policy.

Derivatives are traded only with financial institutions with good credit ratings, i.e. at least ‘investment grade’. 

FrieslandCampina’s risk exposure on these instruments is not greater than the current carrying amount.

The overview below shows the credit ratings of outstanding cash and derivative financial instruments as at 

31  December.

2013 2012

Cash 
positions

Contract 
volume 

derivatives
Cash 

positions

Contract 
volume 

derivatives

Credit rating financial institution

AA 139 147 207 187 

A 266 772 401  1,049 

BBB+ 35 9 5 

<BBB 49 48 

No classification 71 95 

560 928 756  1,236 

Active risk management

Problems arising out of the credit crisis could have a material effect on FrieslandCampina’s future results in a number 

of ways. When the risk of a further worsening of the European economy and reduced availability of bank credit seems 

likely, the volatility of currency markets and the risks to economic growth in emerging markets increase.

FrieslandCampina follows an active risk management policy. Scenario plans and measures to mitigate possible 

problems in the Eurozone will remain in force for the time being. On a ‘business as usual’ basis, and on the grounds of 

results of monitoring and risk analysis in all FrieslandCampina’s operating companies, business plans, adjusted where 

necessary, will be maintained through a targeted package of risk mitigating measures.
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Covenant guidelines    

Existing guidelines for financial ratios

Senior Net Debt / EBITDA  < 3.0  

Net Debt / EBITDA  < 3.5  

EBITDA / Net Interest  > 3.5  

The terms of the covenants for both facilities (Syndicate and Private Placement) have been met. The amounts drawn 

under the credit facility and the private placements become repayable on demand if the related terms and conditions 

cease to be met.

The table below sets out the specification of the (senior) net debt at year-end:

2013 2012

Interest-bearing borrowings 876 1,080 

Current borrowings 371 393 

Payable to affiliated companies 1 

Receivable from affiliated companies -12 -39 

Cash and cash equivalents -560 -756 

Cash and cash equivalents not at free disposal 21 6 

Net debt 696 685 

Loans from Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. -290 

Senior net debt 696 395 

Derivative assets and liabilities designated at cash flow hedges 

The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with cash flow hedges are expected to 

occur and the fair values of the related hedging instruments.

2013

Fair value
Expected 

cash flows 2014 2015 - 2018 After 2018

Interest rate swaps

Liabilities 6 -7 -5 -2 

 

Cross currency swaps

Assets 3 3 1 4 -2

Liabilities 62 -77 -1 -11 -65 

2012

Fair value
Expected 

cash flows 2013 2014 - 2017 After 2017

Interest rate swaps      

Assets

Liabilities 16 -19 -10 -9 

 

Cross currency swaps

Assets 13 11 2 6 3 

Liabilities 44 -68 -9 -5 -54 
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Accounting classifications and fair values

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of 

financial position, are stated below. The fair value is the amount that would be received or paid if the receivables and/or 

liabilities were settled on the statement of financial position date, without further liabilities.

2013

Note
Designated 

at fair value

Fair value 
hedging 

instruments
Available- 

for-sale
Loans and 

receivables
Other finan-

cial liabilities
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Financial assets not 
measured at fair value

Loans (15)  39  39  41 

Long-term receivables (15)  4  4  4 

Trade and other receivables (17)  1,335  1,335  1,335 

Cash and cash equivalents (18)  560  560  560 

   1,938  1,938  1,940 

    

Financial assets measured at 
fair value    

Hedging derivatives (14)  7  7  7 

Securities (15)  30  30  30 

   7  30  37  37 

     

Financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value     

Non-current interest-bearing 
borrowings – fixed rate (23)  531  531  634 

Non-current interest-bearing 
borrowings – variable rate (23)  345  345  345 

Short-term part of the non-
current interest-bearing 
borrowings

(25) 255  255  255 

Short-term interest-bearing 
borrowings (25)  66  66  66 

Bank overdrafts (25)  50  50  50 

Trade and other (financial) 
liabilities (excluding put-option 
liabilities and contingent 
consideration)

(26)  2,245  2,245  2,245 

   3,492  3,492  3,595

     

Financial liabilities measured 
at fair value     

Hedging derivatives (14)  69  69  69 

Put-option liability (14) 7  7  7 

Contingent consideration (24)  20  20  20 

 27  69  96  96 
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2012 

Note

Designated 
at fair value 

through 
income 

statement

Derivatives 
in hedge 

relationship
Loans and 

receivables

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Financial assets not measured at fair 
value

Loans (15)  43  43  43 

Long-term receivables (15)  4  4  4 

Trade and other receivables (17)  1,221  1,221  1,221 

Cash and cash equivalents (18)  756  756  756 

   2,024  2,024  2,024 

    

Financial assets measured at fair value    

Hedging derivatives (14)  16  16  16 

   16  16  16 

    

Financial liabilities not measured at fair 
value    

Non-current interest-bearing borrowings 
– fixed rate (23)  552  552  673 

Non-current interest-bearing borrowings 
– variable rate (23)  528  528  528 

Short-term part of the non-current 
interest-bearing borrowings (25)  150  150  153 

Short-term interest-bearing borrowings (25)  187  187  187 

Bank overdrafts (25)  56  56  56 

Trade and other (financial) liabilities 
(excluding put-option liabilities and 
contingent consideration)

(26)  1,973  1,973  1,973 

   3,446  3,446  3,570 

     

Financial liabilities measured at fair 
value     

Hedging derivatives (14)  61  61  61 

Put-option liabilities (14) 162   162  162 

162  61   223  223 

The fair value is set at the carrying value, with the exception of the interest-bearing liabilities with a fixed interest 

rate and the loan provided with a fixed interest rate. To calculate the fair value of these liabilities an average weighted 

interest rate of 1.35 % (2012: 1.49%) is used and constitutes a valuation method as classified under Level 2. The fair 

value of the load provided with a fixed interest rate is determined using an average interest rate of 1.23% and also 

constitutes a valuation method classified under Level 2.
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Fair values hierarchy

In the table below the financial instruments measured at fair value, or for which the carrying value deviates from the 

fair value, are shown per valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:

Level 1:  fair value measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2:   fair value measured using inputs other than those in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (for example, as prices) or indirectly (for example, derived from prices);

Level 3:  fair value measured using inputs that are not based on observable market data.

 

2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value Carrying 
amount

Financial assets measured at fair value

Loans 41 41 39

41 41 39

     

Hedging derivatives 7 7 7 

Securities 26 4 30 30 

 26 11 37 37 

     

Financial liabilities not measured at 
fair value     

Non-current interest-bearing 
borrowings – fixed rate 634 634 531 

 634 634 531 

    

Financial liabilities measured at fair 
value    

Hedging derivatives 69 69 69 

Put-option liability 7 7 7 

Contingent consideration 20 20 20 

76 20 96 96 

2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value Carrying 
amount

Financial assets measured at fair value     

Hedging derivatives 16 16 16 

 16 16 16 

Financial liabilities not measured at 
fair value    

Non-current interest-bearing 
borrowings – fixed rate 673 673 552 

Short-term part of the non-current 
interest-bearing borrowings 153 153 150 

 826 826 702 

Financial liabilities measured at fair 
value    

Hedging derivatives 61 61 61 

Put-option liabilities 7 155 162 162 

68 155 223 223 
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Movements and transfers real value hierarchy

FrieslandCampina justifies transfers between levels within the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period in 

which the transfer occurred.

Movements Levels 1 and 2

The 7.5% interest in Synlait Milk Ltd. acquired in 2013 is classified as other financial assets. Level 1 was used as the 

measurement method for the rating and the listing will be used as a basis of measurement.

FrieslandCampina holds an interest of < 1% in a third party that is classified under other financial assets. The fair value 

of this interest is derived from the equity value of the third party. This measurement method is classified as Level 2.

The hedging derivatives are classified as Level 2 valuation method. The fair value of the forward currency contracts is 

calculated by comparison with the actual forward prices of contracts for comparable remaining terms. The fair value of 

interest swap contracts is determined using the discounted value based on actual market information.

Transfers between Levels 1 and 2

No transfers from Level 1 to Level 2 or vice versa took place in 2013 or 2012.

Movements Level 3

The contingent obligation in respect of the acquisition of Zijerveld and Den Hollander Food was determined on the 

basis of the fair value at 31 December 2013 of the maximum contingent consideration of EUR 25 million. To this end 

the expected EBITDA growth over the period 2013-2015 was estimated and the expected contingent consideration was 

discounted at a discount rate of 11%. The contingent consideration is classified as Level 3.

The DFE put-option expired in June 2013 and the closing value of the put-option was determined on the basis of the 

present value method which uses quoted market prices and future cash flows. The future cash flows are discounted 

against the current discount rates. In 2012 the DFE put-option was included in Level 3.

During 2013 the movements of the financial instruments classified as Level 3 were as follows:

  2013 

 DFE put-option Contingent 
consideration

Carrying amount at 1 January 155  

Arising from acquisition  19 

Finance costs 3 1 

Adjustment in value via goodwill 25  

Transfer from Level 3 -183  

Carrying amount at 31 December 20 
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31  Cash flow statement

The statement of cash flows has been prepared in accordance with the indirect method.

The table below shows the underlying relationships between the movements in the statement of financial position and 

the statement of cash flows for inventories, receivables and liabilities in 2013.

 Inventories Receivables Liabilities

At 31 December 2012 1,139 1,221 1,973 

At 31 December 2013 1,303 1,335 2,245 

Cash flow resulting from movement in  
statement of financial position -164 -114 272 

    

Adjustments:    

Currency translation effect -39 -33 75 

Acquired through acquisition 28 69 -81 

Interest movement financial position  4 -1 

Movement related to liability capital expenditure   -31 

Movements in statement of cash flows -175 -74 234 

32  Subsequent events

At the end of 2013 agreement was reached in the Netherlands with the social partners in the dairy industry regarding 

the setting-up of an entirely new basis pension plan as of 2015. This comprises a proposal to arrive at a so-called 

collective defined benefit plan administered by an industry branch pension fund. The agreement still includes a number 

of areas that will remain conditional until worked out in more detail during 2014. When the agreement is finalised in 

2014 its effects will be incorporated into the consolidated statement of financial position under ‘Net pension obligation’.
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Principal subsidiaries

The Netherlands

Den Hollander Food B.V., Lochem

Friesland Brands B.V., Leeuwarden

FrieslandCampina Cheese & Butter B.V., Amersfoort

FrieslandCampina Consumer Products Europe B.V., Amersfoort

FrieslandCampina Consumer Products International B.V., Amersfoort

FrieslandCampina Creamy Creation B.V., Amersfoort

FrieslandCampina DMV B.V., Amersfoort

FrieslandCampina Domo B.V., Amersfoort

FrieslandCampina International Holding B.V., Amersfoort

FrieslandCampina Kievit B.V., Meppel

FrieslandCampina Nederland B.V., Amersfoort

FrieslandCampina Nederland Holding B.V., Amersfoort

FrieslandCampina Nutrifeed B.V., Amersfoort

FrieslandCampina Riedel B.V., Amersfoort

FrieslandCampina Werknemers B.V., Amersfoort

Kaashandel Culemborg B.V., Hardinxveld-Giessendam

Zijerveld en Veldhuyzen B.V., Bodegraven

Belgium

FrieslandCampina Belgium N.V., Aalter

FrieslandCampina Belgium Cheese N.V., Aalter

FrieslandCampina Cheese N.V., Aalter

FrieslandCampina Professional N.V., Lummen

FrieslandCampina Finance N.V., Lummen

FrieslandCampina C.V.B.A., Weelde (99.84%) 

Yoko Cheese N.V., Genk (99.89%)

Germany

CMG Grundstücksverwaltungs- und Beteiligungs - GmbH, Heilbronn (89.56%) 2

DMV-Fonterra Excipients GmbH & Co. KG, Goch (50%) 3

FrieslandCampina Butter GmbH, Heilbronn

FrieslandCampina Germany GmbH, Heilbronn (94.9%)

FrieslandCampina Professional GmbH, Cologne

Milchverwaltung FrieslandCampina Germany GmbH, Keulen

Sahnemolkerei Hubert Wiesehoff GmbH, Schoppingen (49%) 3

Satro GmbH, Lippstadt

France

FrieslandCampina Cheese France S.A.S., Sénas

FrieslandCampina France S.A.S., Saint-Paul-en-Jarez

Greece

FrieslandCampina Hellas S.A., Athens

Great Britain

FrieslandCampina UK Ltd., Horsham

Hungary

FrieslandCampina Hungária zRt, Debrecen (99.99%)

Italy

FrieslandCampina Italia Srl, Rome

Financial statements Principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

Principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 1

1   Ownership 100%, unless stated otherwise. If the percentage is less than 100% the direct interest of the parent in the subsidiary is stated. 
2   FrieslandCampina is, on the grounds of an agreement, entitled to 100% of the profit of this company.
3   FrieslandCampina has control over these entities, based on voting power.
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Austria

FrieslandCampina Austria GmbH, Stainach

Romania

FrieslandCampina Romania S.A., Satu Mare (99.99%)

Russia

Campina LLC, Moscow

Spain

FrieslandCampina Canarias S.A., Las Palmas

China

FrieslandCampina (Hong Kong) Ltd., Hong Kong

FrieslandCampina Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., Shanghai

Indonesia

PT Frisian Flag Indonesia, Jakarta (95%)

PT Kievit Indonesia, Jakarta

Philippines

Alaska Milk Corporation, Manilla (99.68%)

Maleaysia

Dutch Lady Milk Industries Berhad, Petaling Jaya (50.96%)

Singapore

FrieslandCampina (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., Singapore

Thailand

FrieslandCampina Fresh (Thailand) Co Ltd., Bangkok

FrieslandCampina (Thailand) PCL, Bangkok (99.71%)

Vietnam

FrieslandCampina Ha Nam Co. Ltd., Phu Ly

FrieslandCampina Vietnam Co. Ltd., Binh Duong Province (70%)

Saudi Arabia

Friesland Arabia Ltd., Jeddah

United Arab Emirates

FrieslandCampina Middle East JLT, Dubai

Ghana

FrieslandCampina West Africa Ltd, Accra

Nigeria

FrieslandCampina WAMCO Nigeria Plc., Ikeja (54.58%)

USA

FrieslandCampina Ingredients North America Inc, Wilmington, State: Delaware

Joint ventures and associates 4

Betagen Holding Ltd., Hongkong, China (50%)

Coöperatieve Zuivelinvesteerders U.A., Oudenhoorn, the Netherlands (49%)

Dutch Dairy Ingredients B.V., Leeuwarden, the Netherlands (82.33%)

Great Ocean Ingredients Pty Ltd., Allansford, Victoria, Australia (50%)

Financial statements Principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

4   FrieslandCampina does not have control over these joint ventures and associates. This assessment is based on an analysis of both the shares held and 
FrieslandCampina’s voting rights within the joint venture or associated interest.
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At 31 December, after profit appropriation 1

in millions of euros, unless stated otherwise    

 Note 2013 2012 

Assets    

Investments in subsidiaries (2) 2,001 1,943 

Loans to subsidiaries (3) 1,225 1,225 

Deferred tax assets  8 9 

Other financial assets (9) 3 13 

Non-current assets  3,237 3,190 

    

Other receivables (4) 565 508 

Other financial assets (9) 3 5 

Cash and cash equivalents   82 

Current assets  568 595 

Total assets  3,805 3,785 

    

Equity    

Issued capital  370 370 

Share premium  114 114 

Perpetual notes   130 

Member bonds  1,195 1,084 

Cooperative loan 290

Fair value reserve 15

Cash flow hedge reserve  -24 -18 

Currency translation reserve  -114 -43 

Retained earnings  559 503 

Equity attributable to the shareholder of the company and other 
providers of capital (5) 2,405 2,140 

    

Liabilities    

Interest-bearing borrowings (6) 820 1,024 

Deferred tax liabilities   3 

Other financial liabilities (9) 67 44 

Non-current liabilities  887 1,071 

    

Current borrowings (8) 314 223 

Trade and other payables  8 10 

Borrowings from subsidiaries (7) 187 324 

Other financial liabilities (9) 4 17 

Current liabilities  513 574 

    

Total liabilities  1,400 1,645 

Total equity and liabilities  3,805 3,785 

1  After profit appropriation: based on the applicable reserve policy (in accordance with the milk money regulation), refer also to Note 28.

Company income statement
In millions of euros, unless stated otherwise

2013 2012 

Share of profit of subsidiaries, net of tax 105 236 

Other results, net of tax -26 -24 

Profit for the year 79 212

Financial statements Company statement of financial position - Company income statement

Company statement of financial position



	 	

137
1  General

Accounting policies and notes

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. The financial 

statements are presented in accordance with the provisions of Section 362(8) of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 

Code, which stipulates the application of consistent accounting policies in the company and consolidated financial 

statements.

Refer to pages 82 to 94 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the accounting policies for the 

valuation of assets and liabilities and the presentation of the income statement. Refer to the Notes to the consolidated 

financial statements for items not dealt with in the Notes to the company financial statements. Subsidiaries are valued 

using the net equity method.

A legal reserve has been formed for the retained earnings of subsidiaries where distribution is subject to restrictions.

A list of subsidiaries, branches and associates, and interests in joint ventures, prepared in accordance with legal 

provisions, is available for inspection at FrieslandCampina’s offices and has been filed with the Trade Registry in 

Almere, the Netherlands.

The company income statement is presented in accordance with the provisions of Section 402, Part 9, Book 2 of the 

Dutch Civil Code.

2 Investments in subsidiaries

2013 2012 

At 1 January 1,943 1,885

Capital contribution 1

Profit for the year 105 236

Other comprehensive income -87 -179

Dividend 40

At 31 December 2,001 1,943

3 Loans to subsidiaries

2013 2012 

At 1 January 1,225 1,226 

Repayments -1 

At 31 December 1,225 1,225 

 2013 2012 

Repayment schedule 2015 - 2018 After 2018
Total 

repayment 2014 - 2017 After 2017
Total 

repayment

Loans to subsidiaries 1,225 1,225 1,225 1,225 

The loans granted serve primarily to finance subsidiaries. The average interest rate on the financing of subsidiaries in 

2013 was 1.5% (2012: 2.0%).

4  Other receivables

Of the other receivables EUR 536 million relate to credit provided to subsidiaries (2012: EUR 454 million). 

Other receivables mainly includes a receivable from Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A of EUR 12 million 

(2012: EUR 37 million). No interest is charged on these loans.

Financial statements Notes to the company financial statements
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5 Equity attributable to the shareholder of the company and other providers of capital

The number of issued shares at both the beginning and the end of the financial year amounted to 3,702,777. EUR 370 

million has been paid up on these shares. The authorised capital amounts to EUR 1,000 million, divided into 10,000,000 

shares with a nominal value of EUR 100. The shares are held by Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A.

The cash flow hedge reserve and the currency translation reserve are legal reserves and as such cannot be distributed.

In addition, EUR 4 million of the fair value reserve should be classified as a legal reserve. This portion relates primarily 

to an investment for which no regular market listing exists. A further EUR 93 million (2012: EUR 53 million) of the 

retained earnings are classified as a legal reserve and as such cannot be distributed.

The equity attributable to the shareholder of the company and other providers of capital that is included in the 

company financial statements is equal to the equity attributable to the shareholder of the company and other providers 

of capital that is included in the consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 19 in the consolidated financial 

statements for more details regarding equity.

6 Interest-bearing borrowings   

 2013 2012 

Amounts owed to syndicate of credit institutions 245 145 

Amounts owed to institutional investors 531 552 

Loan from affiliated company  290 

Loans from member dairy farmers 41 33 

Other interest-bearing borrowings 3 4 

820 1,024 

The terms and conditions of outstanding non-current loans were as follows:

Loan Currency

Nominal 
interest 

rate
Year of 

maturity

Nominal 
amount 

2013

Carrying 
amount 

2013

Nominal 
amount 

2012

Carrying 
amount 

2012

Syndicate EUR 1.2 2015 250 245 150 145 

Private Placement USD/EUR 4.4 2017 107 107 110 110 

Private Placement USD 5.7 2020 96 96 100 100 

Private Placement USD 4.0 2022 58 58 61 61 

Private Placement USD 4.2 2024 106 106 111 111 

Private Placement USD 4.0 2027 164 164 171 170 

Loan from 
Zuivelcoöperatie 
FrieslandCampina U.A.

EUR     290 290 

Loans from member 
dairy farmers EUR 1.8 2015 41 41 33 33 

Other    3 3 4 4 

   825 820 1,030 1,024 

Refer to Note 23 of the consolidated financial statements for the amount owed to a syndicate of credit institutions, loans 

from member dairy farmers and amounts owed to institutional investors.

As a result of a change to the loans from affiliates, as of the end of 2013 the loan of EUR 290 million is classified as 

equity.

7  Borrowings from subsidiaries

No interest is paid on the current borrowings from subsidiaries.

Financial statements Notes to the company financial statements
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8 Current borrowings 

 2013 2012 

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 248 144 

Current interest-bearing borrowings 66 72 

Bank overdrafts  7 

314 223

9  Other financial assets and liabilities

Other financial assets and liabilities relates to derivatives. The difference compared with the amount in the 

consolidated financial statements is the fair value of derivatives agreed with and through subsidiaries.

Refer to Note 14 of the consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding derivatives.

10  Commitments and contingencies

Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. has issued statements of liability in conformance with Article 403, Part 9 Book 2 of the 

Dutch Civil Code in respect of liabilities resulting from legal proceedings of Friesland Brands B.V. and FrieslandCampina 

Nederland Holding B.V. and most of the Dutch subsidiaries of FrieslandCampina Nederland Holding B.V.

FrieslandCampina N.V., together with the majority of the Dutch operating companies and Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A., forms the fiscal unity Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. for corporation tax and income 

tax. On these grounds the company is severally liable for the tax liability of the fiscal unit as a whole. 

11  Remuneration of the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board

The remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board is disclosed in Note 29 of the 

consolidated financial statements. During the year under review no employees were employed by the company.

Amersfoort, the Netherlands, 28 February 2014

Executive Board Supervisory Board 

Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.

C.C. 't Hart, CEO P. Boer, Chairman

C.J.M. Gielen J.H.G.M. Uijttewaal, Vice-chairman

P.J. Hilarides P.A.F.W. Elverding

R.A. Joosten S.H. Galema

F. Rijna  L.W. Gunning

G. Sklikas A.A.M. Huijben-Pijnenburg

  J.P.C. Keijsers

  F.A.M. Keurentjes

  S.R.F. Ruiter

  H. Scheffers

  H. Stöcker

  B. van der Veer

  W.M. Wunnekink 
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Other Information
Provisions of the Articles of Association governing 
profit appropriation
The provisions regarding the appropriation of profit are included in Article 28 of the Articles of Association. These can be 

summarised as follows: profit will be distributed after adoption of the financial statements showing such distribution to be 

legitimate. The profit will be at the disposal of the General Meeting of Shareholders. The General Meeting will adopt the 

company’s reserve policy, as included in Article 27 of the Articles of Association, on a proposal from the Executive Board 

approved by the Supervisory Board. Distributions chargeable to a reserve may be made on a proposal from the Executive 

Board, which will be subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, pursuant to a resolution passed by the General 

Meeting. Unretained profit will be distributed.

Proposed appropriation of profit attributable to the 
shareholder of the company
The Supervisory Board has approved the Executive Board’s proposal that of the EUR 79 million profit, EUR 4 million is 

added to the perpetual notes reserve, EUR 34 million is added to the member bonds reserve and EUR 41 million is added to 

the retained earnings. 

This profit appropriation has been incorporated into the financial statements.

Subsequent events
For information regarding subsequent events, please refer to Note 32 of the consolidated financial statements 2013.

Other information
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Independent auditor’s report 
To: the shareholder of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. 
Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2013 of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V., Amersfoort. The financial 

statements include the consolidated financial statements and the company financial statements. The consolidated financial 

statements comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013, the consolidated income 

statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of the significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information. The company financial statements comprise the company balance 

sheet as at 31 December 2013, the company income statement for the year then ended and the notes, comprising a summary 

of the accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

The Executive Board’s responsibility

The Executive Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the 

Netherlands Civil Code, and for the preparation of the annual report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands 

Civil Code. Furthermore, the Executive Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 

in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. This requires that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s 

internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by the Executive Board, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion with respect to the consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 

Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. as at 31 December 2013 and of its result and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 

of the Netherlands Civil Code.

Opinion with respect to the company financial statements

In our opinion, the company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V. 

as at 31 December 2013 and of its result for the year then ended in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Pursuant to the legal requirements under Section 2:393 sub 5 at e and f of the Netherlands Civil Code, we have no 

deficiencies to report as a result of our examination whether the annual report, to the extent we can assess, has been 

prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of this Code, and whether the information as required under Section 2:392 

sub 1 at b - h has been annexed. Further, we report that the annual report, to the extent we can assess, is consistent with 

the financial statements as required by Section 2:391 sub 4 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

Amstelveen, the Netherlands, 28 February 2014

KPMG Accountants N.V.

E.H.W. Weusten RA

Other information Independent auditor’s report



Nourishing by nature

FrieslandCampina wants to be of consequence for the communities 

in which it is active. Dairy farmers in Asia and Africa are offered 

guidance via the Dairy Development Programme. Children receive 

information about healthy eating and getting enough exercise.  

In a number of countries support is offered through school 

programmes and through participation in programmes related  

to nutrition and nutrient security. 
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In millions of euros, unless stated otherwise      

 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 

      

Headlines      

Income statement      

Revenue 11,418 10,309 9,626 8,972 8,160 

Operating profit 2  513  407 428 347 

Operating profit 313 487 403 434 258 

Profit for the year 157 278 216 285 182 

      

Guaranteed price 39.45 33.87 36.94 32.39 26.40 

Performance premium in euros per 100 kg 1.81 1.42 1.10 1.23 0.59 

Issue of registered member bonds in euros per 
100 kg 1.23 0.95 0.73 0.73 0.35 

Milk price in euros per 100 kg 
(excl. VAT, 4.41% fat, 3.47% protein) 42.49 36.24 38.77 34.35 27.34 

Meadow milk premium in euros per 100 kg 0.31 0.32 0.03 0.04 0.04 

Special supplements in euros per 100 kg 0.10 0.12 0.12 0.13 0.11 

Milk price and supplements in euros per 100 kg 42.90 36.68 38.92 34.52 27.49 

      

Financial position      

Total assets 7,112 6,831 5,684 5,258 4,802 

Equity 2,631 2,258 2,194 2,010 1,526 

Equity attributable to the shareholder and other 
providers of capital 2,405 2,140 2,078 1,961 1,652 

Net debt 696 685 699 776 842 

      

Cash flows      

Net cash from operating activities 596 842 508 444 786 

Net cash used in investing activities -576 -702 -340 -239 -206 

Depreciation of plant and equipment  
and amortisation intangible assets 213 194 176 210 206 

      

Ratios      

Equity as a % of total assets 37.0 33.1 38.6 38.2 31.8 

      

Employees (average number of FTEs) 21,186 20,045 19,036 19,484 20,034 

      

Total milk processed (in millions of kg) 10,659 10,215 10,140 10,266 10,755 

Milk supplied by members (in millions of kg) 9,261 8,860 8,838 8,821 8,685 

1   The comparable figures have been adjusted for the effects of the new standard related to employee benefits (IAS19, revised 2011).
2  For incidental gains and losses related to the merger (reorganisation) costs and goodwill impairment.

Financial history 1

Overviews
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In euros per 100 kilogram of milk at 4.41% fat and 3.47% protein, excluding VAT   

 2013 2012 

   

Fat 19.06 14.88 

Protein 20.39 18.92 

 39.45 33.80 

Adjustment guaranteed price  0.07 

Guaranteed price 39.45 33.87 

Performance premium 1.81 1.42 

Issue of registered member bonds 1.23 0.95 

Milk price 42.49 36.24 

Meadow milk premium 1 0.31 0.32 

Special supplements 2 0.10 0.12 

Milk price + supplements 42.90 36.68 

1   Member dairy farmers who put their cows out in the meadow receive a meadow milk premium of EUR 0.50 per 100 kilogram of milk. Averaged over all 
FrieslandCampina member milk this is EUR 0.31 per 100 kilogram of milk.

2   Special supplements comprises the total amount of payments per 100 kilogram of Campina milk of EUR 0.90, Landliebe milk of EUR 1.00 and the difference 
between the biological guaranteed price and the guaranteed price. Averaged over all FrieslandCampina member milk this is EUR 0.10 per 100 kilogram of milk.

Milk price overview 

Overviews Financial history - Milk price overview



146 Supervisory Board

Piet (P.) Boer (1960)

Position Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.,  

Chairman of the Board of 

Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A. 

First appointed 31 December 2008

Nationality Dutch

Occupation dairy farmer

Other positions held member of the Supervisory Board of 

Alfa Top-Holding B.V., Chairman of Commissie Duurzame 

Melkproductie NZO (Dutch Dairy Association Sustainable 

Milk Production Committee)

Jan (J.H.G.M.) Uijttewaal (1962)

Position Vice-chairman of the 

Supervisory Board of Royal 

FrieslandCampina N.V.,  

Vice-chairman of the Board of 

Zuivelcoöperatie FrieslandCampina U.A.

First appointed 31 December 2008

Nationality Dutch

Occupation dairy farmer

Other positions held Vice-chairman of the Supervisory 

Board of Rabobank Maas en Waal

Peter (P.A.F.W.) Elverding (1948)

Position member of the Supervisory 

Board of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.

First appointed 31 December 2008

Nationality Dutch

Other positions held Vice-chairman of 

the Supervisory Board of ING Groep N.V., Chairman of the 

Supervisory Board of Koninklijke BAM Groep nv,  

Vice-chairman of the Supervisory Board of SHV Holdings N.V., 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Q-Park,  

member of the Board of Stichting Instituut Gak

Sjoerd (S.H.) Galema (1962)

Position member of the Supervisory 

Board of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V., 

member of the Board of Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A.

First appointed 14 December 2011

Nationality Dutch

Occupation dairy farmer

Other positions held Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 

Rabobank Sneek-Zuidwest Friesland, member of the Board 

of Inspiration MillenniumNetwerk Fryslân, Chairman of 

VNO-NCW Friesland, member of the Operating Board  

VNO-NCW North, member of the General Management 

Board VNO-NCW

Tex (L.W.) Gunning (1950)

Position member of the Supervisory 

Board of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.

First appointed 14 December 2011

Nationality Dutch

Other positions held CEO TNT Express

Angelique (A.A.M.) Huijben-Pijnenburg 

(1968)

Position member of the Supervisory 

Board of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V., 

member of the Board of Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A.

First appointed 15 December 2010

Nationality Dutch

Occupation dairy farmer

Other positions held member of the Supervisory Board of 

AB Brabant, member of the General Management Board of 

the Brabantse Delta District Water Board

Jan (J.P.C.) Keijsers (1955)

Position member of the Supervisory 

Board of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V., 

member of the Board of Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A. 

First appointed 31 December 2008

Nationality Dutch

Occupation dairy farmer

Other positions held none
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Overviews Supervisory Board

Frans (F.A.M.) Keurentjes (1957)

Position member of the Supervisory 

Board of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V., 

member of the Board of Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A. 

First appointed 31 December 2008

Nationality Dutch

Occupation dairy farmer

Other positions held member of the Groningen Provincial 

Council, member of Grondkamer Noord (Agricultural Land 

Tenancies Authority North)

Simon (S.R.F.) Ruiter (1958)

Position member of the Supervisory 

Board of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V., 

member of the Board of Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A.

First appointed 31 December 2008

Nationality Dutch

Occupation dairy farmer

Other positions held Provincial Manager LTO-Noord, 

Province of North-Holland, Councillor Schermer 

Henk (H.) Scheffers (1948)

Position member of the Supervisory 

Board of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.

First appointed 31 December 2008

Nationality Dutch

Other positions held Chairman of  

the Supervisory Board of Aalberts Industries N.V.,  

Vice-chairman of the Supervisory Board of Koninklijke 

BAM Groep nv, Vice-chairman of the Supervisory Board 

of Flint Holding N.V., member of the Supervisory Board 

of Heineken N.V., member of the Board of Stichting 

Administratiekantoor KAS BANK

Remuneration & Appointment Committee

Peter Elverding, Chairman

Piet Boer

Jan Uijttewaal

Hans (H.) Stöcker (1964)

Position member of the Supervisory 

Board of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V., 

member of the Board of Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A.

First appointed 14 December 2011

Nationality German

Occupation dairy farmer

Other positions held Chairman of Landesvereinigung 

Milch NRW, Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 

Milchverwertungsgesellschaft NRW, member of Kreisstelle 

Oberberg der Landwirtschaftskammerr NRW, member 

of Landschaftsbeirat Oberbergischer Kreis, member of 

Aufsichtsrat Raiffeisenerzeugergenossenschaft Bergisch 

Land, Chairman of the ‘Milch und Kultur Rheinland und 

Westfalen’ Association

Ben (B.) van der Veer (1951)

Position member of the Supervisory 

Board of Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.

First appointed 1 October 2009

Nationality Dutch

Other positions held member of the 

Supervisory Board of Reed Elsevier N.V. and Non-executive 

Director Reed Elsevier PLC, member of the Supervisory 

Board of Aegon N.V., member of the Supervisory Board of 

TomTom N.V.

Erwin (W.M.) Wunnekink (1970)

Position member of the member 

of the Supervisory Board of Royal 

FrieslandCampina N.V., member 

of the Board of Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A. 

First appointed 16 December 2009

Nationality Dutch

Occupation dairy farmer

Other positions held: none

Audit Committee

Henk Scheffers, Chairman

Simon Ruiter

Ben van der Veer

Erwin Wunnekink



148 Executive Board

Cees (C.C.) ’t Hart (1958) Position Chief Executive Officer Appointed 1 January 2009 

Nationality Dutch Responsible for Co-operative Affairs, Corporate Communication & Sustainability, 

Corporate Human Resources, Corporate Legal Affairs, Corporate Public & Quality Affairs, Corporate 

Research & Development, Corporate Strategy, 3S Programme Other positions held Chairman of 

the Board of the Nederlandse Zuivelorganisatie NZO, member of the Board of Productschap Zuivel, 

Chairman Topsector Agri&Food, member of the General Board of VNO-NCW

Roelof (R.A.) Joosten (1958) Position Chief Operating Officer Appointed 1 January 2012 

Nationality Dutch Responsible for Business group Ingredients, Corporate Supply Chain,  

Corporate Key Account Management 

Kees (C.J.M.) Gielen (1959) Position Chief Financial Officer Appointed 1 January 2009 

Nationality Dutch Responsible for Corporate Finance & Reporting, Corporate ICT, Corporate Internal 

Audit, Corporate Procurement, Corporate Tax, Corporate Treasury, Enterprise Risk Management, 

Mergers & Acquisitions, Summit 

Freek (F.) Rijna (1955) Position Chief Operating Officer Appointed 1 January 2009  

Nationality Dutch Responsible for Business group Consumer Products Asia 

Piet (P.J.) Hilarides (1964) Position Chief Operating Officer Appointed 1 January 2009 

Nationality Dutch Responsible for Business group Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder,  

Milk Valorisation & Allocation 

Gregory (G.J.) Sklikas (1964) Position Chief Operating Officer Appointed 1 January 2014  

Nationality Greek Responsible for Business group Consumer Products Europe, Middle East & Africa 
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Corporate staff

Thom (T.J.C.M.) Albers Corporate Director Co-operative Affairs

Werner (W.S.J.M.) Buck Corporate Director Public & Quality Affairs

Jeroen (J.J.H.) Fey  Corporate Director Milk Valorisation & Allocation

Carel (C.) Gribnau Corporate Director Internal Audit

Hans (J.) van Hout  Corporate Director Tax

Johan (J.H.A.) Keerberg Corporate Director Procurement

Aafke (A.A.) Keizer Corporate Director Strategy

Heidi (H.) van der Kooij Corporate Director General Counsel & Company Secretary

Hans (J.P.F.) Laarakker Corporate Director Mergers & Acquisitions

Erwin (W.F.F.) Logt Corporate Director ICT

Niraj (N.) Mehra Corporate Director Supply Chain

Emmo (E.M.) Meijer Corporate Director Research & Development

Frank (F.A.C.) van Ooijen Corporate Director Communication & Sustainability Affairs  

 & FrieslandCampina Institute

Gerben (G.) Otter  Corporate Director Summit

Klaas (K.A.) Springer  Corporate Director Treasury

Marco (M.C.) van Veen  Corporate Director Finance & Reporting

Jaap (J.C.) de Vries  Corporate Director Human Resources

Overviews Executive Board - Corporate staff
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FrieslandCampina Consumer 
Products Europe,  
Middle East & Africa

Chief Operating Officer:
Gregory (G.J.) Sklikas

Stationsplein 4 
3818 LE Amersfoort
The Netherlands
T +31 33 713 3333

FrieslandCampina Branded 
Netherlands/Belgium

Managing Director:
Bas (S.G.) van den Berg

Stationsplein 4
3818 LE Amersfoort
The Netherlands
T +31 33 713 3333

FrieslandCampina Germany

Managing Director:
Markus (M.) Brettschneider

Wimpfener Strasse 125
74078 Heilbronn
Germany
T +49 71 314 890

FrieslandCampina Hellas

Managing Director:
Kostas (K.G.) Maggioros

18, Nik. Zekakou & K. Karamanli str.
15125 Marousi, Athens
Greece
T +30 210 61 66 400

FrieslandCampina Hungary

Managing Director:
Péter (P.) Szautner

Váci út 33 
1134 Budapest 
Hungary
T +36 1 802 7700

FrieslandCampina Romania

Managing Director:
Jan Willem (J.W.) Kivits

Calea Baciului 2-4 
400230 Cluj Napoca 
Romania
T +40 264 50 2000

FrieslandCampina Russia

Managing Director:
Karl (C.G.F.) Buiks

42, Ul. Mosfilmovskaya 
119285 Moscow 
Russia
T +74959 333 646

FrieslandCampina Branded Belgium

General Manager (ad interim):
Thierry (T.E.) Couplez

Schaessestraat 15
9070 Destelbergen 
Belgium 
T +32 9 326 40 00

FrieslandCampina Foodservice 

Managing Director:
Jack (A.M.F.) Castelein

Stationsplein 4
3818 LE Amersfoort
The Netherlands
T +31 33 713 3333

FrieslandCampina UK

Managing Director:
Tracey (T.) Barney

Denne House, Denne Road 
Horsham
West Sussex RH12 1JF
United Kingdom
T +44 1403 273 273

FrieslandCampina  
Retail Brands Europe

Managing Director:
Eric (E.H.) Schut

Stationsplein 4
3818 LE Amersfoort
The Netherlands
T +31 33 713 3333

FrieslandCampina Middle East

Managing Director:
Maurits (E.M.) Klavert

Palladium Tower, 8th Floor
Plot C, Jumeirah Lake Towers
Dubai
United Arab Emirates
T +971 4 4551800

FrieslandCampina WAMCO Nigeria

Managing Director:
Peter (P.) Eshikena

Plot 7B Acme Road 
Ogba 
Ikeja Industrial Estate
Lagos State
Nigeria
T +234 1 271 51 00

FrieslandCampina West Africa 

Director Business Development  
West Africa:
Marc (M.G.) Desenfans

Ridge Street No. 10  
Roman Ridge 
Accra
Ghana
T +233 2176 0433

The Consumer Products Europe, Middle East & Africa business group provides consumers and professional customers in 

Europe, the Middle East and West Africa with dairy products, such as dairy-based beverages yoghurts, desserts, infant 

nutrition, butter and branded cheese. In the Netherlands and Belgium the business group also sells fruit juices, fruit drinks 

and sports drinks. The business group is active in 16 countries (the Netherlands, Belgium, Germany, France, Austria, Russia, 

Hungary, Romania, Greece, Spain, Italy, Great Britain, Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates, Nigeria and Ghana).
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FrieslandCampina Consumer 
Products Asia

Chief Operating Officer:
Freek (F.) Rijna

#11-01 Centennial Tower
3 Temasek Avenue
Singapore 039190
T +65 65808100

Alaska Milk Corporation

Managing Director:
Fred (W.S.) Uytengsu

6th Floor, Corinthian Plaza Building 
121 Paseo de Roxas
Makati City 1226
The Philippines
T +632 840 4500

FrieslandCampina Trading 
(Shanghai)

Managing Director:
Chooi Lee (C.L.) Saw

901 Shanghai Times Square 
Office Tower
No 93 Huai Hai Zhong Road
Shanghai 200021
China
T +8621 639 10066

FrieslandCampina Hong Kong

Managing Director:
Arnoud (A.) van den Berg

39/f Office Tower
Langham Place
8 Argyle Street
Mongkok
Kowloon
Hong Kong
T +852 2547 6226

FrieslandCampina Indonesia

Managing Director:
Marco (M.L.) Spits

Jalan Raya Bogor Km 5 
Jakarta 13760 
Indonesia
T +62 21 841 0 945

FrieslandCampina Malaysia

Managing Director:
Rahul (R.) Colaco

Level 5, Quill 9, No 112,  
Jalan Semangat
46300 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan Malaysia
Malaysia
T +603 7953 2600

FrieslandCampina Singapore

General Manager: 
Eddie (B.L.) Koh

47, Scotts Road
Goldbell Towers
228233 Singapore
T +65 6419 8450

FrieslandCampina Thailand

Managing Director:
Marco (M.G.) Bertacca

6th floor, S.P. Building 
388 Paholyothin Road 
Samsen Nai, Phayathai
Bangkok 10400
Thailand
T +66 26201900

FrieslandCampina Vietnam

Managing Director:
Mark (P.M.) Boot

Binh Hoa Ward 
Thuan An Town
Binh Duong Province
Vietnam
T +84 65 03754 420

The Consumer Products Asia business group provides consumers in Asia with dairy products such as infant nutrition 

and dairy-based beverages. The business group is active in eight countries in Asia (China, the Philippines, Hong Kong, 

Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam). Many products are produced locally. Several products, such as 

Friso, are exported from the Netherlands to Asia.

Overviews Business groups and addresses



152 FrieslandCampina Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder 

FrieslandCampina  
Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder 

Chief Operating Officer: 
Piet (P.J.) Hilarides

Stationsplein 4 
3818 LE Amersfoort 
The Netherlands
T +31 33 713 3333

FrieslandCampina  
Butter & Milkpowder

Managing Director: 
Martien (M.M.G.M.) van den Hoven

Stationsplein 4 
3818 LE Amersfoort
The Netherlands
T +31 33 713 3333

FrieslandCampina Cheese 

Managing Director: 
Peter (P.S.) Weltevreden

Stationsplein 4 
3818 LE Amersfoort 
The Netherlands
T +31 33 713 3333

FrieslandCampina Cheese Germany

General Manager:
Markus (M.) Brettschneider

Hatzper Straße 30
45149 Essen 
Germany
T +49 201 8712 746

FrieslandCampina Cheese France

General Manager Operations:
Frédéric (F.B.) Baeza

Quartier Les Crillons Sénas
13560 Sénas
France
T +33 490 572 929

FrieslandCampina Cheese Spain

General Manager:
Jose (J.) Alonso-Iñarra

Roger de Lluria 50
Planta 4 
8009 Barcelona
Spain
T +34 932 413 434

Yoko Cheese

General Manager:
Luc (L.) Lamberigts

Bosdel 51
3600 Genk 
Belgium
T +32 89 363388

Zijerveld

Director:
Matthieu (M.A.A.) Zijerveld

Broekveldselaan 9
2411 NL Bodegraven
The Netherlands
T +31 172 630100

FrieslandCampina Export 

Managing Director: 
Cees (C.H.M.) Ruijgrok

Frisaxstraat 4
8471 ZW Wolvega 
The Netherlands
T +31 561 692102

The Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder business group sells cheese, condensed milk, infant nutrition, butter and milk powder 

worldwide. The product range comprises a wide variety of Gouda, Edam, Maasdam and basic cheeses, both as whole 

cheeses and in pre-packed pieces and slices, different types of butter and milk powders. The business group has offices in 

five countries (the Netherlands, Germany, Belgium, France, and Spain) and exports to more than 100 countries.
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FrieslandCampina Ingredients

Chief Operating Officer:
Roelof (R.A.) Joosten

Stationsplein 4
3818 LE Amersfoort
The Netherlands
T +31 33 713 3333

FrieslandCampina Ingredients

Business Unit Director Asia Pacific:
Andries (A.I.) Smit

#11-01 Centennial Tower
3 Temasek Avenue 
Singapore 039190
T +65 65808100

FrieslandCampina  
Ingredients Beijing 

Managing Director: 
Leon (L.) Coolen

RM2506, West Tower of  
LG Twin Towers
B12 Jianguomenwai Avenue  
Chaoyang District
Beijing 100022
China
T +86 1065666099

FrieslandCampina Domo

Managing Director: 
Herman (H.W.A.) Ermens

Stationsplein 4 
3818 LE Amersfoort
The Netherlands
T +31 33 713 3333

FrieslandCampina  
Domo Americas

Regional Director:
Rudy (R.) Dieperink

61 S. Paramus Road,
Suite 422 
Paramus, NJ 07652
United States of America
T +1 877 368 7378

FrieslandCampina DMV

Managing Director:
Herman (H.J.) Sips

NCB laan 80 
5462 GE Veghel 
The Netherlands
T +31 413 37 22 22

FrieslandCampina Kievit

Managing Director:
Tine (M.A.K.) Snels

Oliemolenweg 4a 
7944 HX Meppel 
The Netherlands
T +31 522 23 81 38

FrieslandCampina  
Kievit Indonesia

Business Unit Director Asia Pacific:
Andries (A.I.) Smit

Jl. Merpati 1 
50721 Salatiga 
Indonesia
T +62 298 324 444

FrieslandCampina  
Creamy Creation

Managing Director:
Steven (S.D.) Alexander

Hoogeindsestraat 31 
5447 PE Rijkevoort 
The Netherlands
T +31 485 37 89 00

FrieslandCampina  
Creamy Creation USA

Branch Manager USA:
Rutger (J.A.R.) van den Noort

24 Masse Place
NY 14020 Batavia 
United States of America
T +1 585 3454290

FrieslandCampina Nutrifeed

Managing Director:
Joost (J.) van de Rakt

Lage Landstraat 7
5462 GJ Veghel
The Netherlands
T +31 413 37 26 00

Satro GmbH

General Manager:
Arend (A.R.) Bouwer

Wiedenbrücker Str. 80 
59555 Lippstadt 
Germany
T +49 29416620

DFE Pharma

Chief Executive Officer:
Jan (J.) Jongsma

Klever Straße 187
47574 Goch
Germany
T +49 2823 9288750

Overviews Business groups and addresses

The Ingredients business group develops nutritious and functional ingredients that add value to existing products. 

The business group supplies natural ingredients based on milk, cheese whey and vegetable raw materials to industrial 

customers in the infant nutrition branch, the food industry, the pharmaceutical industry and the young animal feed 

industry worldwide. The Ingredients business group has offices in nine countries (the Netherlands, Germany, the United 

States, Indonesia, China, Singapore, Japan, New Zealand and India).











Every day Royal FrieslandCampina provides 

millions of consumers all over the world with  

dairy products containing valuable nutrients. 

With annual revenue of 11.4 billion euro, 

FrieslandCampina is one of the world’s five  

largest dairy companies.

FrieslandCampina supplies consumer products 

such as dairy-based beverages, infant nutrition, 

cheese and desserts in many European countries, 

in Asia and in Africa. Products are also supplied 

to professional customers, including cream 

and butter products to bakeries and catering 

companies. FrieslandCampina also supplies 

ingredients and half-finished products to 

manufacturers of infant nutrition, the food 

industry and the pharmaceutical sector around  

the world.

FrieslandCampina has offices in 28 countries 

and employs a total of 21,186 people. 

FrieslandCampina’s products find their way to 

more than 100 countries. The Company’s central 

office is in Amersfoort. FrieslandCampina’s 

activities are divided into four market-oriented 

business groups: Consumer Products Europe, 

Middle East & Africa; Consumer Products Asia; 

Cheese, Butter & Milkpowder and Ingredients. 

The Company is fully owned by Zuivelcoöperatie 

FrieslandCampina U.A., with 19,244 member dairy 

farmers in the Netherlands, Germany and Belgium 

one of the world’s largest dairy cooperatives.

Royal FrieslandCampina N.V.
Stationsplein 4

3818 LE Amersfoort

The Netherlands

T +31 33 713 3333

www.frieslandcampina.com
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